NATIONAL CENTER FOR EDUCATION STATISTICS

Technical Report

August 1990

National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988

Base Year Sample Design Report



Bruce D. Spencer Martin R. Frankel Steven J. Ingels Kenneth A. Rasinski Roger Tourangeau

NORC, A Social Science Research Center University of Chicago

Jeffrey A. Owings Project Officer National Center for Education Statistics

Data Series: DR-NELS: 88-88-1.7

U.S. Department of Education Office of Educational Research and Improvement

NCES 90-463

U.S. Department of Education Lauro F. Cavazos Secretary

Office of Educational Research and Improvement Christopher T. Cross Assistant Secretary

National Center for Education Statistics Emerson J. Elliott Acting Commissioner

Information Services Sharon K. Horn Director

National Center for Education Statistics

"The purpose of the Center shall be to collect, and analyze, and disseminate statistics and other data related to education in the United States and in other nations."---Section 406(b) of the General Education Provisions Act, as amended (20 U.S.C. 1221e-1).

August 1990

Contact: Jeffrey A. Owings (202) 357–6777

Preface

The purpose of this technical report is to document the sampling procedures and the results of data collection for the National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 (NELS:88) base year survey of eighth graders. This version of the NELS:88 Base Year Sample Design Report is an abridgement, prepared by Kathryn L. Dowd, of a more extensive contractor report (Spencer et al., 1989) on the base year sample design. In accordance with the confidentiality provisions of Public Law 100-297, it was necessary to abridge the report in order to avoid reporting any information that could potentially be used to statistically disclose school identities. This version of the report is designed to be used as a companion to the NELS:88 Base Year Data File User's Manuals and is intended specifically to provide additional documentation on sampling issues that may be of interest to users of the public release data tapes.

Copies of the data collection instruments; a description of the data collection, preparation, and processing procedures; and a guide to the data files and codebook, can be found in the four (student, parent, teacher and school administrator) NELS:88 Base Year Data File User's Manuals (Ingels et al., 1990/a,b,c,d). The base year data tapes are available from the National Center for Education Statistics.

Executive Summary

The purpose of this technical report is to document the sampling procedures and the results of data collection for the National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 (NELS:88) base year survey of eighth graders. Chapter 1 gives an overview of the NELS:88 base year survey. Chapter 2 summarizes the base year sample selection procedures and gives the results of data collection. Chapter 3 describes the calculation of sample case weights and the adjustment of the weights for nonresponse. Chapter 4 examines survey and item nonresponse. Chapter 5 describes procedures for computing sampling errors and design effects.

Following is a brief summary of the major contents of the report:

The National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 is a survey of the school-related experiences and accomplishments of a nationally representative sample of eighth graders. The target population consisted of all public and private schools containing eighth grades in the fifty states and District of Columbia. Included in the NELS:88 sample is a supplementary sample of Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander students (and their parents and teachers) sponsored by the Office of Bilingual Education and Minority Language Affairs (OBEMLA), and a supplement of hearing-impaired children for which additional audiological data were obtained.

The student population excludes students with severe mental handicaps, students whose command of the English language was not sufficient for understanding the survey materials (especially the cognitive tests), and students with physical or emotional problems that would make it unduly difficult for them to participate in the survey (5.35 percent of the potential student sample). Because the excluded students from the base year are a possible source of undercoverage bias, plans have been made to follow a substantial subsample of them in the NELS:88 first and second follow-ups.

The NELS:88 survey used a two-stage stratified, clustered sample design. At the first stage, about 69 percent of the initially selected schools participated. School administrator data was obtained from ninety-eight percent of the participating schools. At the second stage, about 93 percent of the sampled students agreed to participate. Roughly equally high percentages of teachers and parents of the participating students also agreed to take part in the survey. Weights for school administrators and students were adjusted to compensate for nonresponse. Separate weights were not provided for parents or teachers.

School-level response rates were lower for public schools and for non-Catholic private schools. These results are similar to those in the High School and Beyond Base Year sample. School response rates were somewhat higher for urban schools than for suburban or rural schools, in contrast to High School and Beyond where urban schools were the least likely to participate.

Analysis of design effects indicates that the NELS:88 sample was slightly more efficient than the High School and Beyond sample. Based on student questionnaire data for all students, the average design effect in NELS:88 was 2.54; the comparable figure was 2.88 for the High School and Beyond sophomore cohort and 2.69 for the senior cohort. This difference is also apparent for subgroup estimates, especially for students attending Catholic schools. In NELS:88, the average design effect for Catholic schools is 2.70; in High School and Beyond, it was 3.60 for the sophomores and 3.58 for the seniors.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank all those persons who contributed to the production of this report. Louis Rizzo conducted the school nonresponse analysis that formed the basis for adjustments of the school weights. David Matheson assisted with the item response analysis reported in Chapter 4. Suzanne Erfurth conducted an extensive editorial review. Paul Buckley, Gloria Rauens, and David Pieper assisted with the computation of various statistics on the sample allocation, the case weights, and completion rates. Katy Dowd carefully reviewed and edited the documentation presented here to ensure compliance with the confidentiality provisions of Public Law 100-297. Our appreciation is also extended to Barbara Lockhart, Anthony Markward, James McDonald, Keith Privett, and Amelia Solorio, for their assistance during various stages of the production of this report, and to Laurie Hendrickson for carefully preparing the desktop-published version.

Finally, we would also like to thank those members of the staff of the National Center for Education Statistics who have worked closely with us on this project: Jeffrey A. Owings, Chief of the Longitudinal and Household Studies Branch, who served as the Project Officer for the base year study from its inception; and Anne Hafner, the Project Officer for the first follow-up of NELS:88. Thanks go also to Ralph Lee, Jerry West, Peggy Quinn, and Teresita Kopka.

Table of Contents

	Page Preface Preface Preface
	Executive Summary
	Acknowledgments
1	Introduction
1.1	Overview of NELS:88
1.1.1	NCES's Longitudinal Studies Program
1.1.2	The National Longitudinal Study of the 1970s (NLS-72)
1.1.3	High School and Beyond of the 1980s (HS&B)
1.1.4	The NELS:88 Base Year Survey
1.2	Overview of Chapters 2 through 5
2	Sample Design and Implementation
2.1	Base Year Survey Sample Design
2.1.1	Exclusions from the Sample
2.2	Sampling Frame
2.3	Stratification
2.4	Allocation of Numbers of Schools To Be Sampled
2.5	Selection of Schools within Strata
2.6	Design Allowance for School Nonresponse
2.7	Selection of Students, Parents, Teachers and School Administrators 16
2.7.1	Selection of Students
2.7.2	Sample Updating
2.7.3	Selection of Parents
2.7.4	Selection of Teachers
2.7.5	Selection of School Administrators
2.8	Data Collection Results
3	Sample Weights
3.1	General Approach to Weighting

3.2	Weighting Procedures
3.2.1	Nonresponse-Adjusted Weights for Schools
3.2.2	Second-Stage Sample Design Weights for Students
3.2.3	Nonresponse Adjusted Weights
4	School And Item Nonresponse Analysis
4.1	School Nonresponse Rate
4.2	Estimating the Magnitude of School Nonresponse Bias
4.3	Item Nonresponse Analysis
5	Standard Errors And Design Effects
5.1	Estimation Procedure
5.2	Design Effects for NELS:88
5.3	Design Effects and Approximate Standard Errors
6	References

APPENDICES

Appendix 1:	Standard Errors and Design Effects for Student Questionnaire Data		•	•	57
Appendix 2:	Standard Errors and Design Effects for Parent Questionnaire Data	•	•	•	73
Appendix 3:	Standard Errors and Design Effects for School Questionnaire Data	•			89

Exhibits	
Figure 1-1	Development of Key Research Issues
Figure 2-1	Number and Percentage of Students Who Fall intExcluded Categories9
Table 2.3.	Number of Schools in Sample Frame and Number of Schools Sampled by Sampling Strata
Table 2.8-1	Summary of NELS:88 Completion Rates
Table 2.8-2	NELS:88 Base Year School Sample Selection and Realization 21
Table 2.8-3	NELS:88 Base Year Completion Rates by Sample Eligibility for Student, Parent, Teacher, and School Surveys
Table 2.8-4	NELS:88 Base Year Completion Rates by Sample Selection for Student, Parent, Teacher, and School Surveys
Table 3.2-1	Weighting Cells Used for NonresponseAdjustment of Student Weights
Table 3.2-2	NELS:88 Base Year Statistical Properties of Sample Case Weights
Table 4.2-1	School Nonresponse Bias Estimates
Table 4.2-2	Frequency Distribution of Unsigned Relative Estimates
Table 4.3-1	Statistics on Proportion Nonresponding by Various Item Characteristics
Table 4.3-2	Average Proportion Nonresponding to Critical Items
Table 4.3-3	Nine Items with the Highest Nonresponse Rates
Table 4.3-4	Proportion Nonresponding to Nine Items with Highest Nonresponse Rates by Selected Student Characteristics
Table 4.3-5	Average Number of Items Not Attempted on Four Cognitive Tests by Selected Student Characteristics
Table 4.3-6	Speededness Indices for Test by Racial/Ethnic and Sex Groups (Percent of Sample Who Reached Last Item)
Table 5.2-1	Mean Design Effects and Root Design Effects for Student Questionnaire Data
Table 5.2-2	Mean Design Effects and Root Design Effects for Parent Questionnaire Data
Table 5.2-3	Mean Design Effects and Root Design Effects for School Questionnaire Data

1. Introduction

The National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 (NELS:88) base year survey was conducted during the winter, spring, and summer of 1988. This report provides information that fully documents major technical aspects of the sample selection and implementation, describes the weighting procedures, examines the possible impact of nonresponse on sample estimates, and evaluates the precision of estimates derived from the sample.

1.1 Overview of the National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988

1.1.1 NCES's Longitudinal Studies Program

The U.S. Department of Education's National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) is mandated to "collect and disseminate statistics and other data related to education in the United States" and to "conduct and publish reports on specific analyses of the meaning and significance of such statistics" (Education Amendments of 1974-Public Law 93-380, Title V, Section 501, amending Part A of the General Education Provisions Act).

Consistent with this mandate and in response to the need for policy-relevant, time-series data on nationally representative samples of elementary and secondary students, NCES instituted the National Education Longitudinal Studies (NELS) program, a continuing long-term project. The general aim of the NELS program is to study the educational, vocational, and personal development of students at various grade levels, and the personal, familial, social, institutional, and cultural factors that may affect that development. The NELS program currently consists of three major studies: The National Longitudinal Study of the High School Class of 1972 (NLS-72), High School and Beyond (HS&B), and the National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 (NELS:88). Figure 1-1 illustrates the increasing number of issues that have become part of NCES's National Education Longitudinal Studies research agenda. A brief description of these studies is followed by a review of NELS:88.

1.1.2 The National Longitudinal Study of the 1970s (NLS-72)

The first of the NELS projects, the National Longitudinal Study of the High School Class of 1972 (NLS-72), began in the spring of 1972 with a survey of a national probability sample of 19,001 seniors from 1,061 public, private, and church-affiliated high schools. The sample was designed to be representative of the approximately three million high school seniors in more than 17,000 schools in the spring of 1972. Each sample member was asked to complete a student questionnaire and a 69-minute test battery. School administrators were also asked to supply survey data on each student, as well as information about the school's programs, resources, and grading system. At the time of the first follow-up, an additional 4,450 students from the class of 1972 were added to the sample. Five follow-ups, conducted in 1973, 1974, 1976, 1979, and 1986 have been subsequently completed. For the Fifth Follow-Up a subsample consisting of 14,489 of the 22,652 students who participated in at least one of the five previous waves were interviewed.

In addition to background information, the NLS-72 base year and follow-up surveys collected data on respondents' educational activities, such as schools attended, grades received, and degree of satisfaction with their educational institutions. Participants were also asked about work experiences, periods of unemployment, job satisfaction, military service, marital status, and children. Attitudinal information on self-concept, goals, participation in political activities, and ratings of their high schools are other topics for which respondents have supplied information.

Figure 1-1.--Development of Key Research Issues



N

1.1.3 High School and Beyond of the 1980s (HS&B)

The next major longitudinal study sponsored by NCES was High School and Beyond (HS&B). HS&B was initiated in order to capture changes that had occurred in educational and social conditions, federal and state programs, and needs and characteristics of students since the time of the earlier survey. Such changes have been particularly prominent over the succeeding decade and are clearly continuing. Thus, HS&B was designed to maintain the flow of educational data to policy makers at all levels who need to base their decisions on information that is reliable, relevant, and current.

Base year data collection was conducted in the spring of 1980. As in NLS-72, students were selected using a two-stage probability sample with schools as the first-stage units and students within schools as the second-stage units. There were 1,015 public, private, and church-affiliated secondary schools in the sample and a total of 58,270 participating students (sophomores and seniors). Unlike NLS-72, HS&B cohorts included both tenth graders and twelfth graders. Since the base year data collection in 1980, three follow-ups of the HS&B cohorts have been completed, one in the spring of 1982, one in the spring of 1984, and the last in the spring of 1986.

1.1.4 National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988

The National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 (NELS:88) is the most recent in a series of longitudinal studies conducted by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) at the U.S. Department of Education. As in the preceding studies, students were selected using a two-stage probability sample with schools as the first-stage units and students within schools as the second-stage units. The NELS:88 survey obtained participation from 1,057 public, private, and church-affiliated secondary schools and 24,599 participating students. Similar to the previous longitudinal education studies, NELS:88 begins with a baseline assessment of school experiences, with the purpose of relating these experiences to current academic achievement and to later achievement in school and in life. However, NELS:88 has been designed with a number of enhancements that will increase the analysis and policy-informing potential of the NELS:88 data.

Like the two preceding longitudinal studies conducted by the NCES, the National Longitudinal Study of the High School Class of 1972 and the High School and Beyond study of the 1980 sophomore and senior cohorts, NELS:88 examines school experiences of a national probability sample of students. Unlike the two previous studies, NELS:88 begins with a survey of eighth graders. This focus, combined with a series of planned follow-up surveys of the NELS:88 sample, will enable a longitudinal data base to be created that will give researchers the opportunity to study the ways eighth grade experiences affect high school performance and relate to high school completion. Because the majority of students who drop out are still enrolled in school during the eighth grade, the NELS:88 base year survey will also provide researchers with baseline data for a representative sample of the majority of future high school dropouts in this age cohort. Representativeness of the NELS:88 student sample-- hence also comparability to the High School and Beyond and NLS-72 samples--will be maintained by sample "freshening" in the first (1990) and second (1992) follow-ups of NELS:88¹.

The NELS:88 base year survey comprises four components. First, the study examines characteristics of the school itself, providing data on admissions and academic policies, school climate, and teacher and student composition. Second, the study examines students' school experiences, both in terms of their own reports and in terms of reports of teachers. The teachers' reports contain substantial detail about classroom instructional practices. Finally, the study provides data on the student's family and home experiences. This is done first by obtaining students' reports but is supplemented and enhanced by interviewing parents. While the previous longitudinal education studies have obtained some information from teachers and parents for subsamples of students, NELS:88 provides extensive information from these sources for all students.

1.2 Overview of Chapters 2 through 5

Chapter 2 summarizes the base year sample selection procedures, including procedures for oversampling, stratification, and sample allocations. Chapter 3 describes the calculation of sample case weights that adjust for differential probabilities of selection and for nonresponse within weighting cells.

Chapter 4 examines the possible impact of survey nonresponse, a potential source of bias. The amount of bias depends on the proportion of nonrespondents and the magnitude of any difference between respondents and nonrespondents on variables of interest. Often in surveys it is impossible to estimate accurately the amount of bias because, although the proportion of nonrespondents is known, there is usually no satisfactory way to estimate the difference between respondents and nonrespondents. Fortunately, we were able to collect background information on a substantial proportion of nonresponding base year schools, providing a basis for studying the impact of school nonresponse. Chapter 4 provides the details for this analysis. We also report extensive item nonresponse analysis for the student questionnaire and cognitive tests. Because item nonresponse on the teacher and school

While most NELS:88 eighth graders will be in tenth grade in 1990, it should be noted that some students who were in the 1 eighth grade in 1988 will not be in school in 1990, while other 1988 NELS:88 eighth graders will be in a grade other than the tenth grade in the spring of 1990. Moreover, the population of students enrolled in the tenth grade in 1990 contains students who were not in the eighth grade in 1988. Sample freshening will give 1990 tenth graders who were not in the eighth grade in 1988 some chance of selection into the NELS:88 first follow-up survey, so that the first follow-up sample may represent tenth grade students in the United States in the 1989-1990 schoolyear. A four step freshening procedure will be used to ensure that a valid probability sample of all students enrolled in the tenth grade in 1990 is achieved: 1) For each school that contains at least one base year tenth grade student selected for interview in 1990 a complete alphabetical roster of all tenth grade students will be obtained; 2) An examination will be made of the student immediately following the selected base year student on the roster. If the base year student is last on the roster, the examination will be undertaken for the first student on the roster; 3) If the student designated for examination is enrolled in the eighth grade in the United States in 1988 the process will terminate for that school. If the designated student is not enrolled in eighth grade he or she will become part of the freshened sample; 4) If a student is added to the freshened sample step 3 will be applied to the next student listed on the roster. The step 3 and 4 sequence will be repeated (and students added to the sample) until a student who was in the eighth grade in the United States in 1988 is reached on the roster. Assuming that the tenth grade rosters are complete, this method will generate a probability sample of tenth grade students who were not enrolled in the eighth grade in the United States in 1988. The procedure explicitly "links" each tenth grade student not in the eighth grade in 1988 with one and only one student who was in the eighth grade in 1988. Thus students in the former population have a known non-zero probability of selection, a probability sample of the elements (students) of this population is achieved, and a "freshening" sample is obtained to add to the NELS:88 eighth grade cohort sample members who have been followed in 1990.

administrator questionnaires was extremely low (typically around 1 percent), we did not undertake an analysis of it. We do, however, report summary nonresponse statistics for the parent questionnaire.

Chapter 5 describes procedures for computing sampling errors and design effects. Because it is clustered, stratified, and disproportionately allocated, the NELS:88 base year sample presents some special difficulties in estimating sampling errors. Chapter 5 discusses the approach NORC has taken to solve this problem. Sampling errors and design effects are presented for a number of variables for both the entire sample and for important domains or subgroups. Finally, several "rules of thumb" are offered for estimating standard errors under various circumstances.

2. Sample Design and Implementation

2.1 Base Year Survey Sample Design

The sample design for NELS:88 is similar in many respects to the designs used in the two prior studies of the National Education Longitudinal Studies Program, the NLS-72 and High School and Beyond. The principal difference between NELS:88 and these other two studies is that in its base year NELS:88 sampled a cohort of eighth graders rather than high school students. Included in the NELS:88 sample is a supplementary sample of Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander students (and their parents and teachers) sponsored by the Office of Bilingual Education and Minority Language Affairs (OBEMLA). A few states contracted separately to supplement the NELS:88 sampled schools in their state with additional schools for the purpose of obtaining reliable state estimates. In describing the sampling it is sometimes necessary to refer to these schools in this document even though most of these additional schools are not represented in the public use data files. When these additional schools are mentioned, they will be referred to as "augmentation schools" or "state sample augmentations".

In the base year survey of NELS:88, students were sampled through a two-stage process. First, stratified random sampling and school contacting resulted in the identification and contacting of 1,655 eligible public and private schools from a universe of approximately 40,000 schools containing eighth grade students (see chapter 2 for a discussion of school eligibility and for a discussion of how sampled schools were divided into primary and secondary, or backup, sampling pools). Of the eligible schools contacted, 1,057 participated in the survey. A full discussion of the sampling plan and response rates is presented in chapters 2 and 3. The principal, headmaster, or headmistress of each of these schools was asked to provide school-level information for the school-based component of the survey. The second stage included random selection of about 26 students per school (on average, 24 regularly sampled students and 2 OBEMLA supplement Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander students) from these cooperating schools. The number of students sampled in each school ranged from 1 (6 schools) to 73 (1 school). Owing to the greater representation of small private schools, and to the impact of a within-school strategy of oversampling Hispanics (and Asians), there is considerably greater variability in within-school sample size in the NELS:88 base year sample than in the HS&B base year sample.

The target population for the base year consisted of all public and private schools containing eighth grades in the fifty states and District of Columbia. Excluded from the NELS:88 sample are Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) schools, special education schools for the handicapped, area vocational schools that do not enroll students directly, and schools for dependents of U.S. personnel overseas. The student population excludes students with severe mental handicaps, students whose command of the English language was not sufficient for understanding the survey materials (especially the cognitive tests), and students with physical or emotional problems that would make it unduly difficult for them to participate in the survey.

2.1.1 Exclusions From the Sample

Exclusion of students. To better understand how excluding students with mental handicaps, language barriers, and severe physical and emotional problems affects population inferences, data were obtained on the numbers of students excluded as a result of these restrictions.

Seven ineligibility codes defining categories of excluded students were employed at the time of student sample selection:

- A attended sampled school only on a part-time basis, primary enrollment at another school.
- B physical disability precluded student from filling out questionnaires and taking tests.
- C- mental disability precluded student from filling out questionnaires and taking tests.
- D dropout: absent or truant for 20 consecutive days, and was not expected to return to school.
- E did not have English as the mother tongue AND had insufficient command of English to complete the NELS:88 questionnaires and tests.
- F transferred out of the school since roster was compiled.
- G was deceased.

The designation of students as ineligible could occur either before sampling or after sampling but before or on survey day.

Before sampling, school coordinators were asked to examine the school sampling roster and annotate each excluded student's entry by assigning one of the exclusion codes. Because eligibility decisions were to be made on an individual basis, special education and Limited English Proficiency (LEP) students were not to be excluded categorically. Rather, each student's case was to be reviewed to determine the extent of limitation in relation to the prospect for meaningful survey participation. Each individual student, including LEPs and physically or mentally handicapped students, was to be designated eligible for the survey if school staff deemed the student capable of completing the NELS:88 instruments, and excluded if school staff judged the student to be incapable of doing so. School coordinators were told that when there was doubt, they should consider the student capable of participation in the survey. Exclusion of students after sampling occurred either during the sample update or on survey day. Such exclusion after sampling normally occurred because of a change in student status (for example, transfer or death) although in rare instances such exclusions reflected belated recognition of a student's pre-existing ineligibility.

Regardless of when an exclusion designation occurred, excluded students were divided into those who were full-time students at the school (categories B, C, and E) and those who were not (categories A, D, F, & G). Our main concern here is with students who were full-time students at the school but were excluded from the sample, because excluding these students may have an effect upon estimates made from the sample. Students in categories A (n=329), D (n=733), F (n=3,325), and G (n=6) were either not at the school or were present only part time (with primary regristration, hence a chance of selection into NELS:88 associated, at another school). Thus excluding them has no implications for making estimates to the population of eighth grade students. It should be noted that students in category F, those who had transferred out of the sampled school, had some chance of being selected into the sample if they transferred into another NELS:88 sampled school just as transfers into NELS:88 schools from non-NELS:88 schools had a chance of selection at the time of the sample update. The sampling of transfer-in students associated with the sample update allowed us to represent transfer students in the NELS:88 sample. It should also be noted that a follow-up study NORC conducted of the students designated as dropouts by the school coordinators suggested that most of the

7

Base Year Sample Design Report

students originally designated as dropouts had actually transferred to another school (for details, see Appendix E of the NELS:88 Base Year: Student Component Data File User's Manual).² Thus, as in the case of students properly designated as transfers out, all but the 29 true dropouts (as identified by the NORC dropout study) had a chance of being selected into the sample.

Figure 2-1 gives the number and percentage of students who fall into each of the three exclusion categories (B, C, and E) that may have implications for estimates drawn from base year sample and subsequent study waves.

The total eighth grade enrollment for the NELS:88 sample of schools was 202,996. Of these students, 10,853 were excluded owing to limitations in their language proficiency or to mental or physical disabilities. Thus 5.35 percent of the potential student sample (the students enrolled in the eighth grade in the 1,052 NELS:88 schools from which usable student data were obtained) were excluded. Less than one half of one percent of the potential sample was excluded for reasons of physical or emotional disability (.41 percent), but 3.04 percent was excluded for reasons of mental disability, and 1.90 percent because of limitations in English proficiency (we estimate that this is about 45 percent of the total number of LEP students in the schools).

Put another way, of the 10,853 excluded students, about 57 percent were excluded for mental disability, about 35 percent owing to language problems, and less than 8 percent because of physical or emotional disabilities. Because current characteristics and probable future educational outcomes for these groups depart in many ways from the national norm, the exclusion factor should be taken into consideration in generalizing from the NELS:88 sample to eighth graders in the nation as a whole. This implication for estimation carries to future waves. For example, if the overall propensity to drop out between the eighth and tenth grades is twice as high for excluded students as for non-excluded students, the dropout figures derivable from the NELS:88 First Follow-Up (1990) study would underestimate these early dropouts by about ten percent.

It should be noted that in a school-based longitudinal survey, such as NELS:88, excluded students have a second implication for future waves, in addition to their possible impact on estimation. To achieve a thoroughly representative tenth grade (1990) and twelfth grade (1992) sample comparable to the High School and Beyond 1980 sophomore cohort (or, for 1992, the HS&B 1980 senior cohort and the base year of NLS-72), the follow-up samples must approximate those which would have come into being had a new baseline sample independently been drawn at either of the later time points. In 1990 (and 1992) one must therefore freshen, to give "out of sequence" students (for example, in 1990, those tenth graders who were not in eighth grade in the spring of 1988) a chance of selection into the study. But also one should ideally accommodate excluded students whose eligibility status has changed--for they too (with the exception of those who fell out of sequence in the progression through grades) would potentially have been selected had a sample been independently drawn two vears later, and must have a chance of selection if the representativeness and cross-cohort comparability of the follow-up sample is to be maintained. Thus, for example, if a base year student excluded because of a language barrier achieves the level of proficiency in English that is required for completing the NELS:88 instruments in 1990 or 1992, that student should have some chance of re-entering the sample. It is planned, subject to availability of funds, to follow a substantial subsample of the base

8

² Ingels, S.J. et al. National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 (NELS:88) Base Year: Student Component Data File User's Manual. Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics, 1990.



N = 202,996 (Total number of eighth grade students enrolled in 1,052 participating schools.)

vo l

year ineligibles in the NELS:88 first and second follow-ups, and to reassess their eligibility status and gather information about their demographic characteristics, educational paths, and life outcomes. Data on persistence in school to be obtained from this subsample will be used to derive an adjustment factor for national estimates of the eighth grade cohort's dropout rates between spring of 1988 and spring of 1990, and later, between 1990 and 1992.

Exclusion of schools. Just as certain students were considered to be ineligible, so too certain kinds of schools were ineligible for selection. The eligible populations of schools are restricted to "regular" schools in the U.S., private as well as public. Excluded from the sample are Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) schools, special education schools for the handicapped, area vocational schools that do not enroll students directly, and schools for dependents of U.S. personnel overseas. Additionally, a sample list school was considered ineligible if the school no longer existed (closed or merged) or did not enroll any eighth grade students in the spring term of 1988. Most of the sample list schools declared ineligible were schools that had closed or were small, private schools that had no eighth graders enrolled in the spring of 1988. Finally, a school was ineligible if it had opened its door after the final sampling frame was constructed.³ The number of schools in this category is likely to be small.

We believe that these exclusions will not have a large impact on estimates made from the current NELS:88 sample. Information from various sources suggests that approximately 90 percent of American Indian school children attend schools not affiliated with BIA (by "affiliated" we mean schools directly operated by BIA and those operated by American Indian communities under contract to BIA). Investigators should take this degree of undercoverage into account when attempting population estimates. If this group is substantially different from American Indian eighth graders not attending BIA schools a substantial bias in estimates may result.

Other sources suggest that fewer than 10,000 eighth graders attended Department of Defense Dependent Schools (DODDS) serving dependents of U.S. personnel overseas in the 1987-88 school year. This estimate suggests that fewer than .3 percent of all eighth graders are in DODDS schools. To the extent that these students resemble the general eighth grade population in the 1987-88 school year, the rate of undercoverage is not alarming. To the extent that certain characteristics are disproportionately represented in DODDS students, the undercoverage problem becomes more serious. However, since such a small number of students fall into this group, the undercoverage is not likely to result in serious bias in population estimates unless the DODDS students are extremely homogeneous on certain important education-related characteristics, and these characteristics occur rarely among other eighth graders. It should be noted that DODDS students who returned to the U.S. between spring of 1988 and autumn of 1989 and who are enrolled in tenth grade during the 1989-90 school year, have a chance of selection into the NELS:88 First Follow-up survey through sample "freshening".

Of course, students who are educated at home or in private tutorial settings, and those who have dropped out of school before reaching the eighth grade, also fall outside the NELS:88 base year sample. The size of the pre-Grade 8 dropout population in winter-spring 1988 is uncertain. The National Center for Education Statistics has recently reported that 12 percent of dropouts ages 16-24 in 1988 had completed six or fewer years of school (Frase, 1989). However, over 31 percent of Hispanic dropouts age 16-24 had completed only six, or fewer, years of schooling. This finding both con-

³ The sample frame represented information current through April, 1987.

firms the fact that there is a sizable group of students who leave school before entering eighth grade, and suggests that the biasing effect of this phenomenon on NELS:88 data may be much more pronounced for some subgroups than others. Any of the school-level exclusions may have implications for national inferences based on NELS data, although their impact on such estimates is generally expected to be small.

Minimizing NAEP/NELS Building-Level Overlap. In order to minimize burden to individual participating schools and protect response rates for both studies, the NELS:88 core sample was designed to minimize the overlap with the NAEP sample for the 1987-88 school year. To accomplish this goal, the selection of the NELS:88 schools involved a two-phase process. The first phase was the NAEP selection. Any schools that were not selected for NAEP were eligible for NELS:88 selection and any schools that were selected for NAEP were not eligible for NELS:88 selection. In principle, then, no school was eligible for selection in both surveys. Exceptions to this principle could have occurred in practice because not all of the schools originally selected for NAEP agreed to participate, and therefore substitute schools were selected. While NORC was able to eliminate the originally selected NAEP schools from the NELS:88 sample, it was not able to screen out NAEP substitute schools.

Substitutions. Additional sample selections within superstrata were made for schools that refused to participate in NELS:88. No additional selections were made for students who, for whatever reason, failed to participate. Each school (and student) was assigned a weight equal to the inverse of the unit's selection probability. The derivation of student case weights is discussed below. Use of weights properly projects estimates (within sampling error) to the population of eighth grade schools and eighth grade students in United States schools in the 1987-1988 academic year, and for specific subgroups within that population.

The current weights give estimates reasonably close to those from other data sources. For example, the 1989 Digest of Education Statistics estimates the fall 1987 public school eighth grade enrollment to be 2,838,671. The estimate derived from the NELS:88 data by summing the nonresponseadjusted student weight for respondents in public schools is 2,633,959. The 6.9 percent underestimate can be accounted for by the fact that the NELS:88 sample excluded certain classes of ineligible students. While the overall ineligibility rate is around 5.4 percent for the entire sample, ineligible students were proportionally more likely to be found in public schools than in private schools; therefore, the ineligibility rate for public schools is expected to be higher than the overall rate.

The Current Population Survey Report No. 429 estimates the total number of eighth graders in public and private schools in 1986 to be 3,235,000 students, composed of 1,679,000 male and 1,556,000 female students. This is reasonably close to the corresponding NELS:88 estimates of 3,008,080 students, 1,507,074 males and 1,501,005 females. Once again, the discrepancy can be accounted for fairly well by the excluded students, because males are generally known to be disproportionately represented in the specified population.

2.2 Sampling Frame

In designing a sample frame, one can use either an explicit or an implicit list of the elements to be sampled. For NELS:88, the creation of an explicit list of all eighth grade students in the U.S. would have been an impossible task. NORC therefore elected to use an implicit list of students by using a list of public and private schools in the U.S. It was important that the list of schools be complete and accurate and have complete data for variables to be used in the subsequent stratification.

Base Year Sample Design Report

Investigation of various sources indicated that the most readily available source for a complete and accurate frame was the data base compiled by Quality Education Data, Inc. (QED) of Denver, Colorado. The data base includes both public and private (parochial and non-parochial) schools. QED performs annual, late-summer updates by telephoning each public school district, each Catholic diocese, and all private schools on its records. In addition, QED frequently receives updated information from agencies such as the National Catholic Educational Association (NCEA), the Council of American Private Education (CAPE), the Association of Christian Schools, and others, regarding school openings and closings, enrollments, and so forth. The QED records were successfully employed in the five-state field test and proved highly accurate. The number of eighth-grade students attending schools not included in the QED lists is estimated by QED, Inc. to be less than 1 percent and comprised mostly of a small number of schools that had opened after a particular data file was created and released, and a small number of home schools in rural areas. An analysis undertaken by NORC comparing the QED files with files from Department of Education's Common Core of Data (CCD) showed a very high correspondence between the files both in the public schools listed and their characteristics.

The QED data base contained Census information about whether a school's location was urban, suburban, or rural. NORC used this information for stratification purposes. The QED list did not contain information about the racial/ethnic composition of public schools usable for constructing the NELS:88 sampling frame. NORC obtained racial/ethnic composition data (on public schools only) from Westat, Inc., a subcontractor for the NELS:88 survey. As part of another federal contract (the National Assessment of Educational Progress, NAEP), Westat had obtained data from the Office of Civil Rights (OCR) and from other sources (e.g., district personnel) that indicated those public schools with a combined black and Hispanic enrollment of greater than 19 percent. The schools for which the OCR data were available tended to be large schools in large SMSAs.

Westat also obtained black and Hispanic percentages directly from district personnel in public school districts that, according to the QED list, had large proportions of black or Hispanic students. These data were compiled only for public schools in the primary sampling units of the Year-17 NAEP survey. In all, less than half of the eighth-graders in the NELS:88 frame came from schools for which such racial composition data were available. However, this partial data allowed NORC to create sampling strata containing public schools with very large percentages of black or Hispanic students. In addition, data from the QED list allowed identification for stratification purposes of schools as public, Catholic (private), or other private. The stratification procedures are discussed in more detail in the following sections.

2.3 Stratification

The sampling frame was sorted in such a way as to create groups of schools, called strata, that were contiguous on the frame. Each stratum contained schools that were relatively similar in terms of certain variables deemed relevant to the survey's objectives (public/private, region, urbanicity, and percent minority). The actual selection of schools occurred independently within each stratum.

Schools were stratified by superstrata and substrata. First, schools were sorted into combinations of school type and geographic region (superstrata). Next, substrata were formed according to values on an urbanization variable, (i.e., whether the location of a school was urban, suburban, or rural), and according to the minority classification mentioned previously; minority substrata were not created for private schools. Finally, within substrata schools were sorted in order of their estimated eighth grade enrollment. The sort order alternated between ascending and descending from one substratum to the next.

In the following tables and on the data tape, the divisions that comprise the public and private schools' superstrata are the same as those used by the Census Bureau. During sample construction, however, nine large states constituted nine of the individual public school superstrata. Similarly, one private school stratum was comprised entirely of schools in one state. Because Public Law 100-297 mandates the protection of respondents to NCES surveys from the risk of disclosure, including disclosure through statistical means, the public use data file collapses schools in these strata into their respective census division strata and completely suppresses information on substrata. This collapsing of strata will lead to standard errors being slightly overstated when CTAB, or other programs that account for the sample design, are used to calculate or approximate standard error estimates.⁴ Table 2.3 shows the number of schools in the sampling frame and the number of schools sampled for each of the strata reported in the public use data file. It should be noted that a certain percentage of schools were found to be ineligible after they were sampled and contacted. These schools were excluded from the sample (see section 2.1.1 for a discussion of excluded schools) and were replaced with schools from an additional pool of schools sampled to accommodate such occurrences. The numbers in Table 2.3 do not reflect these schools. However, subsequent descriptions of the sample do account for the ineligible schools, which is why the number of schools reported in subsequent tables differs slightly from the numbers reported here.

2.4 Allocation of Numbers of Schools to Be Sampled

The number of public schools to be selected for the core sample from each superstratum was set to be proportional to the aggregate estimated eighth grade enrollment of all the schools in that superstratum. For this calculation, the eighth grade enrollment in each school was estimated by dividing the enrollment figure from the QED list by the number of grades in the school; this procedure implicitly assumes an equal number of students in each grade in the school. The allocation of the sample size to substrata within the public school superstrata was proportional to the sum of a measure of size (MOS) of the schools in the substrata. The calculation of the measure of size is discussed in section 2.5; the measures of size were proportional to the eighth grade enrollments.

The determination of the numbers of schools to be selected from each of the private strata reflected a compromise between competing analytic needs. Private schools as a whole were oversampled relative to public schools. Policy analysts are particularly interested in certain types of private schools, and oversampling these types has the obvious benefit of increasing the number of cases available for analysis, but at the cost of decreased precision for statistics based on the other types of private schools. The allocation was designed to give policy analysts the minimum numbers of schools necessary for their work, while not deviating too far from allocation proportional to eighth grade enrollment, so that statistics based on all types of private schools would not lose too much precision.

13

⁴ CTAB is the name of a program designed to calculate standard errors for two-stage cluster samples. See Carroll, C. Dennis, (October, 1988). *Tabulation Routines for Means and Percentages with Taylor Standard Error Estimates*. Washington, D.C., National Center for Education Statistics, PC Software Documentation.

Table 2.3. Number of Schools in Sample Frame andNumber of Schools Sampled by Sampling Strata

Public Schools	Schools in Fran	me Schools Sample	d
N.E./Mid-Atlantic	3,650	273	
E. North Central	4,101	224	
W. North Central	3,217	100	
South Atlantic	2,604	225	
E. South Central	1,976	91	
W. South Central	2,994	168	
Mountain	1,629	76	
Pacific	2,647	193	
Total Public		1,350	

Private Schools	Schools in F	rame	Schools Sampled
Catholic, Suburban/Rural			
Northeast	1,233		33
North Central	1,762		32
South	539		10
West	521		9
Catholic, Urban			
Northeast	515		17
North Central	1,450		28
South	569		11
West	362		6
Other Private			
Northeast	1,072		69
North Central	3,038		52
South	2,808		71
West	2,179		46
Total Private	16,048		384
Total (Public and Private)	38,866		1,734

14

2.5 Selection of Schools within Strata

A sample design objective was that each student sampled from the selected schools would have an equal chance of selection. To accomplish this, a measure of size (MOS) was calculated for each school that was not selected by NAEP:

$$MOS = F * G * max \{24, G8 enrollment\}.$$
 (1)

Schools selected by NAEP had MOS set to zero. The MOS was equal to an adjustment factor, F, times another factor, G, times the maximum of 24 (which was the desired number of regular students per school to be sampled) or the estimated eighth grade enrollment of the school. The factor F varied from school to school and was designed to adjust for the fact that NAEP did not select schools with equal probability. F was set equal to the reciprocal of 1-P, where P was set equal to each school's probability of selection into NAEP,⁵ ensuring that choosing schools with probabilities proportional to MOS would yield school selection probabilities proportional to the estimated eighth grade enrollments. The latter is desirable because if the school selection probabilities are proportional to the eighth grade enrollments and if 24 students (or all students, if fewer than 24 are enrolled) are to be selected at random from each selected school, then all students have equal probabilities of selection. The effect of G is to undersample small private schools where very few students could be sampled. With a fixed school sample size, this has the effect of increasing the number of large other private schools thus increasing the total number of other private students in the sample.

The factor G is present in (1) to ensure that a sufficient number of "other private" school students are included in the sample. Many of the "other private" schools had estimated eighth grade enrollments considerably under 24, and if the factor G were not present in (1) then the number of sampled students in "other private" schools would be undesirably low. The factor G was set equal to 1 for all schools in all strata except for the superstratum of "other private" schools. For the schools in the latter superstratum, G was set equal to 1 if the estimated eighth grade enrollment was 8 or more, and G was set equal to 0.5 if the estimated eighth grade enrollment was less than 8. The selection of the public schools was accomplished using systematic sampling with random starts in each public superstratum and sampling intervals in each superstratum that were proportional to MOS. The selection of the private schools was accomplished using systematic sampling with random starts in each private substratum and with the sampling intervals proportional to MOS. Use of systematic sampling in this way produced the beneficial effect of implicit stratification by estimated eighth grade enrollment within each substratum.

5 For each school, define the following probabilities: P(NELS) = probability of selection into NELS P(NELS/NAEP) = probability of selection into NELS given selection into NAEP P(NELS/not NAEP) = probability of selection into NELS given nonselection into NAEP P = probability of selection into NAEP Also, let ENROLL denote an estimate of the grade 8 enrollment in the school. Then, P(NELS) = P(NELS/NAEP) * P + P(NELS/not NAEP) * (1-P) Note that P(NELS)=P(NELS/NAEP)=0. Thus, P(NELS)=P(NELS/not NAEP) * (1-P) If we set P(NELS) proportional to ENROLL, then we have P(NELS/not NAEP) proportional to ENROLL/(1-P).

2.6 Design Allowance for School Nonresponse

Despite the best efforts of any data collection agency, not all units selected for a survey agree to participate. One problem caused by nonresponse is possible systematic error in statistics calculated from data from just the participating schools (see section 4 for further discussion of systematic error due to nonresponse). A second problem is a decrease in the size of the sample from which data are obtained. To cope with the latter problem NORC drew extra schools in the initial selection process. The extra schools were brought into the sample in order to attain the desired sample sizes despite nonparticipation by some of the schools. The extra schools were chosen at random from the same superstratum and substratum as nonresponding schools. Specifically, the sample drawn was larger than the sample NORC intended to field; schools were randomly assigned to two pools, with pool 1 as the target sample and pool 2 containing backup schools. Our best attempts were made to obtain cooperation from each pool 1 selection, but when cooperation was impossible, an additional school was taken at random from pool 2 from the same superstratum and substratum as the nonresponding school. This procedure had the effect of controlling the number of cooperating schools from each superstratum and substratum.

Schools selected randomly within each substrata were alternately assigned to either pool 1 or pool 2. That is, each school had an equal chance of being in pool 1 or pool 2. All of the pool 1 schools were fielded. If the number of responding schools in a stratum was below a prespecified target number (see Table 2.8-2) schools from pool 2 were contacted. It is important to note that not all of the pool 2 schools were fielded. Once the target number of schools within a stratum was obtained, additional pool 2 schools were not fielded. School weights were dervied conditional on the number of pool 1 and pool 2 schools that were contacted, ignoring the pool to which the school was initially assigned.

Our final sample size consisted of all pool 1 schools and all pool 2 schools from whom cooperation was requested; pool 2 schools that we did not contact (because we had already obtained cooperation from a sufficient number of schools in the corresponding superstratum and substratum) were not counted. That final sample size (adjusted for numbers of ineligible schools) was used as the denominator of the unweighted response rate for schools. The sample design weight for each extra (pool 2) school that was brought into the survey was calculated in the same manner as the weights for the pool 1 schools, i.e., as the reciprocal of the selection probability conditional on the final sample size for the school's superstratum and substratum.

2.7 Selection of Students, Parents, Teachers and School Administrators.

2.7.1 Student Selection.

The basic sampling procedure resulted in the selection of up to 24 students per school, or all of the eighth grade students in the school if they numbered fewer than 24. An additional procedure was implemented to augment this basic sample of 24 students per school with an oversample of Asian-Pacific Islander and Hispanic students. The target was to achieve a total oversample of 2,200 additional students with these ethnic characteristics. The oversampling was done only for those schools that fell into the "core" sample.

The student sampling procedure can be described as follows. First, three lists of eighth graders were obtained from each participating school, one of Asian students, one of Hispanic students, and one of all the other students (see section 2.1.1 for a discussion of determining which students were eligible to be sampled and which were excluded from the sample). Second, random samples of Asians, Hispanics, and others were independently selected from each of the three lists. Sample sizes were calculated using the following formulae:

where nH, nA, and nO are sample sizes for the sample of Hispanic, Asian, and Other students. NA, NH, and NO denote the numbers of students on the lists of Asians, Hispanics, and others, respectively, and N denotes the total number of students on all the lists. F denotes the first-stage selection probability of the school, CA and CH are constants used for the selection of Asian and Hispanic students, and CS is a constant used for the selection of Asian or Hispanic students in stratum S. CA, CH, and CS were constants of proportionality constructed to obtain desired total sample sizes for Asian, Hispanic and other students across schools.

Upper limits on nH and nA were set to ensure that the number of students per school did not get impractically large. The specifications of CS, CA, and CH were empirically determined to ensure that two goals were achieved: (1) sufficient numbers of Asian and Hispanic students were sampled, and (2) selection probabilities did not vary excessively across students. By keeping selection probabilities relatively homogeneous across students, design effects were also kept from becoming too large.

2.7.2 Sample Updating

A representative from each school submitted a list of eligible students from which a sample was drawn (see Section 2.1.1 for criteria used to determine student eligibility). These lists, called school rosters, were submitted and an initial sample was drawn, starting in November of 1987. To adjust the student sampling frame for student attrition and change in the eighth grade population of the sampled school, NORC conducted a sample update seven to ten days prior to the school's scheduled survey session. The NORC survey representative went over the sample list with the school coordinator to ascertain whether all sampled students were still eligible and to ensure that transfer-ins--that is, any student who had joined the school's eighth grade between the time of original sampling and the time of the update--were added to a supplementary roster from which additional students would be selected. The supplementary roster was annotated for eligibility and ethnicity and the transfer-in students were sequentially numbered. Selections for inclusion in the sample were based on the same set of computer-generated random numbers used to select the original sample and Asian/Hispanic oversamples for that particular school. While in the High School and Beyond Base Year Survey substitutions were made for students who were ineligible or had died, there were no student-level substitutions in NELS:88.

2.7.3 Selection of Parents

Conceptually, the universe of parents of eighth grade students consisted of all parents or legal guardians of eligible eighth grade students in the winter-spring 1988. The selection of parents thus did not require the construction of a formal universe or list.

One parent questionnaire was sought per student, regardless of whether the student resided in a one- or two-parent household (or joint custody arrangement, in the case of divorced parents of a NELS:88 eighth grader). Once the student sample had been selected, the parent who was "best informed" about the child's educational activities was asked to complete a NELS:88 parent question-

naire. The parent questionnaire was delivered by means of an envelope addressed "To the Parents of (Name of Student)" and was accompanied by a letter introducing the study to the parent. Both the letter and the instructions printed on the parent survey instrument stressed that "the questionnaire should be completed by the parent or guardian who is most familiar with the student's current school situation and educational plans." The questionnaire packet was initially carried home by the student, who was instructed to give it the parent who was best informed about the student's school situation. In a few cases, schools insisted that the questionnaire be mailed to the home rather than distributed in school, in which case the packet was again addressed "To the Parents of (NAME OF STUDENT)". Nonresponse follow-up was by mail and telephone for households with telephones and by mail and in person for households lacking telephones. Telephone and in-person interviewer scripts stressed once more the requirement that the initial contact in the household be asked to identify the more knowl-edgeable parent respondent. Thus, the parent respondent was essentially self-selected, though most certainly the mode of delivery, the screening selection exercised by the eighth grade student, and chance factors created unequal opportunities for self-selection between the two-parent home or between multiple households with dual child custody arrangements.

No effort was made to identify parents who had more than one chance of selection (that is, had more than one child in the eighth grade). After parent and student data had been collected, the parent sample was further restricted to the parents/guardians of participating base year students. Thus parent data from the base year nonparticipants was systematically excluded from the final data file.

2.7.4 Selection of Teachers

All full- and part-time teachers who were teaching classes in mathematics, science, English/language arts, and social studies to eligible eighth graders in the winter-spring of 1988 were included in the NELS:88 universe of eighth grade teachers. The actual sample was restricted to teachers who provided instruction in the four subject areas to the selected sample of eighth grade students within the sampled schools. Thus there was no need to construct a formal universe list of eighth grade mathematics, science, English and social studies teachers prior to their selection. In cases where the teacher had changed between the autumn and spring terms, the spring term teacher was designated as the preferred respondent. To achieve the objective of "linking information from the teacher to data about individual students in the NELS:88 sample," two teachers were identified as respondents to the teacher questionnaire for each student.

Selection of respondents to the teacher questionnaire for each student was based on the assignment of two curriculum areas per school included in the NELS:88 base year sample. Specifically, each of the sample schools was assigned one of the following combinations of curriculum areas:

- Science and English;
- Science and Social Studies;
- Mathematics and English; or
- Mathematics and Social Studies.

Each sampled student's current teacher in each of the two designated curriculum areas was selected to receive a teacher questionnaire.

The assignment procedure was designed to achieve approximately balanced representation of the four combinations of curriculum areas across the sampling variables of school type and levels of urbanicity and/or minority population. Additionally, there was an attempt to balance assignments within geographical categories and by school size. Finally, the assignment process was intended to ensure representation of mathematics or science and English or social studies in all base year sampled schools.

Once the data file listing all sampled schools was compiled, it was sorted in the order of sample selection; that is, by geographical category within school type, then by urbanicity/minority level, by whether the school was selected initially as a sample school or a replacement school, and finally by a measure of size. Next, the four curriculum combination areas were ordered in a random sequence and the start combination randomly selected. This start combination (mathematics and social studies) was assigned to the first school in the sorted listing, and curriculum combination areas were assigned to the schools in repeating cycles of the sequence (i.e, mathematics and social studies, mathematics and English, science and English, and science and social studies).

Following the assignment of curriculum combination areas to sampled schools and the selection of the student sample in a participating school, a matrix of student-subject-teacher information was obtained from school records. A Class Schedule Form used in the teacher-respondent selection process contained 30 rows (one per sampled student) and two columns (one for each assigned curriculum area). For each cell in the form, that is, for each student-curriculum combination (subject), the following information was entered:

- Class identification (e.g., usually period number or hour);
- Course title; and
- Name of the student's current teacher in that subject.

In completing the teacher matrix, the school coordinator was asked to report the current teacher, or where there were multiple current teachers, to report the teacher who had the greatest assigned responsibility for teaching the sampled student. The assignment of subject matter pairs to schools ensured that data were collected from two teachers of each student (assuming more than two teachers for the eighth grade class, and that both the student's teachers chose to participate in the study) and that survey response burden for teachers in the school was limited.

Because of the universality of the four subject matters in the required curriculum of the eighth grade, virtually all sampled students were enrolled in classes in the assigned subject combination during some portion of the 1987-88 school year. Thus no subject substitution was necessary. However, occasionally, a student was enrolled in more than one spring term class in a particular subject. When this was so, the following decision rule was invoked to determine which class would be entered on the teacher matrix: when there are two or more candidate classes in the same subject for a given student, take the course in which the student will have spent the most class time between the start of school and survey day; if this rule is not sufficient to eliminate all but one of the candidate classes, select the class that involves the most advanced subject matter. Other cases were encountered in which there was more than one teacher for a designated class (for example, team teaching arrangements). In these cases, the teacher with the greatest assigned responsibility (identified from the Class Schedule Form) was chosen to complete the teacher questionnaire.

The use of the this sampling scheme for the NELS:88 base year resulted in the identification of varying numbers of teacher-respondents per participating school, ranging from 1 to 19, with an average number of 5.5 teachers per school. It should be noted that the resulting NELS:88 base year sam-

ple of teacher-respondents to the teacher questionnaire does not constitute a statistical or representative sample of eighth grade teachers for analysis and reporting purposes. Rather, the results of this questionnaire are intended to provide information about student-related characteristics, teacher practices, and curriculum exposure that may affect long term student outcomes. It should also be noted that once data collection had been completed the sample was further restricted to teachers of base year participants (here defined as students for whom student questionnaire data was available). That is, data collected from teachers of base year nonparticipants were systematically excluded from the data files.

2.7.5 Selection of School Administrators

The head administrators (principals, headmasters, or headmistresses) of all eligible eighth grade schools in the universe of schools constituted the universe of school administrators. One school administrator questionnaire was sought from each school. A head administrator entered the sample if his or her school was selected as an eligible NELS:88 school.

2.8 Data Collection Results

The NELS:88 base year study collected data from students, parents, teachers, and school administrators. Tables 2.8-1 through 2.8-4 summarize data collection results for the NELS:88 base year study. Table 2.8-1 is a summary of NELS:88 school, student, parent, and teacher survey completion rates.

Table 2.8-2 describes details of the school sampling and enlistment procedure. The first column presents target sample sizes overall and for the different types of schools. These target sample sizes were determined based upon statistical and analytic considerations such as establishing an acceptable level of precision in estimation and ensuring that an adequate number of schools of each type were available for subgroup analyses. The original selections, or pool 1 (as contrasted to the independently drawn sample of replacement schools, or pool 2) are identical in number--both totally and by superstratum and substratum--to the target N. The second and third columns break schools initially selected (pool 1 schools) into those eligible for NELS:88 participation (based upon the criteria for exclusion discussed earlier) and those ineligible or excluded. The fourth column gives the frequency and percent of eligible schools from pool 1 that agreed to participate in the survey. The difference between the targeted number of schools and the number participating from pool 1 made necessary the selection of a substantial number of additional schools from pool 2 to reach the target sample sizes. The number of additional schools surveyed from pool 2 are in column 5. A total of 550 eligible schools were contacted from pool 2. Thus the pool 2 completion rate is 359/550 or 65.27 percent. The last column shows the final obtained sample sizes; as indicated, they exceeded the targets in two of the three categories.

Tables 2.8-3 and 2.8-4 present two sets of completion statistics for the four study components that constitute the NELS:88 public use sample. The statistics are presented according to the sampling stratification variables. Table 2.8-3 displays weighted and unweighted completion rates based on the overall study/sample design in which the participating student constitutes the basic unit of analysis. The student design weight, the only weight applicable to respondents and non-respondents, was used in calculating the weighted completion rates with the exception of the teacher questionnaire rate and the school administrator questionnaire rate. No design weight was available for teachers because teachers were not sampled, but entered into the sample only by virtue of their attachment to a sampled student. However, when student-level teacher ratings were considered, it was appropriate to use the

student design weight. For the school administrator questionnaire the school design weight was used. Information about the construction of the student and school design weights can be found in chapter 3.

Table 2.8-1. Summary of NELS:88 Completion Rates

Instrument	Number Completed	Weighted	Unweighted
Student Questionnaires	24,599	93.4%	93.1%
Student Tests	23,701	96.5%*	96.4%*
Parent Questionnaires	22,651	93.7%	92.1%
Teacher Ratings of Students	23,188	95.9%**	94.3%**
Teacher Questionnaires	5,193	NA	91.4%
School Administrator Questionnaire	s 1,035	98.9%	98.4%

* Percentage of cases for which a student questionnaire was obtained for which a cognitive test was also obtained.

** Indicates coverage rate (see discussion following).

Table 2.8-2. NELS:88 Base Year School Sample Selection and Realization

	Target N	(Pool 1) Eligible	(Pool 1) Ineligible	(Pool 1) Agreed	(Pool 2) Replacements	(Pool 1 & 2) Total Participating Schools
Total	1,032	1,002	30	698 (69.7%)	359	1,057*
Public	800	774	26	522 (67.4%)	295	817
Catholic	95	91	4	70 (76.9%)	34	104
Private	137	137	0	106 (77.4%)	30	136

*1,057 schools participated at some level, though usable student data were received for only 1,052. For 1,035 schools, both student and school administrator data were received.

Base Year Sample Design Report

For purposes of this table, the completion rate was calculated as the ratio of the number of completed interviews divided by the number of in-scope sample members. Note that the student population is, in the strictest sense, the sole independent sample, and that the other populations, for example parent and teacher, are defined in relation to participating students. Because the parent or teacher of a base year student nonparticipant was defined as out-of-scope (even though they may have completed questionnaires), these out-of-scope respondents have been subtracted from both the numerator and the denominator in the response rate calculation. Given this definition of response rate, weighted completion rates exceed 93 percent for each class of respondents as well as for the teacher ratings of students. In the case of the teacher survey, the statistics given represent more strictly a coverage rate than a teacher response rate. Note that reports were sought from two teachers of each student. The teacher ratings statistics in Table 2.8-1 depict the percentage of base year participating students for whom observations were obtained from one or more teachers.

Table 2.8-4, in contrast, presents the weighted and unweighted completion rates for each survey based on the initial sample selections--that is, the response rate denominator includes base year nonparticipants, even though the parents and teachers of base year nonparticipant respondents were defined as out of scope. Utilizing this definition, the completion rates decrease by several points to around the 90 percent mark. Because in both instances ineligible (or out-of-scope) schools and students were removed from the sample prior to data collection, completion rates are computed directly by simply dividing the number of participating respondents/schools by the number of selections. As in Table 2.8-3, the teacher statistics represent a coverage rate, rather than a teacher response rate.

In considering participation rates, it is important to note that while school-level and individuallevel response rates are often considered separately, effects of nonresponse in a two-stage sample are for many purposes multiplicative across the two stages. A true indication of the response rate for students can be computed by multiplying school participation rates by individual participation rates. Thus, for example, defining school participation in terms of the percentage of originally selected pool 1 schools that held survey days, and multiplying that percentage by the overall response rate for students, one derives an overall response rate of about 65 percent (.697 x .9341=.651) for students and about 68.8 percent (.697 x .9892=.689) for school administrators. As a point of comparison, these participation rates are similar to those of the 1980 High School and Beyond Base Year Survey (for students, .70 x .82 = .574, or 57.4 percent; for principals, .70 x .982 = .687, or 68.7 percent).

Table 2.8	-3NELS:	88 Base Yea	r Completi	on Rates by S	Sample Elig	gibility for St	udent, Paro	ent, Teacher,	and School	Surveys
	ques	tionnaire	Bluden	test	ques	tionnaire	ra	atings ^a	quest	tionnaire
	Comp	letion rates	Comp	letion rates	Comp	letion rates	Comp	letion rates	Compl	etion rates
	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted
Total	93.41	93.05	96.53	96.35	93.70	92.08	95.91	94.26	98.92	98.38
Participated	2	4,599	2	3,701	2	2,651	2	3,188	1	,035
Selected	2	6,435	2	4,599	2	4,599	2	4,599	1	,052
School type			·							
Public	93.15	92.79	96.32	96.11	94.21	93.72	96.57	95.82	98.73	98.28
Catholic	95.67	94.99	98.08	97.52	89.85	83.55	90.95	84.76	100.0	100.0
Other Private	94.06	93.15	97.34	96.94	91.57	88.34	93.18	92.11	98.25	97.74
Urbanicity										
Urban	92.36	92.19	95.89	95.96	91.48	90.00	94.62	93.20	98.94	97.48
Suburban	92.17	92.38	96.36	96.29	93.32	91.44	95.56	93.85	98.12	98.18
Rural	95.26	95.13	97.29	96.94	96.08	95.40	97.46	96.09	99.64	99.66
Region										
Northeast	92.81	91.85	96.31	95.52	90.58	84.45	91.75	86.42	98.67	97.72
South	94.11	94.03	96.93	96.92	95.93	95.87	97.44	97.00	99.19	98.89
North Central	94.70	94.79	96.85	96.96	94.92	94.72	97.71	97.82	99.75	98.88
West	91.17	90.83	95.50	95.40	90.18	89.62	94.18	93.25	97.10	97.54
Ethnicity										
Hispanic	90.86	90.24	94.95	94.88	88.35	87.57	92.58	92.50	NA	NA
Asian/Pacific		_								
Islander	89.70	90.12	98.18	97.84	90.76	91.53	94.06	93.69	NA	NA
Other	93.75	93.63	96.64	96.45	94.28	92.72	96.28	94.53	NA	NA
Minority scho	ols									
Schools with more than 19% minority students	89.64	89.43	95.21	95.44	89.94	88.79	92.78	92.44	98.54	98.04
Schools with less than or equal to 19% minority studes	93.83 nts	93.51	96.67	96.45	94.09	92.47	96.24	94.48	98.93	98.42

^a Indicates a coverage rate.

Table 2.8-4.--NELS:88 Base Year Completion Rates by Sample Selection for Student, Parent, Teacher, and School Surveys

	Student guestionnaire		Studer	it 8th grade test	P ques	arent tionnaire	Ta ra	eacher atings [#]	S ques	chool tionnaire
	Comp	letion rates	Comp	letion rates	Comp	etion rates	Comp	letion rates	Compl	letion rates
	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted
Total	93.41	93.05	90.17	89.65	87.53	85.68	89.59	87.72	98.92	98.38
Participated	2	4,599	: 2	3,701	22,651		23,188		1	1,035
Selected	2	6,435	2	26,435	2	6,435	2	26,435	1	1,052
School type										
Public	93.15	92.79	89.73	89.18	87.75	86.97	89.95	88.92	98.73	98.28
Catholic	95.67	94.99	93.83	92.63	85.96	79.37	87.01	80.51	100.0	100.0
Other Private	94.06	93.15	91.56	90.29	86.14	82.27	87.65	85.79	98,25	97.74
Urbanicity										
Urban	92.36	92.19	88.56	88.46	84.49	82.97	87.39	85.92	98.94	97.48
Suburban	92.71	92.38	89.34	88.96	86.52	84.47	88.60	86.70	98.12	98.18
Rural	95.26	95.13	92.68	92.14	91.52	90.74	92.85	91.41	99.64	99.66
Region			Т							
Northeast	92.81	91.85	89.39	87.73	84.06	77.56	85.15	79.37	98.67	97.72
South	94.11	94.03	91.23	91.14	90.28	90.14	91.71	91.21	99.19	98.89
North Central	94.70	94.79	91.71	91.91	89.89	89.78	92.53	92.72	99.75	98.88
West	91.17	90.83	87.07	86.69	82.21	81.40	85.87	84.69	97.01	97.54
Ethnicity			-							
Hispanic	90.86	90.24	86.27	85.63	80.28	79.02	84.11	83.48	NA	NA
Asian/Pacific										
Islander	89.70	90.12	88.07	88.17	81.41	82.49	84.37	84.43	NA	NA
Other	93.75	93.63	90.61	90.31	88.39	86.81	90.26	88.51	NA	NA
Minority scho	ols									
Schools with	89.64	89.43	85.35	85.36	80.63	79.41	83.17	82.67	98.54	98.04
more than 19% minority students										
Schools with less than or	93.83	93.51	90.70	90.19	88.29	86.47	90.30	88.35	98.93	98.42
equal to 19% minority stude	nts									

^a Indicates a coverage rate.

24

3. Sample Weights

3.1 General Approach to Weighting

The general purpose of the weighting scheme was to compensate for unequal probabilities of selection into the base year sample and to adjust for the fact that not all individuals selected into the sample actually participated. Construction of respondent weights was a multistage process that began with constructing weights for schools. Next, preliminary student weights were constructed, then adjusted for nonresponse. In addition, nonresponse-adjusted weights were constructed for schools.

3.2 Weighting Procedures

A school design weight, SCHWT, was calculated for each school by taking the reciprocal of each school's selection probability:

SCHWT_i =
$$1/P_{i1}$$
,

where P_{i1} is the selection probability for the ith school.

To calculate P_{i1} , we must first consider the unconditional probability that a school was selected into pools 1 or 2. Unconditional probability means that a school's chance of selection is not conditioned on the event that it was or was not selected into the NAEP sample. For schools selected into two of the state augmentation samples, the sampling was performed independently of the NAEP sampling, and so the unconditional probability is the same as the conditional probability. For schools selected into the core sample or into the augmentation samples for two other states, however, the conditional probability of selection into NELS:88 given selection into NAEP was zero. Thus, for these schools the unconditional probability of selection in NELS:88 is itself the product of the following two factors: P_{Ci1} , the conditional probability of selection into NAEP. P_{Ui1} , the unadjusted unconditional probability of selection in NELS:88, is obtained as follows:

$$P_{Ui1} = P_{Ci1} * (1 - P_{Ni1}).$$

P_{Ni1}, the probability of selection into NAEP, was not known for most of the schools and had to be estimated. Westat, Inc., the organization that selected the NAEP sample, provided NORC with the NAEP selection probabilities for the schools that were selected into NAEP, but did not know and so could not provide NORC with NAEP selection probabilities for the schools that were selected into NELS:88. To estimate the latter probabilities, regression analyses were used to predict the NAEP selection probabilities from school variables that were in the sampling frame. The predictor variables used were the number of students enrolled in the school, the estimated number of students in the eighth grade, the type of school (public, Catholic, or other private), and the percents of students who were white, black, and Hispanic.

With the known values of P_{Ci1} and with the estimated values of P_{Ni1} we estimated the unconditional selection probabilities for all schools that were eligible for the NELS:88 sample. Two sets of probabilities were computed, one for the core sample plus private schools in one state augmentation sample, and another for the core sample plus all of the state augmentation samples. The former set is used for the weights for the national public use file. The latter set of probabilities is used for weights for all of the state augmentation samples and for estimating response propensities for schools (discussed below). The results of the regression were tested against subsamples of schools for which NAEP probabilities were known.

To smooth out the possible effects of errors in the estimates of the NAEP selection probabilities, we multiplied the unconditional selection probabilities by factors in each stratum to force their sum in the stratum to equal the number of schools that were sampled (i.e., that we attempted to contact) from that stratum. Thus, P_{Ui1-adj}, the adjusted unconditional selection probabilities, were calculated as

 $P_{Ui1-adj} = P_{Ui1} ni / (\Sigma_{j \in S(i)} P_{Uj1})$

with $\Sigma_{j \in S(i)}$ denoting summation over all schools j in the stratum to which school i belonged and n_i denoting the number of schools sampled from that stratum.

We then calculate Pi1 according to

$$P_{i1} = P_{ui1-adj} * F_{i1},$$

with Pui1-adj defined as the adjusted conditional probability that the school was selected into pool 1 or 2, and Fi1 defined as the fraction of schools in pools 1 and 2 for the school's stratum that we attempted to include in the survey. Taking the reciprocals of the selection probabilities yielded the sample design weights for the schools, SCHWT_i = $1/(P_{Ui1-adj} * F_{i1})$.

3.2.1 Nonresponse-Adjusted Weights For Schools

Nonresponse-adjusted school weights were derived as the product of the school's sample design weight times a nonresponse adjustment factor. Initial approximations to the nonresponse adjustment factors were calculated by first using linear and nonlinear logistic regression to estimate a propensity function, which gives the school's conditional probability of participation expressed as a function of school characteristics. The regression-based propensity function approach was used rather than the traditional weighting cell approach in order to include a number of variables in the adjustment process while avoiding the problem of small cells. Each school's design weight was divided by its estimated propensity. These first approximations were multiplied by factors so that the products would sum to known totals for the superstrata.

When estimating the propensity function it is important to have available a set of variables that correlate well with participation in the survey. In many surveys data necessary to accurately estimate propensities are either severely limited or unavailable. For NELS:88, NORC conducted a special survey of nonparticipating schools in pool 1, in which a small selection of key items from the school questionnaire were asked, in order to obtain data to estimate propensities. This sample will be referred to as the "followback" sample and is used in the following analysis. The response rate in the followback sample was 97 percent. The followback sample and the sample of responding schools were combined, and a dummy variable representing participation was created such that the followback sample schools were coded "1" and the responding schools were coded "0". This variable (representing nonparticipation) was used as the dependent variable in the following regression analyses used estimate the propensity to nonrespond The followback survey provided a basic set of descriptive information about nonresponding schools that, combined with the same information on responding schools, could be used as a set of independent variables in the regression analyses for estimating propensity to nonrespond.

To estimate the propensity function, stepwise linear regression was used to choose a subset of variables that correlated well with participation. Next, logistic regression was used to fit the propensitv function. Once the logistic regression function was estimated, propensity estimates were produced for all of the schools for which school questionnaires and student questionnaires were available. For a small fraction of schools (about 2 percent) we obtained student data, but were unable to obtain school data. For these schools, propensity estimates were calculated for the construction of the nonresponse adjusted school weight, BYADMWT, which is used for the construction of weights for students and parents. The propensity estimates for these schools were derived from a reduced regression model that used only variables that were available from the sampling frame. The reduced model included as variables school type (public, Catholic, and other private), urbanicity (urban/suburban/rural), geographic division (based on the nine Census divisions), and the estimated number of students in the eighth grade class. In addition to those variables, the full model included an indicator of whether entrance tests were used as a criterion for acceptance into the school (school questionnaire item 24) and a measure of the frequency with which standardized test results were provided to the family (school questionnaire item 37). The propensity estimates were constrained to be at least 0.4, so that their reciprocals did not exceed 2.5.

Dividing SCHWT by the appropriate estimated propensity yielded a preliminary approximation to BYADMWT:

 $BYADMWT_{prelim,i} = SCHWT_i / PROP_{i1}$,

where $PROP_{i1}$ is the estimated propensity for school i.

The final weight was developed by multiplying this preliminary approximation by a factor that was constant within but varied across superstrata. The factor was chosen to ensure that for each superstratum the sum of BYADMWT_{prelim} times an estimate of eighth grade enrollment, say Y, over all schools with school questionnaires was equal to the sum of Y in that superstratum in the frame. Thus,

BYADMWT_i = BYADMWT_{prelim,i} * $\Sigma_{j \in S(i)} Y_j / (\Sigma_{j \in S(i)} Y_j * BYADMWT_{prelim,j} * PAR_{j1})$

with

 $PAR_{j1} = 1$ if school j participated, and

0 otherwise,

and $\Sigma_{i \in S(i)}$ denotes summing over all schools j in the stratum i to which school i belongs.

3.2.2 Second-Stage Sample Design Weights for Students

The second-stage sample design weight for students, RAWWT, is equal to the reciprocal of P_{12} , the conditional probability that the student was selected given that his or her school was selected into the base-year sample. That is, RAWWT_i = $1/P_{12}$.

Student Selection Probabilities. Within each selected eighth grade school, rosters of all eighth grade students were obtained from the school coordinator. At the time that this list was prepared, the school coordinator was also asked to classify each student into three groups: (1) Asian-Pacific Islander, (2) Hispanic, and (3) all others. The rosters were used as within-school sampling

frames, and the ethnic classification was used in the oversampling of students of Asian-Pacific Islander and Hispanic descent.

NORC office personnel used this initial roster and classification to construct three separate lists of students who were designated either as Asian-Pacific Islander, Hispanic, or non-Asian-Pacific Islander and non-Hispanic. These three lists were separately sampled with selection probabilities determined as follows:

a. Subject to two upper bounds discussed below, students designated as Asian-Pacific Islander in the ith school were sampled at a rate equal to 0.054/pi1, where pi1 is equal to the probability of selection for the ith school (the same as F in the equations in section 2.7.1), and 0.054 is the empirically derived proportionality constant (see section 2.7 for a discussion of the criteria used to derive the proportionality constants).

This probability, 0.54/p_{i1}, was subjected to the following upper bounds prior to its application. First, it was bounded at unity (1.0) and second, it was bounded by a cap at 25 on the number of Asian-Pacific Islander students that would be selected in a sample school. Thus, the sampling rate for Asian -Pacific Islander students was set at

 $p_{ia2} = min \{0.054/p_{i1}, 1, 25/N_{ai}\}$, with N_{ai} defined as the number of eligible Asian-Pacific Island students in school i.

b. Subject to two upper bounds, students designated as Hispanic in the ith school were sampled at a rate equal to $0.035/p_{i1}$, where p_{i1} is equal to the probability of selection for the ith school, and 0.035 is the empirically derivied proportionality constant (see section 2.7 for a discussion of the criteria used to derive the proportionality constants).

This probability, 0.035/pi1, was subjected to the following upper bounds prior to its application. First, it was bounded at unity (1.0) and second, it was bounded by a cap at 25 on the number of Hispanic students who would be selected in a sample school. Thus, the sampling rate for Hispanic students was set at

 $p_{ih2} = min \{0.054/p_{i1}, 1, 25/N_{hi}\}$, with N_{hi} defined as the number of eligible Hispanic students in school i.

c. Students designated as non-Asian-Pacific Islander and non-Hispanic (i.e. other) in the ith school were sampled at a rate equal to

$$pio2 = 24/TSIZE_{i1}$$
,

where TSIZE11 is equal to the total number of eighth graders not pre-identified as Asian or Hispanic on the roster for the ith school.

Student Weighting-First Step. The process of producing student weights involved a number of steps. One of these steps involves weighting that is linked to the selection of students within sample schools. In this step, the weight factor for each student was equal to the inverse of the student's probability of selection into the sample within the sample school. For example, if within a certain school a selected student received a probability of selection equal to 1/20 = 0.05, the student's corresponding weight would be equal to 1/0.05 = 20.0.
It should be noted that a student's probability of selection was determined by the initial classification (Asian-Pacific Islander, Hispanic, or other) that the student was given at the time of selection. In those situations where the initial classification was incorrect, the probability of selection for the student is equal to the selection probability actually used, rather than a theoretical probability under the assumption of perfect classification.

Asian-Pacific Islander and Hispanic (OBEMLA) Oversamples. As part of the overall design of NELS:88, Asian-Pacific Islander and Hispanic students were oversampled in order to ensure adequate sample sizes for subgroup analyses. This oversampling was implemented by increasing the probability of selection at the within-school stage of the selection process.

For oversampling purposes, Asians and Pacific Islanders were defined as students whose predominant ancestral orgin was in the Asian countries of the Pacific Basin (except Soviet Asia), or the Pacific Islands. Thus students whose ethnic or racial orgins were in China, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Brunei, Indonesia, Kampuchea (Cambodia), Vietnam, Laos, or the Philippines were to be oversampled, as were students whose orgin was in a Pacific Island (such as Guam, or Samoa--and including Native Hawaiians). Other Asians--for example, students with ethnic or racial origins in South Asia (Bangladesh, India, Pakistan, Sri Lanka) or in other parts of Asia not part of the Pacific Basin, were not included in the Asian oversampling. (Though not oversampled, these other Asians are separately identified by subgroup on the data files, through their own self-reports). For purposes of Hispanic oversampling, schools were instructed to consider a student to be Hispanic if the student's ethnicnational orgin was in any of the traditionally Spanish-speaking countries of North, Central, or South America, including the islands of the Caribbean.

Gallaudet University Supplement of Hearing-Impaired Students. Gallaudet University contracted with NORC to include a supplementary sample of hearing-impaired students. Because of the relatively small universe of students in this category, it was decided to try to interview all such students, within each of the NELS:88 base year core sample schools, who satisfied the Gallaudet University criteria for hearing impairment.

Students were included as part of the hearing-impaired sample if they met both of the following requirements:

- 1. The student had on file an Individualized Education Program classification (IEP) indicating that the student was reported to the state Department of Education as hardof-hearing.
- 2. The student was currently mainstreamed with regular hearing eighth graders in the school building for English or mathematics classes.

All students who met both eligibility criteria were selected into the sample. If the eligible hearing-impaired student was not included in the sample as the result of the regular sampling procedures, he or she was added to the sample at the end of the school sampling procedure.

Information concerning hearing-impaired students was obtained by an initial phone inquiry followed by a mailing to the school coordinator. In the majority of cases, once a school agreed to participate, both instructions for identifying candidates for the hearing-impaired sample and a Hearingimpaired Student Roster Attachment Form were sent to the school coordinator, along with the regular roster annotation instructions and form. A small number of schools had already completed and returned their rosters prior to the finalization of the procedure for selecting hearing-impaired students. These schools were contacted by telephone to obtain a list of eligible hearing-impaired students.

School coordinators were asked to follow certain guidelines in determining which students to designate as eligible. In determining student eligibility they were urged to confer with available staff specialists in hearing impairment. They were also instructed to include any special education students who might appear on separate ungraded rosters if they met the two eligibility criteria. Once they determined which students met the two eligibility requirements, they were asked to review the regular NELS:88 ineligibility codes to determine whether any of these students should be excluded (for example, because they were part-time students, had transferred to another school, or had a mental or physical disability that precluded them from completing the questionnaire and test). However, they were also reminded that a hearing-impaired student is not automatically ineligible because of physical disability. Next, school coordinators were asked to designate the hearing-impaired children listed on the roster as Hispanic, Asian-Pacific Islander, or other.

In all, data were collected on 77 hearing-impaired students. Only 10 of these students belonged to the sample obtained through the normal within-schools sampling procedure and appear in the public use file. The remaining 67 comprised the participating part of the supplementary sample drawn for Gallaudet University.

3.2.3 Nonresponse-Adjusted Weights

The basic nonresponse-adjusted student weight, BYQWT, was derived as the product of the student's sample design weight (RAWWT) times a nonresponse adjustment factor. The factor is intended to adjust for the fact that some of the sampled students did not participate, that is, did not return a completed questionnaire. To derive the nonresponse adjustment factor we used a weighting cell approach. First, the group of all sampled students was partitioned into weighting cells such that each sampled student belongs to exactly one cell. We attempted to construct the cells so that students in the same cell have similar propensities to participate in the survey. Next, the nonresponse adjustment factor for a student in a given cell was computed as the ratio of the sum of BYADMWT (the non-response-adjusted weight for schools) times RAWWT for all students in the cell to the sum of BY-ADMWT times RAWWT for all of the students in the cell who participated. The reciprocal of this factor may be interpreted as an estimate of the participation propensity for students in the cell because it is simply the weighted proportion of students who did participate. Thus, the nonresponse adjustment factor, FAC, for weighting class c is defined by

FACc = $\Sigma_{i \in c}$ BYADMWT_i * RAWWT_i /($\Sigma_{i \in c}$ BYADMWT_i * RAWWT_i * PAR_{i2})

where $\Sigma_{i \in c}$ denotes summation over all students in the sample in weighting class c, and

 $PAR_{i2} = 1$ if student i participated, and

0 otherwise.

 $BYQWT_{prelim,i}$, the preliminary nonresponse-adjusted student weight for student i, is defined by

 $BYQWT_{prelim,i} = BYADMWT_i * RAWWT_i * FAC_{c(i)}$

where c(i) denotes the weighting class to which the student belongs.

The cells were based on classification of the students according to data that were available from the school rosters and from the sampling frame for the schools. The cells were set up as shown in Table 3.2-1. (The abbreviation "API" means Asian or Pacific Islander, ethnicity of "other" means not Hispanic or API, region of NE means Northeast, MA means mid-Atlantic, and "other" means not NE or MA.)

Table 3.2-1. Weighting Cells Used For Nonresponse Adjustment of Student Weights

School Type	Region	Ethnicity	Gender
Public	Northeast	Other	Male Female
	Mid-Atlantic	Other	Male Female
	Other	Other	Male Female
		API	Male Female
		Hispanic	Male Female
Private	Any	Other	Male Female
		API	Male Female
		Hispanic	Male Female

Classification by school type and region was based on information included in the sampling frame. Ethnicity was obtained when rosters were collected from the schools. Gender was indicated on some but not all of the rosters; where it was not indicated, it was inferred on the basis of the students' first names. Comparison of the inferences with responses to the questionnaires showed a high degree of accuracy for the guesses. In the weighting cell formation, however, the questionnaire data for gender were not used even when available, so that the classification for participants and non-participants was consistent.

To obtain the final nonresponse-adjusted student weight, the nonresponse adjustment factor was modified by multiplication by a "polishing" factor. The polishing factors were defined for eight classes of students, four school types by two sexes. The polishing factor for a class was set equal to the ratio of the sum of BYADMWT times RAWWT for all students in the class to the sum of BYQWT times the (preliminary) adjustment factor for all of the students in the class who participated. Polishing preserves the sums of the weights across the eight classes. The polishing factor for any one of the eight classes of students, say class k, is POL_k , and is defined by

 $POL_k = \sum_{i \in k} BYADMWT_i * RAWWT_{i/(\sum_{i \in k} BYQWT_{prelim,i} * PAR_{i2})}$

where $\Sigma_{i \in k}$ denotes summation over all students i in the sample in class k.

Then BYQWT for student i is calculated as

 $BYQWT_i = POL_{k(i)} * BYQWTprelim_i$

where k(i) denotes the "polishing" class to which student i belongs.

Table 3.2-2 gives statistical properties of the school (BYADMWT) and the student (BYQWT) nonresponse adjusted weights.

Table 3.2-2. NELS:88 Base Year Statistical Properties of Sample Case Weights				
Weight	BYADMWT	BYQWT		
Mean	-37.46	122.28		
Variance	2,109.17	4,359.25		
Standard deviation	45.92	66.02		
Coefficient of variation (X 100)	122.59	53.99		
Minimum	1.54	2.44		
Maximum	387.30	836.91		
Skewness	2.69	2.17		
Kurtosis	9.46	16.32		
Sum	38,774.12 ¹	3,008,079.63		
Number of cases	1,032.00 ²	24,599.00 ³		

¹This value is slightly less than the sample frame total reported in Table 2.3 because it was adjusted to account for the small (less than 2%) number of ineligible schools.

²Based upon the number of schools represented in the school survey data file.

³Based upon the number of students represented in the student survey data file.

4. School Nonresponse Analysis

Although the sample design in theory yields a sample that mirrors the population within sampling error, nonresponse can introduce distortions. It is useful to think about the impact of nonresponse in terms of a population that consists of two strata (Cochran, 1977, p. 361). One stratum includes all units that would have provided data had they been selected for the survey; the other stratum consists of all units that would have been survey nonrespondents. The actual sample of responding units necessarily represents only the respondent stratum. To the extent that populations of respondents and nonrespondents differ, the sample statistics will be biased as estimates of the characteristics of the entire population.

According to this analysis of the effects of nonresponse, the magnitude of the bias introduced into means and proportions by nonresponse depends on two factors--the size of the nonrespondent stratum and the difference between units in the two strata:

Bias = PNR(YR-YNR),(1)

in which YR and YNR are the population values characterizing the respondent and nonrespondent strata, and PNR is the proportion of the total population in the nonrespondent stratum. The latter can be estimated from the observed rates of nonresponse in the sample.

In NELS:88, there were two stages of sample selection and therefore two stages of nonresponse. During the base year survey, schools were asked to permit the selection of eighth grade students from school rosters and to hold survey and makeup days for the collection of student data. Not all of the selected schools agreed to take part in the study. In addition, not all of the individual students selected for the sample within cooperating schools (or the teachers or parents linked to these students) provided the data sought from them. The effects of the two types of nonresponse are additive:

Bias = P1(Y1R-Y1NR) + P2(Y2R-Y2NR), (2)

in which P1 is the proportion of all students attending schools in the school nonrespondent stratum; P2 is the proportion of all students attending schools in the school respondent stratum who would have been student nonrespondents; Y1R and Y1NR are population parameters characterizing students attending schools in the school respondent and nonrespondent strata respectively; and Y2R and Y2NR are population values for the strata of responding and nonresponding students attending schools in the school respondent stratum. More intuitively, equation (2) states that students at cooperating schools may not represent all students and that cooperating students may not represent all students within cooperating schools.

The bias due to nonresponse at both the school and student level can be further analyzed into two additive components. One component represents error in the estimate for particular subgroups; the other component represents error in the relative frequencies given to the subgroups. For example, nonresponse may bias the estimate for a particular subgroup in the NELS:88 sample, such as girls. Such bias would arise if responding girls differed on the relevant characteristic from nonresponding girls. The second bias component would be relevant if the response rate for girls differed from the response rate for boys. If girls had a higher response rate, this could bias the overall estimate because girls would be overrepresented in the sample of respondents. Nonresponse adjustments to the weights are an attempt to compensate for the second component of the bias; they do not adjust for nonresponse bias within subgroups defined by the weighting adjustment cells.

33

Base Year Sample Design Report

To apply equations (1) and (2) requires estimates of the relevant population parameters. Although P1 and P2 can be estimated from the observed school-level and student-level response rates. the absence of survey data for nonrespondents usually prevents the estimation of the nonresponse bias. The NELS:88 survey is an exception to this general rule. During the base year survey, versions of the NELS:88 school questionnaire were sent to nonresponding schools in pool 1; more than 97 percent of these schools provided data. These data give us some basis for assessing the impact of schoollevel nonresponse on base year estimates. It is worth noting that school-level nonresponse is of particular concern because it carries over into successive rounds of NELS:88. That is, students attending schools that did not cooperate in the base year were not sampled and have little or no chance of selection into the follow-up samples. To the extent that students at noncooperating schools differ from students at cooperating schools, the student level bias introduced by base year school noncooperation will persist during subsequent waves of observation. (Of course out-of-sequence students, who are tenth graders in 1990 but were not eighth graders in 1988, are unaffected by this bias, because they have some chance of being selected into the freshened sample of twelfth graders in 1992.) Within cooperating schools, student noncooperation is not carried over in this way because nonresponding students in these schools remain eligible for sampling in later waves of the study.

Our analysis of school nonresponse is presented in two parts. The first examines rates of school nonresponse in the core sample as a function of sampling strata and other variables, such as school size, available from the sampling frame. As is apparent from equations (1) and (2), overall rates of nonresponse are a crucial determinant of the level of nonresponse bias; still, the focus of the first part of the analysis is mainly on the antecedents of nonresponse. The second part of the analysis is more directly concerned with the consequences of school nonresponse. There we present estimates of the magnitude of the bias resulting from school noncooperation. These bias estimates are based on data from the school questionnaires, which were completed by a sample of nonrespondent schools as well as by the schools that cooperated in the survey.

4.1 School Nonresponse Rates

For the purpose of this analysis, we concentrate on the pool 1 schools selected into the originally defined basic national sample, which we refer to as the core sample. This sample differs slightly from the sample defined for the public use data file. For the public use data file sample, augmentation schools in some of the states were included. This only occurred in those states for which the augmentation sample was drawn at the same time as the original sample. Details of this procedure are presented in chapter 2, the chapter that explains the sampling procedures. This slight discrepancy between the public use sample and the core sample explains why some of the figures referring to the total number of schools sampled and the total cooperating presented in this chapter are slightly different from figures in other chapters referring to what appears to be the same phenomena.

We consider only the pool 1 core sample schools because not all of the selected schools in pool 2 were contacted. Therefore, we do not have an estimate of the response rate for pool 2. Because sampled schools were divided into pools on a random basis we expect that nonresponse rates would be the same, within sampling error, for the pool 2 schools. Another reason for concentrating on pool 1 schools is that 98 percent of these schools (over 98 percent of participants, and over 97 percent of Pool 1 refusal schools) provided data on a few key variables that will be useful in the analysis of nonresponse bias in the next section.

It is possible to define school nonresponse in several ways--according to whether the school provided student data, data from teachers, parent data, data on the school itself, or some combination

of these types of data. For the purpose of this analysis we define a responding school as one in which a student questionnaire was obtained from at least one sampled student in the school and a school administrator completed a school questionnaire. Of the 987 eligible original selections, 681 schools, or 69 percent, provided school administrator and student data.⁶

When nonresponse rates were analyzed across superstrata, marked variation was found. The unweighted response rates for the initial core selections range from lows of 20 percent for other private schools in the Northeast to highs of 100 percent in four of the Catholic superstrata and in other private schools in the Northeast. In general, the rates of cooperation were higher for Catholic schools (unweighted responses rate of 77.6 percent) than for the public and other private schools (unweighted response rates of 67.4 and 73 percent).

To achieve the desired sample sizes, additional schools from pool 2 were selected to replace initial selections that proved to be ineligible or that refused to participate in the study. Including both the initial (pool 1) selections and the replacement (pool 2) schools, a total of 1,692 schools were selected for the NELS:88 core sample; of these, 1,624 were eligible for the study, and a total of 1,035, or 64 percent of the eligible schools, provided both student and school administrator data. The weighted response rate, calculated using the school design weight (SCHWT), was 65 percent. This rate can be used as an estimate of P1 in equation (2). Because limited data on all the noncooperating schools are available from the sampling frame, school-level nonresponse can be further analyzed as a function of certain school characteristics. These data include the school's location and type (public, Catholic, and other private), which were used to classify the schools into sampling strata; in addition, the level of urbanization of the area in which the school is located, two measures of school size (overall and eighth grade enrollment), and two measures of minority enrollment (percent black and percent Hispanic) are available for analysis.

School-level response rates for the combined pool 1 and pool 2 selections fluctuated markedly across superstrata, ranging from lows of 12.5 percent and 19.2 percent for some non-Catholic private school strata in the Northeast to highs of 100 percent for urban Catholic schools in the Northeast and for rural Catholic schools in the South. As with the initial selections, the Catholic schools generally showed relatively high levels of cooperation, with an overall weighted response rate of 75.1 percent. By contrast, the response rates were lower for the public schools (overall response rate of 62.5 percent) and for some other private schools (overall response rate of 62.5 percent). These results are quite similar to those in the High School and Beyond Base Year sample (see Frankel et al., 1981, pp. 101-103). School response rates were somewhat higher for urban schools (71.0 percent) than for sub-urban or rural schools (62.6 and 63.5 percent). This is a bit of a surprise; in High School and Beyond, urban schools were the least likely to participate (Frankel et al., 1981, page 104).

⁶ Pool 1 school participation numbers and response rates reported in the school nonresponse analysis differ very slightly from those in Tables 2.8-1 and 2.8-2. The nonresponse analysis excluded Pool 1 participating schools for which no school administrator questionnaire was obtained, because comparison of responding and nonresponding schools depended on data supplied by school administrators. It also excluded several schools that participated at some level but for which no student data were obtained or for which student data were lost in transit. It included among eligible non-participants two schools that were later reclassified as ineligible (an eighth grade consisting of one student, in which the student transferred out prior to the survey day and no new eighth grade student transferred in; a school in transition to year-round status that had eighth graders who were sampled in the autumn of 1987 and a new eighth grade starting in the summer term of 1988 but no eighth grade in the spring term of 1988). When adjustments are made to compensate for these factors, the number of eligible Pool 1 schools increases to 1,002, and the number of participating Pool 1 schools to 698. The effect of these adjustments is to increase the participation rate assumed by the nonresponse analysis by just less than eight tenths of one percent.

Base Year Sample Design Report

School response rates were examined by two measures of school size--overall enrollment and eighth grade enrollment. For either measure, school size did not seem to have a clear-cut relationship with school-level response rates. A weak relationship between school size and response rates was also observed in High School and Beyond (Frankel et al., 1981, 106).

School response rates also did not vary dramatically across the minority enrollment quartiles. Response rates ranged from 58.3 to 67.2 percent for quartiles determined by levels of black enrollment. Overall, schools in the lower two quartiles had a response rate of 66.8 percent; those with higher proportions of black students had an overall response rate of 60.3 percent. This is consistent with the results for the High School and Beyond sample (Frankel et al., 1981, page 105). Similarly, school-level response rates ranged from a low of 60.8 percent to a high of 67.2 percent across quartiles determined by the percent Hispanic enrollment. The schools with relatively few Hispanics (i.e., those in the lower two quartiles) had an overall response rate of 65.4 percent; the high Hispanic schools (those in the higher two quartiles) had an overall response rate of 63.8 percent.

4.2 Estimating the Magnitude of School Nonresponse Bias

The analyses presented so far describe only the extent of school-level nonresponse and the variables related to nonresponse. It is possible to go beyond these analyses and assess the bias produced by nonresponse by examining responses to the school questionnaire. Versions of this questionnaire were completed not only by responding schools but by nearly all of the nonresponding schools that were in initial selections. Data from these questionnaires can thus be used to compare the responding and nonresponding schools in the initial sample. These comparisons can be used to estimate the school-level component of the overall nonresponse bias--that is, P1(Y1R-Y1NR) in equation (2).

Table 4.2-1 shows the results for 14 such comparisons. They are based on the "high priority" items in the school questionnaire; data on these items were obtained from virtually all the initial selections.

The first column of Table 4.2-1 shows the results for both respondent and nonrespondent schools. The estimates in the first column are weighted using the unadjusted design weight (SCHWT). The estimates in the second column are based only on the responding schools; these estimates are also weighted, this time using BYADMWT, which attempts to adjust for school-level non-response. Comparisons between statistics in the first two columns are estimates of the bias produced by school-level nonresponse. For example, the estimated bias in the mean eighth grade enrollment is - 2.0 (83.6 for the responding schools versus 85.6 for all schools).

It is difficult to evaluate the magnitude of nonresponse bias across items unless the bias is expressed on a uniform scale across items. For example, it is not clear whether -2.0 is a large bias or a small one. The fifth column in the table presents the bias estimates as a proportion of the estimate based on data from all schools in the initial sample; that is, the fifth column presents the difference between the estimates in the first two columns divided by the estimate in the first column. Summing across the absolute values of the relative measures of bias (Relbias) in Table 4.2-1, and dividing by 14 to take the average, gives the value .045. This suggests that, on average, estimates contaminated by school nonresponse differ from those not contaminated by school nonresponse by about 4.5 percent.

It is worth noting that the estimates of the bias are subject to sampling error and may differ significantly from zero. The statistical significance of the bias depends on the significance of the difference between respondents and nonrespondents (see equations [1] and [2]). The third and fourth columns present the results for the responding and nonresponding schools separately; the results in both

	All Schools (N=969)	Respondent BYADMWT (n=671)	Schools SCHWT (n=671)	Nonrespondent Schools (n=298)	Relbias	t
Characteristic						
Mean 8th Grade Enrollment	85.6	83.6	84.4	88.6	.023	-0.69
Proportion Public	.593	.580	.566	.656	022	-3.12
Proportion Catholic	.187	.166	.197	.162	112	-1.56
Proportion Other Private	.220	.254	.237	.182	.155	1.04
Proportion With General Program	.969	.984	.978	.949	.015	1.32
Mean School Days	178.5	178.2	178.3	179.1	002	-1.39
Mean Length of School Days (hrs.)	6.52	6.53	6.51	6.55	.002	1.04
Average Percent Attending	94.7	94.6	94.7	94.7	001	-0.00
Average Percent Hispanic	6.4	6.1	6.4	6.4	038	-0.01
Average Percent Black	10.3	9.9	10.1	10.9	041	-0.34
Proportion With Departmental Organization	.589	.574	.559	.659	025	-2.01
Proportion Whose Students Assigned by Geographic Area	.544	.522	.509	.630	040	-3.25
Proportion Whose Students Assigned for Racial Balance	.038	.034	.035	.044	105	-0.94
Proportion Using Tests for High School	.533	.506	.525	.553	051	-0.52

Table 4.2-1. School Nonresponse Bias Estimates

37

columns are based on the unadjusted school weights (SCHWT). Significance tests can be used to test whether the absolute differences in the results for the respondents and nonrespondents are greater than zero. A significant difference would indicate that the school-level nonresponse bias is nonzero. The final column in the table presents <u>t</u>-statistics for these comparisons. Values above 2.0 can be regarded as significant at the .05 level. Only four of the comparisons have t-values this large.

All four of the significant differences may reflect the relatively low response rate for public schools. Because public schools were less likely to cooperate in the study, they constitute a smaller proportion of the responding schools (.566) than of the nonresponding schools (.656). The reverse is true for other private schools--they constitute a greater proportion of the responding than of the non-responding schools (.237 versus .182). To put it another way, the sample of initially selected responding schools underrepresents public schools and overrepresents private schools. Given this, it is perhaps not surprising that lower proportions of responding schools than nonresponding schools have their students assigned by geographic area and employ a departmental organization. Both of these features are probably more characteristic of public than private schools.

The use of school questionnaire data to assess bias in estimates concerning characteristics of the **student** population is not entirely straightforward. In equation (2), Y1R and Y1NR characterize the populations of students attending responding and nonresponding schools. The data summarized in Table 4.2-1 characterize the school themselves. Still, to the extent that school characteristics are closely related to the characteristics of the students attending them, then estimates based on school questionnaire data can serve as reasonable proxies for more direct estimates of Y1R and Y1NR.

Despite this limitation on the data, it is still informative to examine the magnitudes of the relative bias estimates. Seven of the fourteen unsigned estimates are less than 2.5 percent. Table 4.2-2 gives descriptive statistics for the unsigned relative bias estimates. The estimates range in absolute value from 0.1 percent to 15.5 percent, with an overall mean of 4.5 percent and a standard deviation across the 14 estimates of 4.7 percent. As we noted earlier, only four of the fourteen bias estimates differ significantly from zero.

Estimate	Frequency
Less than 1%	3
1.0%-2.5%	4
2.6%-5.0%	3
5.1% and Above	4
Mean	4.5%
SD	4.7%

Table 4.2-2 Frequency Distribution of Unsigned Relative Estimates

These estimates are somewhat higher than those observed in the High School and Beyond sample; in that study the mean relative bias for 31 statistics was 1.7 percent (see Tourangeau et al., 1983, page 45). The school-level response rate in High School and Beyond was almost identical to the one achieved in the initial selections analyzed here (70 percent in High School and Beyond versus

69.7 percent for the initial NELS:88 sample). We suspect that the difference in the bias estimates reflects the availability of different variables for the analysis and the effects of sampling error.

4.3 Item Nonresponse Analysis

Analysis of survey error is important for understanding potential bias in making inferences from an obtained sample to a population. Sampling and nonsampling errors are the key constituents of total survey error. Elsewhere in this report, sampling error analyses for NELS:88 document design effects, and standard errors for key variables are presented. The bias associated with unit and item nonresponse, one source of nonsampling error, must also be described and quantified.

In a two-stage sample such as the NELS:88 base year sample, one type of nonsampling error, unit nonresponse, can occur at either stage. Unit nonresponse can occur at the first selection stage when a school declines to participate, or at the second stage when an individual respondent within a participating school (in this case, the student, the parent, the teacher, or the school administrator) does not participate. This report documents the magnitude and effect of nonresponse at the first, or school, level of sampling, and makes inferences about the effect of the second level. Item nonresponse occurs when a respondent fails to complete certain items on the survey instrument.

While bias associated with unit nonresponse at both the school and the individual level has been controlled by making adjustments to case weights, item nonresponse has generally not been compensated for in the NELS:88 data set. There are two partial exceptions to this generalization. The first partial exception is consistency editing, through which, occasionally, certain nonresponse problems are rectified by imposing interitem consistency, particularly by forcing logical agreement between filter and dependent questions. Thus, for example, the missing response to a filter question can often be inferred if the dependent question has been answered.

The second partial exception is that some key student classification variables have been constructed in part from additional sources of information when student data are missing. Thus, data from school records (for example, student sex or race/ethnicity as given on the sampling roster) or from the parent or teacher questionnaire (for example, limited English proficiency status) have been used to replace missing student data. However, apart from these special cases, missing values have not been imputed in the NELS:88 data. Because item nonresponse is an important potential and uncorrected source of data bias, it is necessary to measure its impact so that analysts can properly take potential response biases into account.

There are two main purposes to this analysis. One purpose is to quantify nonresponse bias for key variables on the student questionnaire and tests. A second purpose is to describe nonresponse patterns, both in terms of characteristics of items and in terms of characteristics of respondents. The item nonresponse analysis reported here concentrates on the student questionnaire and the composite test responses because these form the heart of the study. A limited analysis of parent questionnaire item nonresponse was conducted and is reported at the end of this section. No analysis of the school administrator or teacher questionnaire item nonresponse was conducted because the rate of non-response was quite low, typically around 1 percent.

The present item nonresponse analysis employed the machine-edited data, not the original raw data. The analysis proceeded in three stages. In the first stage, average nonresponse rates were calculated for each item. In the second stage, nonresponse was evaluated as a function of item characteristics: (1) position in the questionnaire, (2) topic, and (3) whether the item was contingent on a filter. Items with relatively high nonresponse rates were selected for further analysis in stage two. In the

third stage, nonresponse rates for selected high nonresponse items and for test scores were examined as a function of respondent characteristics.

1. Population and data file definitions.

DEFINITION 1: "ITEM."

For purposes of this analysis, "item" refers to each data element or variable. For a question composed of multiple subparts, each subpart eliciting a distinct response is counted as an item for item nonresponse purposes. (Thus, a single question that poses three subquestions is treated as three variables).

DEFINITION 2: "RESPONSE RATE."

NCES standards stipulate that item response rates (Ri) "are to be calculated as the ratio of the number of respondents for which an in-scope response was obtained (i.e., the response conformed to acceptable categories or ranges), divided by the number of completed interviews for which the question (or questions if a composite variable) was intended to be asked.":

weighted # of respondents with in-scope responses

 $R_i =$

weighted # of completed interviews for which question was intended to be asked.

In-scope responses were considered to be valid answers (including a "don't know" response when this was a legitimate response option.) Out-of-scope responses were multiple responses to items requiring only a single response, refusals, and missing responses.

DEFINITION 3: "STUDENT POPULATION."

A. Item nonresponse analysis population, student questionnaire. All students who completed the questionnaire, regardless of whether they completed the test. Test-only cases are excluded; nonrespondents also are excluded.

B. Student nonresponse analysis population, student test. Test + questionnaire cases included; test-only cases, "no test" cases, and nonrespondents excluded.

DEFINITION 4: "STUDENT DATA."

Student questionnaire data file. The public use datafile with machine-edited, weighted data was used as the basis for the analysis. Nonresponse rates of composite and other constructed variables were not examined in this analysis.

Student test datafile. The weighted datafile for the four tests in the NELS:88 cognitive test battery.

Item-level nonresponse. Weighted nonresponse rates equal to the proportion of eighth graders who failed to answer a particular item (that is, 1-Ri) were calculated for each item in the student questionnaire. The average item nonresponse rate (across all items) is 4.7 percent (standard deviation, 3.5 percent). Items deviate markedly from this average. For some items nonresponse is zero. For other items the nonresponse rate is as high as 21.6 percent.

Domain	Average	Standard Deviation	Minimum	Maximum	Number of Items ²
Overall	.047	.035	.000	.216	276
Position ³					
First Third	.037	.037	.000	.216	72
Second Third	.028	.018	.000	.094	107
Last Third	.075	.028	.026	.167	97
Last Third					
(minus lașt					
two sets) ⁴	.064	.028	.026	.167	66
Topic					
Student					
Background	.030	.038	.008	.135	10
Language Use	.050	.033	.002	.143	26
Family	.034	.037	.000	.216	50
Self-Concept	.016	.004	.010	.022	13
Future Plans	.025	.014	.000	.058	37
Jobs and Chores	.009	.013	.000	.018	2
School Life	.029	.007	.017	.048	38
School Work	.063	.028	.026	.167	69
Student Activities	.098	.007	.083	.115	31
Filtered					
Yes	.058	.045	.008	.216	32
No	.045	.033	.000	.167	244

Table 4.3-1. Statistics on Proportion Nonresponding by Various Item Characteristics¹

¹All values are based on weighted data.

²The number of items used in this analysis is the total number of items in the student questionnaire minus those items that were part of a "mark all that apply" sequence. These "mark all that apply" items were excluded because it was impossible to distinguish a response indicating the item did not apply from a nonresponse.

³Unequal numbers of items in each of the thirds result because items were divided into thirds before the "mark all that apply" items were excluded. This practice served to preserve the equal cutting of the questionnaire into thirds regardless of whether each item in each of the thirds was used in the analysis.

⁴For this category, the last two sets of items were removed. These sets consisted of a combined total of 31 school and outside-school activities. The respondent was asked to indicate whether he or she did not participate in each activity, or whether he or she participated as a member or an officer.

41

Base Year Sample Design Report

Table 4.3-1 shows descriptive statistics for the item nonresponse rates overall and for items grouped into categories depending upon their position in the questionnaire, the topic they addressed, and whether they were part of a skip or filter pattern. When items were grouped into thirds based on their serial position in the questionnaire, mean nonresponse rates appeared to differ across thirds. A slightly higher nonresponse rate is found for items near the beginning of the questionnaire, and a substantially higher nonresponse rate is found for items near the end of the questionnaire.

The last two sets of items require students to indicate their participation in a number of activities. It is possible that fatigue effects, naturally occurring at the end of a long questionnaire, may be exacerbated by these somewhat tedious questions, accounting for most of the differences in the last third of the questionnaire. When nonresponse rates for the last two sets of items are compared with nonresponse rates for all the preceding items, average nonresponse for the last two sets appears to be higher (last 31 items, average proportion nonresponding=.098, versus all preceding items, average proportion nonresponding=.040). Nonresponse rates across thirds of the questionnaire were recalculated after removing the last 31 items. As shown in Table 4.3-1, differences among thirds formed in this way are smaller, but the pattern of higher nonresponse in the last third persists. This suggests that the last two sets of items account for some, but not all, of the higher nonresponse at the end of the questionnaire. Nonresponse rates for the various configurations of serial position are presented in Table 4.3-1.

The NELS:88 base year student questionnaire was constructed such that questions in each of the nine sections formed topical blocks. Table 4.3-1 also shows the average nonresponse rates by topic. Although there are differences by topic, the substantially discrepant numbers of items in each of the topical categories, ranging from 2 to 69 items, suggests a cautious interpretation. The pattern suggests that nonresponse rates for questions on student participation in activities are higher than non-response rates for other topics, a result discussed above. The section comprising questions about language use differed in nonresponse from the sections on self-esteem/locus of control and jobs and chores. The remaining sections did not differ much from one another.

Item nonresponse was also observed as a function of whether the item was part of a filter-dependent question. Thirty-two items were of this type, and nonresponse for these items was compared to the two hundred and forty-four items that were not in a dependent relationship with a filter item. As Table 4.3-1 shows, there is a slightly higher nonresponse rate for items that were filtered than for those that were not.

Critical Items. A number of items in the student questionnaire were dubbed "critical items" because of their special interest to analysts, their policy relevance, or their usefulness in locating the student for subsequent follow-up studies. These items were edited by the NORC field personnel who administered the survey. If the response to one or more of the critical items was missing, undecipherable, or had multiple categories marked when only one response was required, the NORC field staff member privately pointed out the problem to the student. If, after prompting, the student indicated that he or she had chosen not to answer the question, the NORC staff member marked a "no retrieval" response for the item. ("No retrieval" was indicated by filling in an oval positioned to the left of each critical item). The "no retrieval" responses were used later during the machine editing process to assign a "refused" response to the critical items. Most editing and retrieval for the student questionnaire was conducted in this manner. In a very small number of instances (fewer than 300 cases), additional critical item data retrieval had to be conducted after the questionnaire reached NORC.

The item nonresponse rate for each of the critical items is shown in Table 4.3-2. The items in this table represent the majority but not the total set of critical items. Critical items that were part of the locator information were excluded from this analysis. With the exception of the item asking about Asian-Pacific Islander ethnic subcategorizations, the nonresponse rates for the critical items are all under .10, or 10 percent, with most being considerably less.

Individual differences in nonresponse. Nine questions with the highest nonresponse rates were selected for analysis to determine the relationship between nonresponse and student characteristics. These questions and their nonresponse rates are listed in Table 4.3-3. Table 4.3-4 shows the proportion nonresponding to the nine items with the highest nonresponse rates by selected student characteristics. A composite nonresponse variable was created by counting the number of items for which a nonresponse was given across items 24, 29, 67A, 67C, 67AA, 67AC, 67AD, and 83J from Table 4.3-3 (the high nonresponse items available for the full sample of students) for each student. This composite, which could range from zero to six, was compared across levels of students' sex, racial/ethnic background, socioeconomic status, and test composite quartile.

The results suggest that boys are more likely to be nonrespondents on these items than girls, averaging nonresponse to .9612 items compared to .6692 items for girls. There also appears to be different nonresponse rates across the five racial/ethnic groups. Blacks appear most likely to be non-respondents, averaging nonresponse to 1.417 items across the six item scale. Hispanics appear next most likely, averaging 1.026 nonresponding items. Native Americans come next with an average of .9256 items, followed by Asians, who average .8774 items. Finally, whites had the least tendency toward nonresponse, averaging .6611 items.

Test Scores. Nonresponse patterns for test scores were observed by examining the number of items not attempted for each of the four cognitive tests. These values for the entire student sample and by sex, racial/ethnic, and SES subgroups are shown in Table 4.3-5. For all test subjects, lower SES seemed to be related to higher nonresponse. Girls showed slightly less nonresponse than boys on math and on reading.

Another method for assessing test nonresponse is to examine the percent of students who gave an answer to the final item in each test. This has been proposed as an index of test "speeded-ness." Generally, a test is considered to be "unspeeded" if over 80 percent of the test takers attempt the last item. Table 4.3-6 shows that test speededness was not a problem for these broad categories of students. This suggests that the appropriate amount of time was given for completion of each of the four cognitive tests. A detailed analysis of the psychometric properties of the NELS:88 cognitive test battery can be found in the NELS:88 Base Year Psychometric Report (Rock & Pollack, 1990).

Parent Questionnaire Item Nonresponse. An abbreviated item nonresponse analysis was conducted for the parent questionnaire. Item nonresponse was defined as described at the beginning of this section. As for the student questionnaire, the few items that required a "mark all that apply" response were eliminated from the analysis. The following percentages are based upon weighted data. Item nonresponse was somewhat higher for the parent questionnaire than for the student questionnaire. For the parent questionnaire the average percent nonresponding is 7.58; the range extends from .2 percent to 67.57 percent. Item nonresponse is higher for items falling in the first (9.91%) and last (7.70) thirds of the questionnaire than for items falling in the middle third of the questionnaire.

Item Number	Торіс	Proportion Nonresponding
BYS2A	Is R's mother living?	0.017
BYS4A	Current job status of R's mother	0.014
BYS5A	Is R's father living?	0.019
BYS7A	Current job status of R's father	0.040
BYS8	People in R's household	0.012
BYS12	Respondent's sex	0.008
BYS21	Is a language other than English spoken in R's home?	0.002
BYS22	Language usually spoken at R's home	0.046
BYS31A	Respondent's race	0.010
BYS31B	Asian or Pacific Islander category	0.216
BYS31C	Hispanic category	0.087
BYS31D	Hispanic race	0.079
BYS34A	Father's level of education	0.000
BYS34B	Mother's level of education	0.000
BYS51AA	Talked to counselor about high schools	0.014
BYS51AB	Talked to teacher about high schools	0.019
BYS51AC	Talked to other adult about high schools	0.019
BYS51BA	Talked to counselor about jobs/careers	0.020
BYS51BB	Talked to teacher about jobs/careers	0.025
BYS51BC	Talked to other adult about jobs/careers	0.018
BYS51CA	Talked to counselor to improve academic work	0.025
BYS51CB	Talked to teacher to improve academic work	0.018
BYS51CC	Talked to other adult to improve academic work	0.026
BYS51DA	Talked to counselor about course selection	0.024
BYS51DB	Talked to teacher about course selection	0.029
BYS51DC	Talked to other adult about course selection	0.030
BYS51EA	Talked to counselor about class-work	0.038
BYS51EB	Talked to teacher about class-work	0.029
BYS51EC	Talked to other adult about class-work	0.035
BYS51FA	Talked to counselor because of discipline problems	0.042
BYS51FB	Talked to teacher because of discipline problems	0.045
BYS51FC	Talked to other adult because of discipline problems	0.043
BYS51GA	Talked to counselor about alcohol or drug abuse	0.023
BYS51GB	Talked to teacher about alcohol or drug abuse	0.027
BYS51GC	Talked to other adult about alcohol or drug abuse	0.026
BYS51HA	Talked to counselor about personal problems	0.025
BYS51HB	Talked to teacher about personal problems	0.033
BYS51HC	Talked to other adult about personal problems	0.024
BYS81A	Grades in English from 6th grade up till now	0.026
BYS81B	Grades in math from 6th grade up till now	0.028
BYS81C	Grades in science from 6th grade up till now	0.028
BYS81D	Grades in social studies from 6th grade up till now	0.030

Table 4.3-2. Proportion Nonresponding to Critical Items

Note: All values are based on weighted data.

		Proportion Nonresponding	Eligible Respondents
BYS16.	[IN REFERENCE TO A SECOND NOMINATED HIGH SCHOOL] Is this a public school, a private religious school, or a private nonreligious school?	0.137	6,687
BYS24.	What language, other than English, do you currently use most often?	0.146	5,655
BYS29.	Were you ever enrolled in an English language/language assistance program, that is, a program for students whose whose native language is not English?	0.120	5,655
BYS67A.	Which of the following math classes do you attend at least once a week this school year?Remedial math	0.168	24,599
BYS67C.	Which of the following math classes do you attend at leaset once a week this school year?Algebra (or other advanced math)	0.135	24,599
BYS67AA.	Which of the following science classes do you attend at least once a week this school year?A science course in which you have a laborate	0.137 ory	24,599
BYS67AC.	Which of the following science classes do you attend at least once a week this school year?Biology (life science)	0.144	24,599
BYS67AD.	Which of the following science classes do you attend at least once a week this school year?Earth Science	0.114	24,599
BYS83J.	Have you or will you have participated in any of the following	0.117	24,599
	outside-school activities this year, either as a member, or as an officer (for example, vice-president, coordinator, team captain)?OTH	IER	

Table 4.3-3. Nine Items with the Highest Nonresponse Rates

Note: Proportions were calculated using weighted data.

Base Yea	r Sample	Design	Report
----------	----------	--------	--------

Table 4 N	.3-4. Pr onrespo	oportionse Ra	on Non ites by	respon Selecte	ding to d Stud	Nine If	racter	ith Hig	hest	
	Q16	Q24	Q29	Q67A	Q67C	Q67AA	Q67AC	Q67AD	Q83J	Average
Overall	.137	.146	.120	.168	.135	.137	.144	.114	.117	.135
Sex										
Male	151	174	.122	.201	.161	.160	.168	.134	.136	.156
Female	124	.119	.117	.135	.109	.113	.120	.094	.097	.114
Race/ethnicity										
Asian	.147	.144	.059	.183	.138	.144	.154	.129	.129	.136
Black	.116	.301	.221	.272	.246	.241	.244	.196	.216	.228
White	.141	.183	.160	.142	.107	.110	.118	.093	.090	.127
Hispanic	.147	.091	.087	.204	.174	.170	.181	.140	.155	.150
Native American	.105	.219	.168	.149	.133	.142	.152	.094	.159	.147
Socioeconomic Stat	us									
Lowest Quartile	.147	.140	.112	.207	.195	.181	.182	.149	.166	.164
Second Quartile	.135	.135	.106	.160	.141	.134	.145	.117	.123	.133
Third Quartile	.140	.159	.136	.147	.114	.118	.125	.096	.102	.126
Highest Quartile	.122	.157	.132	.157	.091	.113	.124	.094	.076	.118
Cognitive Test Com	posite									
Lowest Quartile	.172	.194	.149	.237	.238	.213	.221	.184	.198	.201
Second Quartile	.100	.138	.120	.176	.155	.149	.154	.124	.122	.138
Third Quartile	.106	.122	.101	.134	.094	.102	.107	.080	.084	.103
Highest Quartile	.099	.108	.073	.116	.042	.076	.085	.058	.055	.079

- -...

Note: Proportions were calculated using weighted data.

The relatively high item average percent nonresponding in the first part of the questionnaire can be accounted for by the presence of a small number of items with fairly high nonresponse rates. Most of these items involve small subgroups of respondents. For example, about 25 percent of Asians failed to give a response designating their subgroup (BYP10A). Between 23 and 34 percent of respondents who were answering questions about experiences of the eighth graders' biological parents before or right after these parents came to the USA did not respond to some of these questions (BYP13, BYP15, BYP16, BYP18). Thirty-eight percent of parents did not respond to the question of which grade their foreign-born eighth grader was placed in when the child began school in the United States (BYP21). A very high (59.33% to 68.57%) percentage of parents whose child had skipped a grade did not respond to the questions asking why the child had been double-promoted (BYP42A through BYP42C), and a somewhat lower (25.70% to 43.06%) percent of parents whose child was held back a grade did not give reasons for why the child had been failed (BYP45A through BYP45C). In contrast, items with these dramatically high nonresponse rates did not appear in the middle third of the questionnaire. In the final section of the questionnaire, the set of questions asking about what kinds of financial arrangments parents had made for their eighth grader's education after high school (BYP84AA to BYP84AG) yielded nonresponse rates in the range of 20 to 24 percent.

Table 4.3-5. Average Number of Items Not Attempted on Four Cognitive Tests					
	Reading	Math	Science	History/ Citizenship	Average
Overall	0.391	0.922	0.437	0.285	0.50
Sex					
Male	0.454	0.978	0.451	0.286	0.542
Female	0.327	0.866	0.422	0.282	0.474
Race/ethnicity					
Asian	0.350	0.812	0.473	0.347	0.496
Black	0.840	1.687	0.751	0.485	0.941
White	0.268	0.718	0.347	0.216	0.387
Hispanic	0.611	1.278	0.577	0.432	0.725
Native American	0.578	1.226	0.748	0.461	0.753
Socioeconomic Status	· .				
Lowest Quartile	0.624	1.228	0.541	0.387	0.695
Second Quartile	0.420	0.984	0.466	0.320	0.548
Third Quartile	0.323	0.833	0.390	0.232	0.445
Highest Quartile	0.201	0.647	0.349	0.198	0.349

Note: Statistics were calculated using weighted data.

Table 4.3-6. Speededness Indices for Test by Racial/Ethnic and Sex Groups (Percent of Sample Who Reached Last Item)						
Test	Asian	Hispanic	Black	White	Male	Female
Reading	96.1	92.7	87.9	97.3	94.9	95.9
Math	96.1	93.2	89.7	96.2	95.0	94.9
Science	96.2	95.3	92.6	98.0	96.7	97.0
History/Citizenship	96.2	95.5	94.6	97.9	97.0	97.3

Note: Table excerpted from Rock & Pollack (forthcoming, 1990).

5. Standard Errors and Design Effects

Measures of the variability of a statistic, such as the standard error of estimate and error variance, are familiar to most researchers. Less familiar, however, are issues that arise in calculating accurate standard errors and error variances for statistics derived from complex samples like the one used in the NELS:88 survey. Complex sample designs--those that use stratification, clustering, and unequal selection probabilities--require procedures for estimating sampling variability that are markedly different from the ones that apply when the data are from a simple random sample. In general, such complex designs yield statistics with larger sampling errors than those from a simple random sample. The impact of the sample design on the sampling error of a given statistic is often assessed by the design effect, which is the ratio of the actual error variance of the statistic to the variance that would have been obtained had the sample been a simple random sample. In this section of the report, we briefly review the procedures used to estimate standard errors for selected statistics based on the NELS:88 data, present design effects for these statistics, and discuss the meaning and use of these design effects.

5.1 Estimation Procedure

In a simple random sample, the mean is estimated as

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}} = \Sigma \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{i}}/\mathbf{n}. \tag{1}$$

Only the numerator (i.e., the sample total) is subject to sampling error; the denominator (the sample size) is fixed. In more complex designs, such as the NELS:88 design, the mean is estimated as a ratio of estimates; for NELS:88, this ratio can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{r} = \Sigma \Sigma \Sigma \mathbf{y}_{\text{hij}} / \Sigma \Sigma \Sigma \mathbf{x}_{\text{hij}}, \tag{2}$$

in which y_{hij} is the weighted value for student j from school i in stratum h and x_{hij} is the weight for that student. The numerator in equation (2) is an estimate of the relevant population total; the denominator is an estimate of the population size. Both estimates are subject to sampling error.

In a classic paper, Kish and Frankel (1974) distinguished three main approaches to the computation of standard errors for ratio estimates from complex samples--balanced repeated replication, jackknife repeated replication, and Taylor Series approximation; work by Frankel (1971) and others (e.g., Tourangeau et al., 1983) indicates that the three approaches give very similar results. Consequently, it is largely a matter of convenience as to which approach is taken. We used the Taylor Series procedure to calculate the standard errors here.

Kish (1965, pp. 206-208) has shown that the variance of r (as defined in equation [2]) is

$$E(r-R)^{2} = E[(\underline{dy} - Rdx . \underline{1})^{2}], \qquad (3)$$

X 1 + dx/X

in which

 $E(r-R)^2$ = the expected value of the squared difference between the population ratio, R and the sample estimate, r;

dy =	the difference between th	e sample estimate of the population total, y, and the
	population total, Y;	

X = the population size;

x = the difference between the sample estimate of the population size, x, and the actual population size, X.

If the term involving the relative error in the estimate of the population size (i.e., dx/X) is ignored, equation (3) reduces to

$$E(r - R)^{2} = 1/X^{2} (Var(y) + Var(x) - 2RCov(xy)).$$
(4)

In equation (4), Var(y) and Var(x) refer to the variance of y and x, and Cov(xy) refers to their covariance. All of these terms can be estimated from sample data (i.e., r would replace R, x would replace X, and so on).

Estimates of the variance terms are based on the variation of individual school means around the estimated stratum mean. Various rationales have been offered for the use of equation (4) as a approximation to equation (3). One line of argument is based on a standard mathematical tool called Taylor Series approximation. It is this rationale which has given the approach its name.

5.2 Design Effects for NELS:88

Regardless of which method is used to calculate the standard errors for statistics derived from the NELS:88 data, they will be different from the standard errors that are based on the assumption that the data are from a simple random sample. The NELS:88 sample departs from the assumptions of simple random sampling in three major respects--the sample of students was clustered by school, both schools and students were selected with unequal probabilities, and the sample was stratified by school characteristics. A simple random sample is, by contrast, unclustered and unstratified; in addition, in a simple random sample, all members of the population have the same probability of selection. Generally, clustering and unequal selection probabilities increase the variability of sample statistics relative to a simple random sample; stratification decreases variability.

The impact of these departures from simple random sampling on the precision of sample estimates is often measured by the design effect. The design effect is the ratio of the estimate of the variance of a statistic derived when the sample design is taken into account (for example, for means and proportions based upon NELS:88 student data, variances calculated using equation (4)), to that obtained from the formula for simple random samples (i.e., var(y)/n).

We calculated standard errors and design effects for 30 means and proportions based on the NELS:88 student, parent, and school data. The 30 variables for each of these computations were selected randomly from the relevant questionnaires. We calculated the standard errors and design effects for each statistic, both for the sample as a whole and for selected subgroups. For both the student and parent analyses, the subgroups were based on the student's sex, race, and ethnicity (Asian, black, Hispanic, and white and other), school type (public, Catholic, and other private), and socioeconomic status (lowest quartile, middle two quartiles, and highest quartile). For the school analysis, the subgroups were based on school type and eighth grade enrollment (at or below the median and above the median).

Tables 5.2-1, 5.2-2, and 5.2-3 below give the mean design effects (DEFFs) and mean root design effects (DEFTs) for each data set and subgroup. (The mean root design effect, or DEFT, is the mean of the square root of the design effects across the 30 items. It is the inefficiency of the survey design expressed as the ratio of standard errors, rather than as the ratio of variances). The appendices present the full set of estimated standard errors and design effects based on the student (Appendix 1), parent (Appendix 2), and school (Appendix 3) questionnaires.

for Student Questionnaire Data								
	Group	Mean DEFF	Mean DEFT					
	All Students	2.54	1.56					
	Male	1.98	1.39					
	Female	1.93	1.38					
	White and Other	2.25	1.48					
	Black	1.65	1.27					
	Hispanic	2.06	1.41					
	Asian-Pacific Islander	2.00	1.40					
	Public Schools	2.27	1.48					
	Catholic Schools	2.70	1.59					
	Other Private Schools	3.80	1.83					
	Low SES	1.58	1.25					
	Middle SES	1.66	1.28					
	High SES	1.84	1.34					

Table 5.2-1. Mean Design Effects (DEFFs) and Root Design Effects (DEFTs)for Student Questionnaire Data

Note: Each mean is based on 30 questionnaire items.

51

Group		Mean DEFF	Mean DEFT
- All Students		2.48	1.49
Male		2.08	1.37
Female		1.67	1.26
White and Oth	er	1.94	1.35
Black		1.55	1.21
Hispanic		1.97	1.36
Asian-Pacific	Islander	1.64	1.26
Public Schools	.	2.30	1.43
Catholic Schoo	ols	2.03	1.34
Other Private S	Schools	4.11	1.88
Low SES	1.60	1.22	
Middle SES	1.73	1.27	
High SES	1.79	1.29	

Table 5.2-2. Mean Design Effects (DEFFs) and Root Design Effects (DEFTs) for Parent Questionnaire Data

Note: Each mean is based on 30 questionnaire items.

Table 5.2-3. Mean Design Effects (DEFFs) and Root Design Effects (DEFTs) for School Questionnaire Data Group Mean DEFF Mean DEFT All Schools 1.82 1.32 Public 2.23 1.46 All Private 1.40 1.15 1.26 1.11 Large 1.38 1.16 Small

Note: Each mean is based on 30 questionnaire items.

On the whole, the design effects indicate that the NELS:88 sample was slightly more efficient than the High School and Beyond sample. For means and proportions based on student questionnaire data for all students, the average design effect in NELS:88 was 2.54; the comparable figure was 2.88 for the High School and Beyond sophomore cohort and 2.69 for the senior cohort. This difference is also apparent for subgroup estimates. Frankel et al. (1981) present design effects for ten subgroups

defined similarly to those in Table 5.2-1 above. For eight of the ten subgroups, the NELS:88 design effects are smaller on the average than those for the High School and Beyond sophomore cohort; for nine of the ten subgroups, the average NELS:88 design effects are smaller than those for the senior cohort. The increased efficiency is especially marked for students attending Catholic schools. In NELS:88, the average design effect is 2.70; in High School and Beyond, it was 3.60 for the sophomores and 3.58 for the seniors.

The smaller design effects in NELS:88 may reflect the somewhat smaller cluster size used in the later survey. The High School and Beyond base year sample design called for 36 sophomore and 36 senior selections from each school; the NELS:88 sample called for the selection of only 24 core students from each school. Clustering tends to increase the variability of survey estimates, because the observations within a cluster are similar and therefore add less information than independently selected observations. The impact of clustering depends mainly on two factors--the number of observations within each cluster and the degree of within-cluster homogeneity. When cluster sizes vary, the impact of clustering (DEFFc) can be estimated by

 $DEFF_c = 1 + (\overline{b} - 1) rho$ (5)

in which b refers to the average cluster size (the average number of students selected from each school) and rho refers to the intraclass correlation coefficient, a measure of the degree of withincluster homogeneity. If the value of rho (which varies from one variable to the next) averaged about .03 in both studies, the reduced cluster size in NELS:88 would almost exactly account for the reduction in the design effects relative to High School and Beyond.

The design effects for the estimates based on parent questionnaire data (see Table 5.2-2) are similar to those for the student questionnaires. For estimates applying to all students, the mean design effect was 2.48 for the parent data and 2.54 for the student data. For a number of subgroups, however, the mean design effect is lower for the parent data than for the student data.

For all but one of the subgroups, the average design effect for the student items is about the same as, or larger than, the average design effect for parent items. This suggests that the homogeneity of student responses within clusters is about the same as, or greater than, the homogeneity of parent responses within the domain clusters. Given the students' shared school experiences, in general, and the uniform questionnaire administration procedures, in particular, this is not surprising. For private schools, the design effect for the parent items is considerably larger than the design effect for the student items. This suggests that parents within private schools give strikingly similar responses to the 30 NELS:88 items used in the design effects analysis.

The design effects for the school questionnaire data, presented in Table 5.2-3, reflect only the impact of stratification and unequal selection probabilities; the sample of schools was not clustered. As a result, the design effects for estimates based on the school data tend to be small compared to those for estimates based on the student and parent data. The mean design effect for estimates concerning all schools is 1.80.

5.3 Design Effects and Approximate Standard Errors

Researchers who do not have access to software for computing accurate standard errors can use the mean design effects presented in Tables 5.2-1, 5.2-2, and 5.2-3 to approximate the standard errors of statistics based on the NELS:88 data. Standard errors for a proportion can be estimated from

the standard error computed using the formula for the standard error of a proportion based on a simple random sample and the appropriate mean root design effect (DEFT):

SE = DEFT *
$$(p (1-p)/n)^{1/2}$$
. (6)

Similarly, the standard error of a mean can be estimated from the weighted variance of the individual scores and the appropriate mean DEFT:

$$SE = DEFT * (Var/n)^{1/2}$$
. (7)

Tables 5.2-1 through 5.2-3 make it clear that the design effects and root design effects vary considerably by subgroup. It is therefore important to use the mean DEFT for the relevant subgroup in calculating approximate standard errors for subgroup statistics.

Standard error estimates may be needed for subgroups that are not tabulated here. One rule of thumb may be useful in such situations. The rule of thumb states that design effects will generally be smaller for groups that are formed by subdividing the subgroups listed in the tables. (This is because smaller subgroups will be affected less by clustering than larger subgroups; in terms of equation [5], b will be reduced.) Estimates for Hispanic males, for example, will generally have smaller design effects than the corresponding estimates for all Hispanics or all males. For this reason, it will usually be conservative to use the subgroup mean DEFT to approximate standard errors for estimates concerning a portion of the subgroup. This rule only applies when the variable used to subdivide a subgroup crosscuts schools. Sex is one such variable, because most schools include students of both sexes. It will not reduce the average cluster size to form groups that are based on subsets of schools.

Standard errors may also be needed for other types of estimates than the simple means and proportions that are the basis for the results presented here. A second rule of thumb can be used to estimate approximate standard errors for comparisons between subgroups. If the subgroups crosscut schools, then the design effect for the difference between the subgroup means will be somewhat smaller than the design effect for the individual means; consequently, the variance of the difference estimate will be less than the sum of the variances of the two subgroup means from which it is derived:

$$Var(b-a) Var(b) + Var(a),$$
(8)

in which Var(b-a) refers to the variance of the estimated difference between the subgroup means, and Var(a) and Var(b) refer to the variances of the two subgroup means. It follows from equation (8) that Var(a) + Var(b) can be used in place of Var(b-a) with conservative results.

A final rule of thumb is that more complex estimators show smaller design effects than simple estimators (Kish & Frankel, 1974). Thus, correlation and regression coefficients tend to have smaller design effects than subgroup comparisons and subgroup comparisons have smaller design effects than means. This implies that it will be conservative to use the mean root design effects presented here in calculating approximate standard errors for complex statistics, such as multiple regression coefficients. The procedure for calculating such approximate standard errors is the same as with simpler estimates: first, a standard error is calculated using the formula for data from a simple random sample; then, the standard error is multiplied by the appropriate mean root design effect.

One analytic strategy for accommodating complex survey designs is to use the mean design effect to adjust for the effective sample size resulting from the design. For example, one could create a weight which is the multiplicative inverse of the design effect and use that weight (in conjunction

with sampling weights) to deflate the obtained sample size to take into account the inefficiencies due to a sample design that is a departure from a simple random sample. Using this procedure, statistics calculated by a statistical program such as SPSS will reflect the reduction in sample size in the calculation of standard errors and degrees of freedom. Such techniques capture the effect of the sample design on sample statistics only approximately. However, while not providing a full accounting of the sample design, this procedure provides some adjustment for the sample design, and is probably better than conducting analysis that assumes the data were collected from a simple random sample. The analyst applying this correction procedure should carefully examine the statistical software he or she is using, and assess whether the program treats weights in such a way as to produce the effect described above.

REFERENCES

Cochran, W., Sampling Techniques, 3rd ed. (New York: John Wiley, 1977).

Frankel, M., Inference from Survey Samples: An Empirical Investigation (Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, 1971).

Frankel, M., Kohnke, L., Buonanno, D., & Tourangeau, R., High School and Beyond Sample Design Report (Chicago: NORC, 1981).

Frase, Mary J., *Dropout Rates in the United States: 1988* National Center for Education Statistics, Analysis Report, NCES 89-609 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education, September, 1989).

Ingels, S., Abraham, S., Rasinski, K., Karr, R., Spencer, B., & Frankel, M., National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 Base Year: Student Component Data File User's Manual (Washington, D.C.: NCES, 1990a).

Ingels, S., Abraham, S., Rasinski, K., Karr, R., Spencer, B., & Frankel, M., National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 Base Year: Parent Component Data File User's Manual (Washington, D.C.: NCES, 1990b).

Ingels, S. Abraham, S., Rasinski, K., Karr, R., Spencer, B., & Frankel, M., National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 Base Year: Teacher Component Data File User's Manual (Washington, D.C.: NCES, 1990c).

Ingels, S., Abraham, S., Rasinski, K., Karr, R., Spencer, B., & Frankel, M., National Education Longitudinal Study of 1988 Base Year: School Administrator Component Data File User's Manual (Washington, D.C.: NCES, 1990d).

Kish, L., Survey Sampling (New York: John Wiley, 1965).

Kish, L., & Frankel, M., Inference from Complex Samples, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological), 36 (1974): 2-37.

Rock, Donald A. and Pollack, Judith M. *Psychometric Report for the NELS:88 Base Year Test Battery*, (Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics, 1990).

Spencer, B., Frankel, M., Ingels, S., Rasinski, K., & Tourangeau, R., NELS:88 Base Year Sample Design: NORC Report to NCES, (Chicago: NORC, December, 1989).

Tourangeau, R., McWilliams, H., Jones, C., Frankel, M., & O'Brien, F., High School and Beyond First Follow-Up (1982) Sample Design Report (Chicago: NORC, 1983).

Appendix 1:

Standard Errors and Design Effects for Student Questionnaire Data

All Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.35	0.06	1.35	1.16	24126	0.05
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	91.48	0.26	1.94	1.39	22775	0.19
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	88.13	0.43	4.21	2.05	24156	0.21
Father finished college	BYS34A	29.36	0.65	4.18	2.04	20450	0.32
Mother finished college	BYS34B	22.94	0.50	3.03	1.74	21504	0.29
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	90.11	0.23	1.39	1.18	24392	0.19
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	66.35	0.47	2.18	1.48	22042	0.32
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	92.26	0.23	1.73	1.31	24355	0.17
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	11.87	0.25	1.48	1.22	24245	0.21
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	28.50	0.40	1.87	1.37	24266	0.29
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	20.16	0.34	1.78	1.34	24258	0.26
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	14.26	0.29	1.64	1.28	24200	0.22
Expects to finish college	BYS45	65.44	0.49	2.62	1.62	24384	0.30
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.20	0.10	1.46	1.21	24332	0.09
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	73.98	0.41	2.05	1.43	23795	0.28
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	14.96	0.37	2.51	1.58	23849	0.23
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	15.32	0.35	2.23	1.49	23838	0.23
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	57.42	0.60	2.25	1,50	15084	0.40
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	41.09	0.51	2.46	1.57	23159	0.32
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	84.14	0.30	1.60	1.26	23379	0.24
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	15.09	0.32	1.82	1.35	23225	0.23
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	1 7.6 6	0.37	2.12	1.46	22771	0.25
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	21.86	0.34	1.60	1.26	23062	0.27
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	47.85	0.57	2.96	1.72	22578	0.33
Participated in dance	BYS82G	26.67	0.50	2.86	1.69	22383	0.30
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	14.89	0.34	2.07	1.44	22120	0.24
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	10.23	0.08	4.12	2.03	23791	0.04
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	15.98	0.16	4.99	2.23	23778	0.07
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	9.86	0.08	4.82	2.20	23765	0.04
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	15.12	0.1 1	5.01	2.24	23673	0.05
Mean				2.54	1.56		
Minimum				1.35	1.16		
Maximum				5.01	2.24		
Standard Deviation				1.11	0.53		
Median				2.15	1.47		

Males

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.31	0.08	1.13	1.06	11983	0.08
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	91.44	0.35	1.74	1.32	11352	0.26
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	87.53	0.53	3.14	1.77	12001	0.30
Father finished college	BYS34A	30.32	0.76	2.82	1.68	10307	0.45
Mother finished college	BYS34B	24.57	0.62	2.22	1.49	10582	0.42
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	89.76	0.34	1.53	1.24	12109	0.28
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	67.44	0.58	1.68	1.30	10937	0.45
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	95.26	0.24	1.51	1.23	12096	0.19
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	13.55	0.39	1.52	1.23	12023	0.31
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	28.99	0.53	1.63	1.28	1 2053	0.41
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	19.4 1	0.45	1.57	1.25	12039	0.36
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	13.16	0.37	1.43	1.20	12017	0.31
Expects to finish college	BYS45	62.65	0.62	2.00	1.41	12113	0.44
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	97.90	0.15	1.38	1.17	12084	0.13
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	75.49	0.53	1.79	1.34	11784	0.40
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	12.77	0.41	1.80	1.34	11754	0.31
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	14.33	0.45	1.90	1.38	1 1753	0.32
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	56.44	0.72	1.65	1.29	7724	0.56
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	42.02	0.60	1.66	1.29	11365	0.46
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	80.56	0.45	1.49	1.22	11465	0.37
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	14.10	0.39	1.45	1.21	11394	0.33
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	21.31	0.51	1.74	1.32	11078	0.39
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	25.57	0.50	1.50	1.22	11278	0.41
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	53.82	0.69	2.12	1.46	11029	0.47
Participated in dance	BYS82G	23.50	0.63	2.37	1.54	10901	0.41
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	13.24	0.41	1.59	1.26	10751	0.33
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	9.55	0.10	3.02	1.74	11840	0.06
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	16.15	0.19	3.30	1.82	11836	0,11
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	10.16	0.10	3.32	1.82	11836	0.06
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	15.40	0.14	3.42	1.85	11777	0.07
Mean				1.98	1.39		
Minimum			-	1.13	1.06		
Maximum	-	.1		3.42	1.85		N. A
Standard Deviation				0.65	0.22		
Median				1.71	1.31		÷

Females

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.39	0.09	1.62	1.27	12143	0.07
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	91.52	0.33	1.56	1.25	11423	0.26
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	88.72	0.47	2.63	1.62	12155	0.29
Father finished college	BYS34A	28.38	0.71	2.55	1.60	10143	0.45
Mother finished college	BYS34B	21.35	0.56	2.03	1.43	10922	0.39
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	90.46	0.31	1.40	1.18	12283	0.27
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	65.26	0.59	1.71	1.31	11105	0.45
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	89.26	0.35	1.59	1.26	12259	0.28
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	10.19	0.32	1.37	1.17	12222	0.27
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	28.01	0.52	1.63	1.27	12213	0.41
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	20.90	0.45	1.52	1.23	12219	0.37
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	15.36	0.40	1.48	1.22	12183	0.33
Expects to finish college	BYS45	68.22	0.59	2.00	1.42	12271	0.42
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.50	0.12	1.23	1.11	12248	0.11
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	72.47	0.51	1.55	1.24	12011	0.41
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	17.11	0.48	1.94	1.39	12095	0.34
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	16.30	0.45	1.80	1.34	12085	0.34
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	58.45	0.80	1.93	1.39	7360	0.57
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	40.19	0.66	2.15	1.47	1 1794	0.45
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	87.63	0.34	1.31	1.14	11914	0.30
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	16.06	0.43	1.62	1.27	11831	0.34
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	14.17	0.45	1.90	1.38	11693	0.32
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	18.26	0.41	1.32	1.15	11784	0.36
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	42.12	0.67	2.13	1.46	11549	0.46
Participated in dance	BYS82G	29.70	0.61	2.03	1.43	11482	0.43
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	16.46	0.45	1.70	1.30	11369	0.35
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	10.91	0.09	2.68	1.64	11951	0.06
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	15.82	0.19	3.40	1.84	11942	0.10
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	9.56	0.09	3.11	1.76	11929	0.05
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	14.82	0.12	3.05	1.75	11896	0.07
Mean				1.93	1.38		
Minimum				1.23	1.11		• * • • ·
Maximum				3.40	1.84		
Standard Deviation				0.56	0.19		
Median				1.76	1.33		1

Asians

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	98.99	0.23	0.80	0.90	1500	0.26
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	91.81	0.88	1.46	1.21	1432	0.72
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	80.73	1.50	2.19	1.48	1509	1.02
Father finished college	BYS34A	49.71	2.29	2.51	1.58	1194	1.45
Mother finished college	BYS34B	41.71	2.11	2.14	1.46	1173	1.44
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	88.16	0.92	1.25	1.12	1538	0.82
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	62.33	1.76	1.82	1.35	1379	1.30
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	93.14	0.83	1.67	1.29	1530	0.65
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	14.12	1.08	1.48	1.22	1526	0.89
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	30.02	1.51	1 .67	1.29	1527	1.17
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	20.30	1.33	1.66	1.29	1523	1.03
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	17.55	1.21	1.54	1.24	1513	0.98
Expects to finish college	BYS45	75.62	1.74	2.52	1.59	1534	1.10
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.77	0.36	1.59	1.26	1526	0.28
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	80.67	1.33	1.70	1.30	1498	1.02
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	18.54	1.41	1.98	1.41	1498	1.00
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	16.59	1.15	1.42	1.19	1496	0.96
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	72.65	2.06	2.22	1.49	1041	1.38
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	55.38	1.97	2.27	1.51	1450	1.31
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	88.04	1.12	1.72	1.31	1450	0.85
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	19.07	1.36	1.73	1.31	1435	1.04
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	11.47	1.16	1.89	1.37	1421	0.85
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	20.67	1.42	1.75	1.32	1422	1.07
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	43.07	1.82	1.88	1.37	1 387	1.33
Participated in dance	BYS82G	26.85	1.66	1.94	1.39	1378	1.19
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	12.80	1.09	1.45	1.21	1363	0.90
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	10.80	0.29	3.20	1.79	1500	0.16
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	19.75	0.60	3.64	1.91	1495	0.32
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	10.76	0.29	3.53	1.88	1493	0.16
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	16.36	0.39	3.52	1.88	1487	0.21
Mean				2.00	1.40		
Minimum				0.80	0.90		
Maximum				3.64	1.91		
Standard Deviation				0.68	0.23		
Median				1.79	1.34		

Hispanics

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.16	0.18	1 .15	1 .07	3090	0.16
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	87.85	0.95	2.40	1.55	2833	0.61
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	87.77	1.14	3.73	1.93	3105	0.59
Father finished college	BYS34A	15.99	1 .04	1.99	1.41	2461	0.74
Mother finished college	BYS34B	10.96	0.78	1.62	1.27	2627	0.61
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	89.35	0.67	1.46	1.21	3135	0.55
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	69.50	0.92	1.06	1.03	2640	0.90
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	92.23	0.66	1.90	1.38	3134	0.48
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	17.74	0.73	1.14	1.07	3108	0.69
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	34.36	1.10	1.69	1.30	3118	0.85
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	26.80	1.02	1.64	1.28	3109	0.79
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	20.43	1.06	2.15	1.47	3092	0.73
Expects to finish college	BYS45	54.69	1.05	1.40	1.18	3125	0.89
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	96.53	0.43	1.74	1.32	3119	0.33
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	71.44	1.60	3.75	1.94	2998	0.83
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	21.47	1.23	2.72	1.65	3018	0.75
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	14.94	0.80	1.52	1.23	3021	0.65
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	56.47	1.92	2.41	1.55	1611	1.24
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	39.99	1.18	1.69	1.30	2904	0.91
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	88.08	0.77	1.64	1.28	2926	0.60
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	20.80	1.10	2. 14	1.46	2918	0.75
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	22.55	1.24	2.50	1.58	2822	0.79
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	26.22	0.93	1.30	1.14	2889	0.82
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	44.43	2.05	4.84	2.20	2835	0.93
Participated in dance	BYS82G	24.61	0.95	1.36	1.17	2815	0.81
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	13.20	0.74	1.33	1.15	2792	0.64
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	7.75	0.18	2.92	1.71	3005	0.10
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	11.09	0.28	2.40	2.55	2996	0.18
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	7.54	0.13	1.95	1.40	2995	0.09
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	11.97	0.20	2.14	1.46	2981	0.14
Mean				2.06	1.41		
Minimum				1.06	1.03		
Maximum				4.84	2.20		
Standard Deviation				0.84	0.27		
Median				1.82	1.35		

Blacks

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SR
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99. 11	0.17	0.97	0.99	2950	0.17
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	84.75	0.82	1.33	1.15	2546	0.71
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	89.96	0.99	3.18	1.78	2939	0.55
Father finished college	BYS34A	19.02	1.17	1.93	1.39	2180	0.84
Mother finished college	BYS34B	18.75	1.04	1.84	1.36	2568	0.77
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	91.92	0.63	1.59	1.26	2958	0.50
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	80.41	0.96	1.38	1.17	2374	0.81
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	96.05	0.38	1.13	1.06	2954	0.36
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	16.68	0.82	1.43	1.20	2938	0.69
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	33.39	1.05	1.46	1.21	293 1	0.87
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	24,74	0.99	1.56	1.25	2935	0.80
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	15.03	0.78	1.38	1.18	2932	0.66
Expects to finish college	BYS45	63.83	1.11	1.59	1.26	2962	0.88
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.13	0.27	1.15	1.07	2943	0.25
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	62.78	1.10	1.45	1.20	2791	0.92
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	25.36	1.09	1.77	1.33	2841	0.82
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	16.09	0.85	1.52	1.23	2831	0.69
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	60.49	1.52	1.51	1.23	1569	1.23
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	50.14	1.19	1.50	1.23	2655	0.97
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	87.89	0.67	1.15	1.07	2707	0.63
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	16.52	0.77	1.16	1.08	2693	0.72
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	26.07	1.21	1.93	1.39	2557	0.87
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	22.44	1.06	1.70	1.30	2613	0.82
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	48.29	1.19	1.44	1.20	2540	0.99
Participated in dance	BYS82G	25.26	1.13	1.69	1.30	2507	0.87
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	12.72	0.76	1.28	1.13	2483	0.67
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	6.91	0.15	2.05	1.43	2858	0.10
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	8.97	0.27	2.49	1.58	2860	0.17
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	6.30	0.14	2.27	1.51	2845	0.09
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	11.26	0.21	2.60	1.61	2842	0.13
Mean				1.65	1.27		. •
Minimum				0.97	0.99		
Maximum				3.18	1.78		
Standard Deviation				0.48	0.17		
Median				1.51	1.23		

Whites and Others

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.44	0.07	1.45	1.20	16586	0.06
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	93.02	0.27	1.75	1.32	15964	0.20
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	88.20	0.53	4.55	2.13	16603	0.25
Father finished college	BYS34A	31.70	0.73	3.64	1.91	14615	0.38
Mother finished college	BYS34B	24.42	0.58	2.77	1.66	15136	0.35
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	89 . 99	0.26	1.30	1.14	16761	0.23
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	64.03	0.55	2.03	1.43	15649	0.38
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	91.55	0.27	1.58	1.26	16737	0.21
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	10.09	0.28	1.41	1.19	16673	0.23
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	26.75	0.45	1.70	1.30	16690	0.34
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	18.42	0.39	1.69	1.30	16691	0.30
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	13.11	0.32	1.46	1.21	16663	0.26
Expects to finish college	BYS45	66.73	0.56	2.40	1.55	16763	0.36
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.42	0.11	1.40	1.18	16744	0.10
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	75.89	0.43	1.68	1.30	16508	0.33
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	12.11	0.36	2.02	1.42	16492	0.25
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	15.18	0.41	2.17	1.47	16490	0.28
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	56.30	0.69	2.11	1.45	10863	0.48
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	39.09	0.58	2.31	1.52	16150	0.38
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	82.82	0.35	1.44	1.20	16 29 6	0.30
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	13.90	0.36	1.80	1.34	16179	0.27
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	15.98	0.40	1.87	1.37	15971	0.29
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	21.23	0.40	1.55	1.25	16138	0.32
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	48.46	0.65	2.71	1.65	15816	0.40
Participated in dance	BYS82G	27.16	0.60	2.83	1.68	15683	0.36
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	15.56	0.42	2.07	1.44	15482	0.29
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	11.12	0.08	2.68	1.48	16428	0.05
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	17.70	0.17	3.70	1.92	16427	0.09
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	10.75	0.09	3.60	1.90	16432	0.04
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	16.15	0.11	3.75	1.94	16363	0.06
Mean				2.25	1.48		
Minimum				1.30	1.14		·, ·
Maximum				4.55	2.13		· · · ·
Standard Deviation				0.84	0.27		
Median				2.03	1.43		1.0
Public Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.33	0.07	1.29	1.14	19033	0.06
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	90.86	0.29	1.78	1.34	17843	0.22
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	95.78	0.20	1.89	1.37	19061	0.15
Father finished college	BYS34A	26.73	0.68	3.77	1.94	15907	0.35
Mother finished college	BYS34B	20.90	0.52	2.70	1.64	16856	0.31
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	90.13	0.25	1.31	1.14	19191	0.22
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	67.57	0.50	1.93	1.39	17101	0.36
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	92.12	0.25	1.62	1.27	19159	0.19
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	12.41	0.28	1.37	1.17	19061	0.24
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	29.41	0.43	1.74	1.32	19080	0.33
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	21.05	0.38	1.65	1.28	19072	0.30
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	14.83	0.32	1.53	1.24	19035	0.26
Expects to finish college	BYS45	63.32	0.54	2.36	1.54	19177	0.35
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.04	0.12	1.34	1.16	19126	0.10
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	72.96	0.45	1.92	1.38	18658	0.33
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	16.05	0.41	2.37	1.54	18721	0.27
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	16.18	0.39	2.07	1.44	18703	0.27
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	56.51	0.65	2.01	1.42	11743	0.46
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	41.75	0.55	2.22	1.49	18122	0.37
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	84.11	0.33	1.48	1.22	18301	0.27
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	15.38	0.34	1.66	1.29	18205	0.27
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	18.80	0.41	1.97	1.40	17762	0.29
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	22.94	0.38	1.46	1.21	18040	0.31
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	46.08	0.61	2.66	1.63	17643	0.38
Participated in dance	BYS82G	27.11	0.54	2.61	1.62	17509	0.34
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	13.71	0.36	1.88	1.37	17323	0.26
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	9.88	0.09	3.83	1.96	18700	0.04
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	15.47	0.18	4.62	2.15	18676	0.08
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	9.64	0.09	4.52	2.13	18666	0.04
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	14.69	0.12	4.65	2.16	18601	0.06
Mean				2.27	1.48		
Minimum				1.29	1.14		
Maximum				4.64	2.16		
Standard Deviation				0.99	0.30		
Median				1 93	1 30		

Catholic Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.30	0.17	1.01	1.00	2523	0.17
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	95.19	0.56	1.66	1.29	2421	0.43
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	34.15	2.40	6.55	2.56	2547	0.94
Father finished college	BYS34A	38.30	2.28	4.70	2.17	2133	1.05
Mother finished college	BYS34B	29.64	2.01	4.31	2.08	2225	0.97
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	90.51	0.68	1.37	1.17	2566	0.58
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	65.82	1.74	3.23	1.80	2392	0.97
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	92.84	0.68	1.78	1.33	2561	0.51
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	8.09	0.57	1.11	1.05	2560	0.54
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	23.33	1.13	1.84	1.35	2558	0.84
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	14.54	0.95	1.85	1.36	2559	0.70
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	1 1 .22	0.72	1.32	1.15	2549	0.63
Expects to finish college	BYS45	78.07	1.25	2.32	1.52	2566	0.82
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	99.3 1	0.18	1 .27	1.13	2566	0.16
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	82.67	1.02	1.82	1.35	2521	0.75
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	7.09	0.54	1.12	1.06	2533	0.51
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	8.55	0.65	1.38	1.17	2539	0.55
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	61.24	2.13	2.70	1.64	1406	1.30
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	34.54	1.64	2.94	1.71	2481	0.95
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	83.99	0.96	1.74	1.32	2507	0.73
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	13.60	1.05	2.37	1.54	2501	0.69
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	9.69	0.80	1.80	1.34	2467	0.60
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	15.09	0.94	1.70	1.30	2473	0.72
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	60.9 1	2.09	4.46	2.1 1	2435	0.99
Participated in dance	BYS82G	27.01	1.75	3.76	1.94	2408	0.90
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	20.50	1.34	2.62	1.62	2382	0.83
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	1 2.22	0.21	3.49	1.87	2517	0.11
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	17.98	0.48	5.43	2.33	2524	0.21
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	10.77	0.21	3.96	1.99	2522	0.10
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	17.86	0.30	5.32	2.31	2518	0.13
Mean				2.70	1.59		
Minimum				1.01	1.00		
Maximum				6.55	2.56		
Standard Deviation				1.47	0.43		
Median				2.09	1.44		

67

Standard Errors and Design Effects

Other Private Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.79	0.07	0.61	0.78	2570	0.09
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	96.90	0.47	1.83	1.35	2511	0.35
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	28.82	3.31	13.58	3.69	2548	0.90
Father finished college	BYS34A	62.91	2.64	7.22	2.69	2410	0.98
Mother finished college	BYS34B	50.75	2.07	4.15	2.04	2423	1.02
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	89.09	0.72	1.39	1.18	2635	0.47
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	0.46	0.02	0.03	0.17	2549	0.13
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	93.92	0.55	1.38	1.17	2635	0.47
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	7.71	0.86	2.73	1.65	2624	0.52
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	19.52	1.13	2.15	1.47	2628	0.77
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	12.29	1.03	2.59	1.61	2627	0.64
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	8.31	0.79	2.16	1.47	2616	0.54
Expects to finish college	BYS45	85.18	1.50	4.73	2.17	2641	0.69
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	99.53	0.20	2.32	1.52	2640	0.13
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	78.94	1.31	2.71	1.65	2616	0.80
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	7.11	0,63	1.57	1.25	2595	0.50
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	10.18	1.28	4.62	2.15	2596	0.59
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	67.84	2.61	6.60	2.46	1935	1.06
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	39.54	2.30	5.65	2.38	2556	0.97
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	85.12	1.10	2.45	1.57	2571	0.70
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	12.09	1.19	3.37	1.84	2519	0.65
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	9.87	0,86	2.13	1.46	2542	0.59
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	12.65	0.97	2.19	1.48	2549	0.66
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	59.35	2.15	4.79	2.19	2500	0.98
Participated in dance	BYS82G	17.74	1.36	3.12	1.77	2466	0.77
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	27.91	2.21	5.85	2.42	2415	0.91
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	13.69	0.21	3.82	1.95	2574	0.11
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	22.48	0.54	6.56	2.56	2578	0.21
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	12.55	0.27	6.07	2.46	2577	0.11
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	18.73	0.32	6.06	2.46	2554	0.13
		1.121					1 I I
Mean			s 8.	3.80	1.83	·	· ·
Minimum				0.03	0.17	•	
Maximum				13.58	3.69		
Standard Deviation				2.61	0.66		1997 - 129 ¹
Median				2.91	1.71		e di ser
							*

Low SES Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	98.97	0.14	1.11	1.05	5777	0.13
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	81.98	0.65	1.48	1.21	5096	0.54
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	93.18	0.41	1.54	1.24	5808	0.33
Father finished college	BYS34A	4.37	0.37	1.42	1.19	4409	0.31
Mother finished college	BYS34B	3.39	0.30	1.32	1.15	4900	0.26
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	88.67	0.50	1.47	1.21	5853	0.41
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	72.25	0.77	1.44	1.20	4868	0.64
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	91.75	0.41	1.29	1.13	5852	0.36
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	17.99	0.60	1.40	1.18	5816	0.50
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	37.90	0.75	1.41	1.19	5822	0.64
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	28.16	0.73	1.52	1.23	5817	0.59
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	19.67	0.63	1.45	1.20	5794	0.52
Expects to finish college	BYS45	42.94	0.75	1.33	1.16	5858	0.65
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	95.82	0.29	1.26	1.12	5835	0.26
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	61.47	0.79	1.48	1.22	5582	0.65
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	19.39	0.73	1.95	1.40	5658	0.53
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	16.33	0.59	1.46	1.21	5639	0.49
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	44.41	1.12	1.50	1.22	2973	0.91
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	39.69	0.86	1.66	1.29	5366	0.67
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	83.32	0.63	1.54	1.24	5438	0.51
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	19.45	0.66	1.48	1.22	5419	0.54
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	31.28	0.86	1.76	1.33	5159	0.65
Often come to class without homework	BY\$78C	28.04	0.71	1.32	1.15	5325	0.62
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	41.56	0.92	1.80	1.34	5215	0.68
Participated in dance	BYS82G	24.53	0.75	1.56	1.25	5172	0.60
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	9.91	0.48	1.30	1.14	5111	0.42
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	7.03	0.10	2.02	1.42	5647	0.07
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	9.73	0.18	2.12	1.46	5639	0.12
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	6.96	0.11	2.41	1.55	5641	0.07
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	11.07	0.15	2.57	1.60	5629	0.10
Mean				1.58	1.21		, ÷ +
Minimum				1.11	1.05		
Maximum				2.57	1.60		·
Standard Deviation				0.33	0.12		
Median				1.48	1.22		e e Serie - A

69

Base Year Sample Design Report

NELS:88 Base Year Student Questionnaire Data Standard Errors and Design Effects

Middle SES Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.39	0.09	1.61	1.27	11441	0.07
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	92.79	0.28	1.24	1.11	10863	0.25
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	89.94	0.44	2.49	1.58	11443	0.28
Father finished college	BYS34A	15.57	0.44	1.39	1.18	9613	0.37
Mother finished college	BYS34B	12.24	0.37	1.31	1.14	10189	0.32
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	90.88	0.31	1.36	1.17	11540	0.27
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	69.43	0.55	1.49	1.22	10466	0.45
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	91.82	0.33	1.63	1.28	11517	0.26
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	11.14	0.31	1.13	1.07	11472	0.29
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	28.75	0.48	1.31	1.14	11475	0.42
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	19.92	0.41	1.24	1.11	11461	0.37
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	13.97	0.38	1.38	1.18	11441	0.32
Expects to finish college	BYS45	64.84	0.53	1.40	1.18	11528	0.44
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	98.73	0.12	1.24	1.11	11506	0.10
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	74.33	0.49	1.42	1.19	11275	0.41
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	14.56	0.43	1.69	1.30	11291	0.33
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	14.67	0.45	1.79	1.34	11289	0.33
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	56.09	0.79	1.77	1.33	6973	0.59
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	38.13	0.65	1.99	1.41	10988	0.46
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	83.36	0.41	1.36	1.17	11093	0.35
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BYS71B	15.21	0.42	1.49	1.22	11035	0.34
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	16.25	0.43	1.50	1.22	10830	0.35
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	22.04	0.45	1.30	1.14	10947	0.40
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	48.19	0.69	2.07	1.44	10715	0.48
Participated in dance	BYS82G	27.69	0.63	2.11	1.45	10615	0.43
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	14.81	0.44	1.59	1.26	10509	0.35
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	10.15	0.08	1.98	1.41	11312	0.06
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	15.61	0.16	2.53	1.59	11306	0.10
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	9.78	0.08	2.47	1.57	11304	0.05
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	15.05	0.11	2.43	1.56	11252	0.07
Mean				1.66	1.28		
Minimum				1.13	1.07		
Maximum				2.49	1.59		
Standard Deviation				0.41	0.15		
Median				1 50	1.22		

High SES Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Mother/female guardian living	BYS2A	99.64	0.07	1.05	1.03	6908	0.07
Father/male guardian currently employed	BYS7A	97.36	0.23	1.46	1.21	6816	0.19
Expect to attend public high school	BYS14	79.46	1.07	4.82	2.19	6905	0.49
Father finished college	BYS34A	75.43	0.77	2.06	1.43	6428	0.54
Mother finished college	BYS34B	61.68	0.81	1.79	1.34	6415	0.61
Parents require chores to be done	BYS38B	90.01	0.45	1.60	1.27	6999	0.36
Watch more than 2 hours of TV per weekday	BYS42A	55.45	0.88	2.12	1.46	6708	0.61
I feel good about myself	BYS44A	93.64	0.34	1.33	1.15	6986	0.29
Good luck more important than hard work	BYS44C	7.25	0.35	1.30	1.14	6957	0.31
Every time I get ahead something stops me	BYS44F	18.72	0.56	1.43	1.20	6969	0.47
Plans hardly work out, makes me unhappy	BYS44G	12.74	0.48	1.47	1.21	6980	0.40
I feel I do not have much to be proud of	BYS44L	9.52	0.40	1.27	1.13	6965	0.35
Expects to finish college	BYS45	88.91	0.48	1.67	1.29	6998	0.38
Expects to graduate from high school	BYS46	99.49	0.10	1.47	1.21	6991	0.08
Talk to father about planning H.S. pgms	BYS50A	85.21	0.54	1.61	1.27	6938	0.43
Students cutting class a problem at school	BYS58C	11.46	0.47	1.50	1.22	6900	0.38
Student use of alcohol a problem at school	BYS58G	15.64	0.62	2.00	1.41	6910	0.44
Parents wanted R to take algebra	BYS62	68.74	0.89	1.89	1.37	5138	0.65
Enrolled in advanced mathematics	BYS66D	48.21	0.87	2.06	1.44	6805	0.61
English will be useful in my future	BYS70C	86.45	0.52	1.60	1.26	6848	0.41
Afraid to ask questions in social studies	BY S7 1B	10.75	0.45	1.44	1.20	6771	0.38
Ever held back a grade in school	BYS74	8.21	0.44	1.76	1.33	6782	0.33
Often come to class without homework	BYS78C	15.77	0.56	1.59	1.26	6790	0.44
Participated in school varsity sports	BYS82B	53.01	0.93	2.31	1.52	6648	0.61
Participated in dance	BYS82G	26.64	0.81	2.24	1.50	6596	0.54
Participated in religious organization	BYS82T	19.64	0.67	1.84	1.36	6500	0.49
Reading Test Formula Score	BYTXRFS	13.52	0.09	1.86	1.36	6832	0.07
Mathematics Test Formula Score	BYTXMFS	22.86	0.19	2.22	1.49	6833	0.13
Science Test Formula Score	BYTXSFS	12.87	0.10	2.16	1.47	6820	0.07
History/Cit/Geog Test Formula Score	BYTXHFS	19.23	0.12	2.32	1.52	6792	0.08
Mean				1.84	1.34		
Minimum				1.05	1.03		
Maximum				4.82	2.19		
Standard Deviation				0.65	0.20		
Median				1.72	1.31		

.

Appendix 2:

Standard Errors and Design Effects for Parent Questionnaire Data

All Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	96.86	0.13	1.37	1.17	23516	0.11
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	16.66	0.41	1.71	1.31	13809	0.32
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	5.10	0.24	2.82	1.68	23094	0.14
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	7.85	0.62	12.38	3.52	23134	0.18
Parent attended college	BYP30	43.52	0.61	3.58	1.89	23442	0.32
Spouse works full time	BYP35	64.05	0.46	2.11	1.45	23365	0.31
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	92.81	0.24	1.83	1.35	21224	0.18
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	2.01	0.11	1.52	1.23	23029	0.09
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	19.95	0.40	2.33	1.53	23016	0.26
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.51	0.12	1.31	1.14	23442	0.10
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.09	0.02	1.33	1.15	23417	0.02
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	21.43	0.35	1.66	1.29	22529	0.27
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	4.19	0.18	1.98	1.41	23437	0.13
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	12.53	0.34	2.48	1.57	23468	0.22
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	39.68	0.73	5.09	2.26	22663	0.32
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	34.93	0.45	1.92	1.38	22000	0.32
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	19.19	0.41	2.48	1.57	22417	0.26
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	63.53	0.49	2.36	1.54	22525	0.32
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.46	0.01	0.03	0.17	23544	0.08
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	45.92	0.56	2.79	1.67	22145	0.33
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	9.42	0.36	3.41	1.85	21801	0.20
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	83.96	0.29	1.47	1.21	22681	0.24
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	47.44	0.45	1.88	1.37	23460	0.33
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	13.52	0.29	1.70	1.30	22865	0.23
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	23.47	0.39	1.92	1.39	22799	0.28
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	3.22	0.15	1.71	1.31	22726	0.12
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	31.57	0.45	2.18	1.48	23426	0.30
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	75.64	0.52	3.29	1.81	22193	0.29
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	42.24	0.50	2.38	1.54	23312	0.32
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	24.18	0.37	1.49	1.22	19960	0.30
Mean				2.48	1.49		
Minimum				0.03	0.17		
Maximum				12.38	3.52		
Standard Deviation				2.04	0.51		
Median				1.92	1.39		

Male Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	96.62	0.19	1.25	1.12	11764	0.17
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	17.11	0.57	1.54	1.24	6796	0.46
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	5.23	0.33	2.54	1.59	11540	0.21
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	7.96	0.83	10.90	3.30	11565	0.25
Parent attended college	BYP30	44.26	0.73	2.57	1.60	11716	0.46
Spouse works full time	BYP35	63.98	0.59	1.77	1.33	11681	0.44
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	92.44	0.32	1.54	1.24	10582	0.26
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	2.11	0.16	1.37	1.17	11505	0.13
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	24.70	0.54	1.82	1.35	11501	0.40
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.86	0.17	1.22	1.11	11726	0.15
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.15	0.04	1.36	1.17	11711	0.04
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	24.74	0.50	1.50	1.22	11280	0.41
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	5.38	0.27	1.63	1.28	11718	0.21
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	11.18	0.38	1.74	1.32	11736	0.29
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	40.67	0.82	3.16	1.78	11336	0.46
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	38.12	0.60	1.70	1.31	11012	0.46
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	18.61	0.50	1.88	1.37	11250	0.37
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	58.59	0.63	1.83	1.35	11237	0.46
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.50	0.02	0.02	0.15	11781	0.11
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	46.65	0.68	2.07	1.44	11087	0.47
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	11.51	0.54	3.16	1.78	10885	0.31
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	85.52	0.39	1.38	1.18	11319	0.33
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	48.15	0.58	1.58	1.26	11731	0.46
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	13.37	0.41	1.68	1.30	11424	0.32
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	23.16	0.51	1.69	1.30	11396	0.40
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	3.28	0.21	1.64	1.28	11347	0.17
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	31.41	0.58	1.83	1.35	11716	0.43
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	75.77	0.64	2.48	1.57	11102	0.41
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	42.64	0.65	2.02	1.42	11657	0.46
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	27.90	0.57	1.56	1.25	9811	0.45
Mean				2.08	1.37		
Minimum		,		0.02	0.15		
Maximum				10.90	3.30	+	
Standard Deviation				1.74	0.45		
Median				1.69	1.30		

Female Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	97.1 1	0.17	1.22	1.11	11752	0.15
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	16.21	0.52	1.41	1.19	7013	0.44
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	4.97	0.24	1.46	1.21	11554	0.20
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	7.73	0.52	4.37	2.09	11569	0.25
Parent attended college	BYP30	42.78	0.68	2.23	1.49	11726	0.46
Spouse works full time	BYP35	64.12	0.56	1.59	1.26	11684	0.44
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	93.20	0.30	1.52	1.23	10642	0.24
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	1.91	0.14	1.26	1.12	11524	0.13
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	15.19	0.47	1.97	1.40	11515	0.33
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.17	0.15	1.31	1.14	11716	0.13
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.03	0.02	1.15	1.07	11706	0.02
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	18.09	0.41	1.26	1.12	11249	0.36
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	3.00	0.20	1.53	1.24	11719	0.16
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	13.89	0.46	2.11	1.45	11732	0.32
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	38.69	0.81	3.13	1.77	11327	0.46
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	31.72	0.53	1.41	1.19	10988	0.44
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	19.78	0.51	1.81	1.35	11167	0.38
Child attends classes outside own school	ВҮР60А-Н	68.46	0.61	1.96	1.40	11288	0.44
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.42	0.01	0.02	0.14	11763	0.11
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	45.18	0.67	1.97	1.41	11058	0.47
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	7.33	0.36	2.06	1.44	10916	0.25
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	82.41	0.39	1.20	1.09	11362	0.36
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	46.72	0.55	1.44	1.20	11729	0.46
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	13.67	0.38	1.39	1.18	11441	0.32
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	23.78	0.48	1.44	1.20	11403	0.40
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	3.16	0.19	1.33	1.15	11379	0.16
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	31.73	0.55	1.66	1.29	11710	0.43
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	75.50	0.59	2.12	1.46	11091	0.41
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	41.83	0.57	1.58	1.26	11655	0.46
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	20.59	0.45	1.28	1.13	10149	0.40
Mean				1.67	1.26		
Minimum				0.02	0.14		
Maximum				4.37	2.09		
Standard Deviation				0.71	0.30		
Median				1.46	1.21		

Base Year Sample Design Report

NELS:88 Base Year Parent Questionnaire Data Standard Errors and Design Effects

Asian Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	96.79	0.51	1.13	1.07	1372	0.48
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	10.29	1.31	1.54	1.24	829	1.06
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	48.06	1.98	2.10	1.45	1340	1.36
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	1.43	0.46	1.96	1.40	1320	0.33
Parent attended college	BYP30	63.22	2.00	2.33	1.53	1362	1.31
Spouse works full time	BYP35	65.56	1.78	1.92	1.39	1367	1.29
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	86.58	1.21	1.59	1.26	1252	0.96
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	6.78	0.88	1.64	1.28	1354	0.68
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	11.77	1.17	1.79	1.34	1346	0.88
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	1.79	0.41	1.31	1.14	1367	0.36
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.33	0.21	1.88	1.37	1366	0.16
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	12.90	1.18	1.61	1.27	1307	0.93
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	2.64	0.58	1.79	1.34	1367	0.43
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	20.91	1.71	2.41	1.55	1371	1.10
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	38.31	1.79	1.79	1.34	1311	1.34
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	30.41	1.50	1.36	1.17	1287	1.28
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	15.04	1.30	1.71	1.31	1301	0.99
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	67.92	1.62	1.61	1.27	1330	1.28
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.34	0.04	0.02	0.14	1374	0.31
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	43.27	1.89	1.88	1.37	1294	1.38
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	8.91	1.09	1.90	1.38	1289	0.79
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	78.04	1.28	1.28	1.13	1333	1.13
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	41.74	1.71	1.64	1.28	1369	1.33
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	14.39	1.14	1.39	1.18	1332	0.96
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	33.45	1.70	1.72	1.31	1329	1.29
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	0.63	0.20	0.85	0.92	1320	0.22
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	17.00	1.39	1.86	1.36	1366	1.02
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	65.78	1.83	1.90	1.38	1273	1.33
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	51.58	1.64	1.46	1.21	1358	1.36
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	17.29	1.48	1.88	1.37	1235	1.08
						·	
Mean				1.64	1.26		
Minimum				0.02	0.14		
Maximum		· .		2.41	1.55		
Standard Deviation				0.44	0.24	8	
Median				1.71	1.30		

Black Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	95.93	0.41	1.15	1.07	2728	0.38
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	21.75	1.18	1.26	1.12	1534	1.05
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	3.13	0.54	2.52	1.59	2656	0.34
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	1.27	0.22	1.04	1.02	2695	0.22
Parent attended college	BYP30	36.36	1.29	1.96	1.40	2720	0.92
Spouse works full time	BYP35	42.68	1.16	1.48	1.22	2685	0.95
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	91.22	0.78	1.80	1.34	2377	0.58
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	2.93	0.33	0.98	0.99	2647	0.33
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	30.58	1.26	1.99	1.41	2647	0.90
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	1.96	0.27	1.04	1.02	2709	0.27
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.14	0.10	1.97	1.40	2708	0.07
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	16.58	0.83	1.25	1.12	2528	0.74
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	4.00	0.47	1.54	1.24	2716	0.38
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	13.07	0.79	1.50	1.23	2714	0.65
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	33.53	1.33	2.03	1.42	2534	0.94
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	34.17	1.12	1.32	1.15	2359	0.98
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	13.23	0.79	1.33	1.15	2470	0.68
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	53.46	1.25	1.58	1.26	2510	1.00
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.69	0.04	0.02	0.15	2732	0.25
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	27.13	1.26	1.96	1.40	2427	0.90
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	18.36	1.14	2.12	1.45	2440	0.78
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	84.42	0.79	1.21	1.10	2553	0.72
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	57.65	1.14	1.45	1.20	2710	0.95
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	14.15	0.87	1.61	1.27	2573	0.69
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	35.59	1.14	1.46	1.21	2599	0.94
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	5.14	0.54	1.51	1.23	2567	0.44
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	49.72	1.09	1.30	1.14	2706	0.96
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	82.22	1.39	3.28	1.81	2484	0.77
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	34.59	1.15	1.57	1.25	2686	0.92
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	20.59	0.92	1.14	1.07	2220	0.86
Mean				1.55	1.21		
Minimum				0.02	0.15		
Maximum				3.28	1.81		
Standard Deviation				0.55	0.26		
Median				1.48	1.22		

79

Base Year Sample Design Report

NELS:88 Base Year Parent Questionnaire Data Standard Errors and Design Effects

Hispanic Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	96.53	0.43	1.49	1.22	2749	0.35
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	24.73	1.28	1.50	1.22	1694	1.05
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	17.09	1.20	2.66	1.63	2631	0.73
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	70.74	2.03	5.10	2.26	2568	0.90
Parent attended college	BYP30	27.73	1.27	2.20	1.48	2733	0.86
Spouse works full time	BYP35	54.25	1.17	1.51	1.23	2730	0.95
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	85.12	0.99	1.88	1.37	2399	0.73
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	4.65	0.55	1.80	1.34	2605	0.41
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	25.07	1.29	2.30	1.52	2607	0.85
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.47	0.38	1.61	1.27	2735	0.30
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.04	0.03	0.56	0.75	2733	0.04
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	14.58	0.86	1.49	1.22	2520	0.70
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	3.73	0.49	1.83	1.35	2732	0.36
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	11.59	0.84	1.88	1.37	2745	0.61
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	31.71	1.24	1.84	1.36	2576	0.92
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	35.37	1.49	2.37	1.54	2433	0.97
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	14.06	1.27	3.42	1.85	2554	0.69
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	52.23	1.31	1.73	1.32	2533	0.99
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.84	0.06	0.05	0.23	2760	0.26
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	36.91	1.45	2.23	1.49	2462	0.97
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	9.81	0.88	2.16	1.47	2450	0.60
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	78.83	1.01	1.57	1.25	2543	0.81
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	51.92	1.24	1.69	1.30	2744	0.95
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	12.83	0.82	1.61	1.27	26 45	0.65
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	27.26	1.15	1.75	1.32	2608	0.87
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	4.04	0.54	1.94	1.39	2590	0.39
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	27.39	1.38	2.63	1.62	2732	0.85
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	80.56	1.34	2.88	1.70	2493	0.79
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	30.81	1.15	1.70	1.31	2734	0.88
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	22.38	1.14	1.64	1.28	2179	0.89
Mean				1.97	1.36		
Minimum				0.05	0.23		
Maximum				5.10	2.26		
Standard Deviation				0.85	0.33		
Median				1.80	1.34		

White and Other Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	· N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	97.06	0.15	1.33	1.15	16667	0.13
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	15.04	0.46	1.62	1.27	9752	0.36
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	2.08	0.14	1.47	1.21	16467	0.11
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	1.59	0.14	2.14	1.46	16551	0.10
Parent attended college	BYP30	45.85	0.67	3.02	1.74	16627	0.39
Spouse works full time	BYP35	68.68	0.46	1.62	1.27	16583	0.36
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	94.28	0.23	1.56	1.25	15196	0.19
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	1.33	0.10	1.23	1.11	16423	0.09
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	17.96	0.42	1.96	1.40	16416	0.30
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.64	0.14	1.27	1.13	16631	0.12
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.08	0.02	1.18	1.09	16610	0.02
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	23.38	0.42	1.58	1.26	16174	0.33
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	4.35	0.22	1.92	1.38	16622	0.16
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	12.20	0.39	2.31	1.52	16638	0.25
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	41.67	0.87	5.08	2.25	16242	0.39
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	35.18	0.51	1.79	1.34	15921	0.38
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	20.91	0.50	2.39	1.55	16092	0.32
Child attends classes outside own school	ВҮР60А-Н	66.28	0.55	2.18	1.48	16152	0.37
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.38	0.01	0.02	0.13	16678	0.09
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	49.95	0.59	2.25	1.50	15962	0.40
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	8.00	0.40	3.35	1.83	15622	0.22
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	84.77	0.32	1.29	1.14	16252	0.28
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	45.45	0.52	1.79	1.34	16637	0.39
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	13.47	0.34	1.67	1.29	16315	0.27
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	20.63	0.41	1.70	1.30	16263	0.32
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	2.93	0.17	1.59	1.26	16249	0.13
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	29.80	0.47	1.73	1.32	16622	0.35
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	74.43	0.65	3.52	1.88	15943	0.35
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	44.54	0.56	2.07	1.44	16534	0.39
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	25.27	0.45	1.52	1.23	14326	0.36
Mean				1.94	1.35		
Minimum				0.02	0.13		
Maximum				5.08	2.25		
Standard Deviation				0.88	0.34		
Median				1.70	1.30		

Students at Public Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	96.88	0.14	1.31	1.15	18882	0.13
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	17.75	0.46	1.62	1.27	11296	0.36
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	5.18	0.27	2.73	1.65	18525	0.16
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	8.16	0.70	12.01	3.47	18573	0.20
Parent attended college	BYP30	41.13	0.65	3.28	1.81	18814	0.36
Spouse works full time	BYP35	63.02	0.49	1.95	1.40	18750	0.35
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	92.48	0.27	1.72	1.31	17053	0.20
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	2.04	0.13	1.45	1.20	18471	0.10
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	21.32	0.44	2.17	1.47	18468	0.30
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.67	0.13	1.23	1.11	18809	0.12
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.10	0.03	1.18	1.08	18791	0.02
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	21.85	0.38	1.55	1.25	18057	0.31
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	4.54	0.20	1.65	1.28	18808	0.15
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	13.13	0.37	2.31	1.52	18839	0.25
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	40.17	0.79	4.73	2.17	18160	0.36
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	34.15	0.49	1.85	1.36	17605	0.36
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	14.73	0.37	1.94	1.39	17947	0.26
Child attends classes outside own school	ВҮР60А-Н	62.87	0.54	2.22	1.49	18055	0.36
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.49	0.01	0.03	0.17	18907	0.09
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	44.25	0.61	2.66	1.63	17739	0.37
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	9.52	0.40	3.25	1.80	17504	0.22
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	83.53	0.32	1.37	1.17	18183	0.28
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	45.68	0.47	1.66	1.29	18830	0.36
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	13.76	0.32	1.62	1.27	18361	0.25
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	21.28	0.40	1.74	1.32	18258	0.30
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	3.64	0.17	1.57	1.25	18173	0.14
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	33.11	0.48	2.00	1.41	18803	0.34
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	85.10	0.41	2.35	1.53	17811	0.27
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	40.81	0.55	2.31	1.52	18723	0.36
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	24.65	0.41	1.40	1.18	15663	0.34
Mean				2.30	1.43		
Minimum				0.03	0.17		
Maximum				12.01	3.47		
Standard Deviation				1.98	0.50		
Median				1.74	1.32		

Students at Catholic Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	97.31	0.35	1.03	1.01	2205	0.34
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	8.67	0.90	1.24	1.11	1221	0.81
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	3.42	0.57	2.13	1.46	2175	0.39
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	7.10	1.32	5.72	2.39	2171	0.55
Parent attended college	BYP30	52.56	1.83	2.95	1.72	2203	1.06
Spouse works full time	BYP35	70.79	1.48	2.34	1.53	2196	0.97
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	94.67	0.53	1.09	1.05	1 97 0	0.51
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	1.41	0.27	1.17	1.08	2171	0.25
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	9.91	0.91	2.00	1.41	2168	0.64
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	1.30	0.28	1.38	1.17	2204	0.24
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.00	N.A.			2199	
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	17.20	0.90	1.19	1.09	2118	0.82
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	0.95	0.24	1.39	1.18	2203	0.21
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	6.94	0.79	2.15	1.47	2204	0.54
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	36.20	2.43	5.47	2.34	2137	1.04
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	38.62	1.26	1.40	1.18	2075	1.07
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	53.25	2.21	4.15	2.04	2120	1.08
Child attends classes outside own school	ВҮР60А-Н	61.07	1.39	1.73	1.31	2116	1.06
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.25	0.03	0.02	0.14	2206	0.24
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	54.60	1.66	2.31	1.52	2085	1.09
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	8.84	1.14	3.28	1.81	2050	0.63
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	85.63	0.89	1.38	1.18	2134	0.76
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	64.59	1.66	2.65	1.63	2203	1.02
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	13.95	0.81	1.19	1.09	2154	0.75
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	36.08	1.24	1.43	1.20	2150	1.04
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	0.26	0.19	3.04	1.74	2156	0.11
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	21.29	1.40	2.59	1.61	2201	0.87
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	5.39	0.65	1.73	1.32	2075	0.50
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	50.08	1.34	1.56	1.25	2182	1.07
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	20.14	1.01	1.27	1.13	2018	0.89
Mean				2.03	1.34		
Minimum				0.02	0.14		
Maximum				5.72	2.39		
Standard Deviation				1.29	0.49		
Median				1.62	1.28		

Students at Other Private Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	95.87	0.49	1.50	1.23	2429	0.40
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	7.03	0.90	1.61	1.27	1292	0.71
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	6.44	0.78	2.41	1.55	2394	0.50
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	3.04	0.69	3.88	1.97	2390	0.35
Parent attended college	BYP30	74.62	1.98	5.02	2.24	2425	0.88
Spouse works full time	BYP35	72.67	1.38	2.31	1.52	2419	0.91
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	96.21	0.87	4.62	2.15	2201	0.41
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	2.51	0.44	1.86	1.36	2387	0.32
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	10.20	1.10	3.13	1.77	2380	0.62
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	1.59	0.38	2.21	1.49	2429	0.25
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.10	0.09	1.96	1.40	2427	0.06
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	20.18	1.80	4.76	2.18	2354	0.83
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	2.80	1.39	17.26	4.15	2426	0.34
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	10.20	1.13	3.40	1.85	2425	0.61
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	36.17	3.17	10.30	3.21	2366	0.99
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	43.62	1.73	2.81	1.68	2320	1.03
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	48.11	2.55	6.11	2.47	2350	1.03
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	80.13	1.53	3.44	1.86	2354	0.82
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.38	0.05	0.04	0.20	2431	0.24
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	63.50	1.67	2.80	1.67	2321	1.00
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	8.45	1.08	3.36	1.83	2247	0.59
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	89.49	0.93	2.15	1.47	2364	0.63
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	52.97	1.94	3.66	1.91	2427	1.01
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	8.23	0.99	3.05	1.75	2350	0.57
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	44.30	2.25	4.92	2.22	2391	1.02
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	0.19	0.13	2.19	1.48	2397	0.09
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	19.00	1.08	1.84	1.35	2422	0.80
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	9.39	2.34	14.80	3.85	2307	0.61
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	56.73	1.78	3.10	1.76	2407	1.01
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	22.55	1.44	2.72	1.65	2279	0.88
Mean				4.1 1	1.88		
Minimum				0.04	0.20		
Maximum				17.26	4.15		
Standard Deviation			·	3.67	0.75		
Median				3.08	1.76		

Low SES Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	96.23	0.29	1.33	1.15	5612	0.25
Older ^t child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	31.87	0.87	1.23	1.11	3499	0.79
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	7.91	0.56	2.36	1.54	5431	0.37
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	17.69	1.35	6.91	2.63	5477	0.52
Parent attended college	BYP30	7.47	0.38	1.15	1.07	5575	0.35
Spouse works full time	BYP35	43.55	0.83	1.56	1.25	5536	0.67
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	86.47	0.68	1.96	1.40	5025	0.48
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	3.03	0.27	1.34	1.16	5399	0.23
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	34.93	0.84	1.68	1.30	5403	0.65
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	3.00	0.24	1.08	1.04	5574	0.23
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.19	0.07	1.33	1.15	5566	0.06
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	21.13	0.64	1.28	1.13	5200	0.57
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	6.25	0.40	1.54	1.24	5571	0.32
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	6.91	0.40	1.38	1.17	5585	0.34
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	28.01	0.93	2.22	1.49	5221	0.62
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	24.36	0.70	1.33	1.15	4936	0.61
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	10.44	0.51	1.42	1.19	5181	0.42
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	42.09	0.78	1.31	1.14	5215	0.68
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.78	0.03	0.03	0.17	5625	0.18
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	22.91	0.75	1.63	1.28	5079	0.59
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	10.04	0.56	1.78	1.33	5089	0.42
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	77.91	0.68	1.40	1.19	5258	0.57
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	43.28	0.78	1.37	1.17	5591	0.66
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	9.20	0.41	1.11	1.05	5422	0.39
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	25.31	0.70	1.37	1.17	5331	0.60
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	4.88	0.34	1.33	1.15	5290	0.30
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	40.59	0.85	1.68	1.30	5565	0.66
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	91.45	0.46	1.39	1.18	5119	0.39
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	17.74	0.60	1.38	1.17	5546	0.51
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	26.81	0.80	1.27	1.13	3856	0.71
Mean				1.60	1.22		
Minimum				0.03	0.17		
Maximum				6.91	2.63		
Standard Deviation				1.06	0.34		
Median				1.37	1.17		

Middle SES Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	97.00	0.18	1.31	1.15	11173	0.16
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	14.82	0.51	1.36	1.16	6507	0.44
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	3,83	0.27	2.20	1.48	11009	0.18
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	5.43	0.56	6.65	2.58	11003	0.22
Parent attended college	BYP30	39.05	0.57	1.54	1.24	11147	0.46
Spouse works full time	BYP35	67.42	0.51	1.34	1.16	11111	0.44
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	94.16	0.26	1.28	1.13	10115	0.23
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	1.46	0.13	1.21	1.10	10980	0.11
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	18.44	0.47	1.61	1.27	10974	0.37
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	2.58	0.16	1.18	1.08	11138	0.15
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.09	0.03	1.28	1.13	11128	0.03
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	21.71	0.47	1.43	1.19	10757	0.40
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	4.14	0.23	1.51	1.23	11140	0.19
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	10.81	0.43	2.14	1.46	11159	0.29
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	38.77	0.83	3.14	1.77	10839	0.47
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	34.95	0.56	1.44	1.20	10554	0.46
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	18.35	0.54	2.08	1.44	10707	0.37
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	63.77	0.57	1.51	1.23	10734	0.46
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.41	0.01	0.02	0.13	11183	0.11
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	45.10	0.60	1.54	1.24	10541	0.48
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	9.86	0.44	2.28	1.51	10422	0.29
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	85.56	0.40	1.42	1.19	10842	0.34
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	46.61	0.60	1.61	1.27	11144	0.47
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	16.05	0.42	1.46	1.21	10859	0.35
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	21.40	0.49	1.54	1.24	10858	0.39
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	3.58	0.22	1.48	1.22	10823	0.18
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	32.81	0.58	1.70	1.30	11145	0.44
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	77.66	0.57	2.02	1.42	10620	0.40
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	42.06	0.50	1.15	1.07	11082	0.47
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	23.99	0.51	1.39	1.18	9703	0.43
Mean				1.73	1.27		
Minimum				0.02	0.13		
Maximum				6.65	2.58		
Standard Deviation				1.04	0.35		
Median				1.48	1.22		

High SES Students

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Parent lives with student year-round	BYP1B	97.22	0.23	1.30	1.14	6731	0.20
Older child(ren) dropped out of school	BYP6	4.41	0.38	1.32	1.15	3803	0.33
Child was born outside of U.S.	BYP17	4.95	0.31	1.38	1.18	6654	0.27
Spanish spoken at home	BYP22D	3.13	0.31	2.12	1.46	6654	0.21
Parent attended college	BYP30	87.51	0.51	1.61	1.27	6720	0.40
Spouse works full time	BYP35	77.12	0.59	1.35	1.16	6718	0.51
Child attended kindergarden	BYP38D	96.28	0.31	1.62	1.27	6084	0.24
Child skipped a grade	BYP41	2.13	0.21	1.38	1.17	6650	0.18
Child was held back a grade	BYP44	8.65	0.43	1.59	1.26	6639	0.35
Child has a hearing problem	BYP47B	1.89	0.22	1.80	1.34	6730	0.17
Child is mentally retarded	BYP47I	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.31	6723	0.01
Child receives special services	BYP48A-J	21.14	0.65	1.66	1.29	6572	0.50
Child receives learning disability services	BYP49D	2.29	0.30	2.75	1.66	6726	0.18
Child enrolled in program for the gifted	BYP51	21.44	0.71	2.00	1.41	6724	0.50
Contacted by school about child's courses	BYP57C	52.27	1.18	3.67	1.91	6603	0.61
Contacted school about child's program	BYP58B	44.27	0.83	1.81	1.35	6510	0.62
Parent acts as a school volunteer	BYP59D	29.0 1	0.87	2.42	1.55	6529	0.56
Child attends classes outside own school	BYP60A-H	82.95	0.59	1.63	1.28	6576	0.46
Child borrows books from public library	BYP61AB	1.26	0.02	0.01	0.12	6736	0.14
Parent goes to history museums	BYP61EA	68.46	0.77	1.79	1.34	6525	0.58
Child involved in Boys Club - Girls Club	BYP63D	7.93	0.63	3.41	1.85	6290	0.34
Rules about when child can watch television	BYP64B	86.47	0.49	1.34	1.16	6581	0.42
Regular talks with child about HS plans	BYP67	53.13	0.84	1.91	1.38	6725	0.61
Mom not home when child returns from school	BYP72A	12.65	0.52	1.61	1.27	6584	0.41
Strongly agree that homework is worthwhile	BYP74B	25.82	0.77	2.07	1.44	6610	0.54
Strongly disagree that school is safe	BYP74I	0.96	0.15	1.50	1.23	6613	0.12
Child has a parent living outside of home	BYP78	20.35	0.67	1.88	1.37	6716	0.49
Spent less than \$100 on education this year	BYP82AA	56.89	1.08	3.09	1.76	6454	0.62
Saved money for child's educ. after H.S.	BYP84	66.38	0.77	1.78	1.34	6684	0.58
Child's grades won't qualify for fin. aid	BYP85E	22.67	0.68	1.71	1.31	6401	0.52
Mean				1.79	1.29		
Minimum				0.01	0.12		
Maximum				3.67	1.91		
Standard Deviation				0.75	0.35		
Median				1.66	1.29		

Appendix 3:

Standard Errors and Design Effects for School Questionnaire Data

All Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Seventh grade included in school	BYSC1I	98.55	0.33	0.80	0.89	1037	0.37
Average number of days in school year	BYSC6	178.29	0.15	1.26	1.12	1029	0.13
Average % attendance rate for 8th graders	BYSC11	94.60	0.21	2.58	1.61	1017	0.13
Average % Hispanic 8th graders	BYSC13C	6.05	0.57	1.36	1.17	1028	0.49
Avg. number of students in remedial reading	BYSC16B	37.28	1.69	0.51	0.71	1035	2.37
Avg. number of full time regular teachers	BYSC17	23.21	0.59	1.03	1.02	1037	0.58
Average number of Black (non-Hisp) teachers	BYSC20D	1.92	0.13	0.51	0.72	1018	0.18
Students assigned to school by geog. area	BYSC24A	54.98	1.47	0.91	0.95	1035	1.55
School has formal admission procedures	BYSC25	39.23	1.86	1.51	1.23	1036	1.52
Avg. maximum school tuition (private only)	BYSC31	1547.61	72.39	0.63	0.79	2289	1.53
Tchrs: "Lot" of infl. assgning H.S. courses	BYSC36B	48.13	2.42	2.43	1.56	1035	1.55
Stdnts held back if hist. comp. test failed	BYSC38D	5.25	1.06	2.34	1.53	1029	0.70
School requires full year of science	BYSC39C	93.34	1.48	3.66	1.91	1036	0.77
School requires some music instruction	BYSC39I	67.15	2.00	1.86	1.36	1029	1.46
Program for gifted available to 8th graders	BYSC40	45.85	2.06	1.76	1.33	1037	1.55
School band available to 8th graders	BYSC46B	68.54	2.19	2.30	1.52	1037	1.44
Science club available to 8th graders	BYSC46H	20.61	1.49	1.40	1.18	1036	1.26
Yearbook available to 8th graders	BYSC46N	54.18	2.29	2.19	1.48	1037	1.55
Intramural sports available to 8th graders	BYSC46T	56.92	2.42	2.47	1.57	1037	1.54
Classroom environment is very structured	BYSC47D	44.34	2.36	2.34	1.53	1036	1.54
Tchrs: "Very" difficult motivating students	BYSC47I	2.35	0.68	2.09	1.45	1034	0.47
School emphasizes sports	BYSC47N	9.64	1.50	2.67	1.64	1036	0.92
Visitors required to sign in main office	BYSC48A	73.11	2.26	2.70	1.64	1037	1.38
Vocational counseling avail. to 8th graders	BYSC48H	40.89	2.07	1.83	1.35	1034	1.53
Cutting classes is a serious problem	BYSC49C	0.51	0.23	1.06	1.03	1037	0.22
Students possessing weapons is serious pblm	BYSC49I	0.74	0.31	1.35	1.16	1036	0.27
Students expelled: first drug offense	BYSC50AD	36.95	2.28	2.28	1.51	1026	1.51
Stdts susp. or expld.: phys. abuse of tchrs	BYSC50AJ	98.78	0.59	2.91	1.71	1022	0.34
Stdnts expelled: repeat alcohol possession	BYSC50BC	70.45	1.91	1.79	1.34	1021	1.43
Stdnts susp.: repeat verbal abuse of tchrs	BYSC50BI	51.12	2.31	2.19	1.48	1026	1.56
Mean				1.82	1.32		
Minimum				0.51	0.71		
Maximum				3.66	1.91		
Standard Deviation				0.77	0.30		
Median				1.86	1.36		

Public Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Seventh grade included in school	BYSC1I	98.04	0.48	0.96	0.98	804	0.49
Average number of days in school year	BYSC6	178.72	0.17	1.47	1.21	801	0.14
Average % attendance rate for 8th graders	BYSC11	93.83	0.26	2.91	1.71	789	0.15
Average % Hispanic 8th graders	BYSC13C	6.73	0.69	1.32	1.15	800	0.60
Avg. number of students in remedial reading	BYSC16B	53.89	2.64	0.67	0.82	803	3.23
Avg. number of full time regular teachers	BYSC17	30.06	0.87	1.73	1.32	804	0.66
Average number of Black (non-Hisp) teachers	BYSC20D	2.96	0.21	0.72	0.85	786	0.25
Students assigned to school by geog. area	BYSC24A	91.29	1.50	2.28	1.51	802	1.00
School has formal admission procedures	BYSC25	9.36	1.74	2.86	1.69	803	1.03
Avg. maximum school tuition (private only)	BYSC31	N.A.(*)		. 1			
Tchrs: "Lot" of infl. assgning H.S. courses	BYSC36B	46.86	2.79	2.51	1.58	803	1.76
Stdnts held back if hist. comp. test failed	BYSC38D	6.04	1.40	2.75	1.66	798	0.84
School requires full year of science	BYSC39C	93.00	1.61	3.18	1.78	803	0.90
School requires some music instruction	BYSC39I	60.37	2.48	2.04	1.43	797	1.73
Program for gifted available to 8th graders	BYSC40	65.16	2.69	2.57	1.60	804	1.68
School band available to 8th graders	BYSC46B	89.42	2.18	4.05	2.01	804	1.08
Science club available to 8th graders	BYSC46H	28.91	2.17	1.85	1.36	803	1.60
Yearbook available to 8th graders	BYSC46N	59.34	2.77	2.56	1.60	804	1.73
Intramural sports available to 8th graders	BYSC46T	62.35	2.80	2.68	1.64	804	1.71
Classroom environment is very structured	BYSC47D	34.14	2.73	2.67	1.63	803	1.67
Tchrs: "Very" difficult motivating students	BYSC47I	2.63	0.91	2.57	1.60	801	0.56
School emphasizes sports	BYSC47N	11.91	1.99	3.02	1.74	803	1.14
Visitors required to sign in main office	BYSC48A	80.81	2.53	3.31	1.82	804	1.39
Vocational counseling avail. to 8th graders	BYSC48H	59.67	2.82	2.64	1.63	802	1.73
Cutting classes is a serious problem	BYSC49C	0.75	0.36	1.43	1.20	804	0.30
Students possessing weapons is serious pblm	BYSC49I	1.14	0.50	1.81	1.35	803	0.37
Students expelled: first drug offense	BYSC50AD	24.16	2.48	2.68	1.64	799	1.51
Stdts susp. or expld.: phys. abuse of tchrs	BYSC50AJ	99.88	0.09	0.51	0.71	797	0.12
Stdnts expelled: repeat alcohol possession	BYSC50BC	57.34	2.69	2.34	1.53	795	1.75
Stdnts susp.: repeat verbal abuse of tchrs	BYSC50BI	66.03	2.74	2.67	1.63	798	1.68
Mean				2.23	1.46		
Minimum				0.51	0.71		
Maximum				4.05	2.01		
Standard Deviation				0.85	0.31		
Median				2.43	1.60		

NOTE: There were no estimates generated in this table for the variable BYSC31 (on tuition) because, by definition, no public schools charge tuition.

All Private Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	Ν	SE-SRS
Seventh grade included in school	BYSC1I	99.34	0.41	0.60	0.78	233	0.53
Average number of days in school year	BYSC6	177.62	0.27	0.96	0.98	228	0.27
Average % attendance rate for 8th graders	BYSC11	95.81	0.34	1.76	1.33	228	0.26
Average % Hispanic 8th graders	BYSC13C	5.01	0.99	1.12	1.06	228	0.94
Avg. number of students in remedial reading	BYSC16B	11.50	1.76	0.94	0.97	232	1.81
Avg. number of full time regular teachers	BYSC17	12.74	0.68	0.70	0.84	233	0.81
Average number of Black (non-Hisp) teachers	BYSC20D	0.35	0.09	0.78	0.88	232	0.10
Students assigned to school by geog. area	BYSC24A	N.A.(*)					
School has formal admission procedures	BYSC25	84.81	3.67	2.44	1.56	233	2.35
Avg. maximum school tuition (private only)	BYSC31	1547.61	72.39	0.63	0.79	228	91.53
Tchrs: "Lot" of infl. assgning H.S. courses	BYSC36B	50.10	4.41	1.80	1.34	232	3.28
Stdnts held back if hist. comp. test failed	BYSC38D	4.03	1.63	1.58	1.26	231	1.29
School requires full year of science	BYSC39C	93.86	2.83	3.25	1.80	233	1.57
School requires some music instruction	BYSC39I	77.73	3.32	1.48	1.22	232	2.73
Program for gifted available to 8th graders	BYSC40	16.35	2.84	1.37	1.17	233	2.42
School band available to 8th graders	BYSC46B	36.66	4.00	1.61	1.27	233	3.16
Science club available to 8th graders	BYSC46H	7.95	1.80	1.03	1.02	233	1.77
Yearbook available to 8th graders	BYSC46N	46.31	3.89	1.42	1.19	233	3.27
Intramural sports available to 8th graders	BYSC46T	48.63	4.34	1.76	1.33	233	3.27
Classroom environment is very structured	BYSC47D	59.91	4.06	1.60	1.26	233	3.21
Tchrs: "Very" difficult motivating students	BYSC47I	1.95	1.03	1.30	1.14	233	0.90
School emphasizes sports	BYSC47N	6.16	2.27	2.08	1.44	233	1.57
Visitors required to sign in main office	BYSC48A	61.34	4.15	1.69	1.30	233	3.19
Vocational counseling avail. to 8th graders	BYSC48H	12.25	2.65	1.51	1.23	232	2.15
Cutting classes is a serious problem	BYSC49C	0.14	0.14	0.32	0.56	233	0.24
Students possessing weapons is serious pblm	BYSC49I	0.14	0.14	0.32	0.56	233	0.24
Students expelled: first drug offense	BYSC50AD	56.55	4.31	1.72	1.31	227	3.29
Stdts susp. or expld.: phys. abuse of tchrs	BYSC50AJ	97.10	1.48	1.75	1.32	225	1.12
Stdnts expelled: repeat alcohol possession	BYSC50BC	90.41	2.27	1.35	1.16	226	1.96
Stdnts susp.: repeat verbal abuse of tchrs	BYSC50BI	28.41	3.99	1.79	1.34	228	2.99
Mean				1.40	1.15		
Minimum				0.32	0.56		
Maximum				3.25	1.80		
Standard Deviation				0.62	0.27		
Median				1.48	1.22		

NOTE: There were no estimates generated in this table for the variable BYSC24A (on assignment of students by geographic region) because the question did not apply to private schools.

Large Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N -	SE-SRS
Seventh grade included in school	BYSC1I	96.80	0.76	0.97	0.98	514	0.78
Average number of days in school year	BYSC6	179.57	0.26	1.02	1.01	513	0.26
Average % attendance rate for 8th graders	BYSC11	93.20	0.17	1.28	1.13	502	0.15
Average % Hispanic 8th graders	BYSC13C	11.24	1.27	1.65	1.28	512	0.99
Avg. number of students in remedial reading	BYSC16B	94.58	4.56	0.60	0.77	514	5.90
Avg. number of full time regular teachers	BYSC17	45.82	0.77	0.95	0.98	514	0.79
Average number of Black (non-Hisp) teachers	BYSC20D	4.97	0.34	0.83	0.91	500	0.37
Students assigned to school by geog. area	BYSC24A	88.42	1.52	1.16	1.08	513	1.41
School has formal admission procedures	BYSC25	8.58	1.37	1.24	1.11	514	1.24
Avg. maximum school tuition (private only)	BYSC31	N.A.(*)					
Tchrs: "Lot" of infl. assgning H.S. courses	BYSC36B	46.42	2.53	1.32	1.15	513	2.20
Stdnts held back if hist. comp. test failed	BYSC38D	5.37	1.48	2.18	1.48	509	1.00
School requires full year of science	BYSC39C	89.41	1.28	0.89	0.95	513	1.36
School requires some music instruction	BYSC39I	46.96	2.46	1.24	1.11	507	2.22
Program for gifted available to 8th graders	BYSC40	77.65	2.02	1.21	1.10	514	1.84
School band available to 8th graders	BYSC46B	98.66	0.57	1.26	1.12	514	0.51
Science club available to 8th graders	BYSC46H	47.49	2.56	1.35	1.16	513	2.20
Yearbook available to 8th graders	BYSC46N	79.98	2.30	1.70	1.30	514	1.77
Intramural sports available to 8th graders	BYSC46T	78.33	1.94	1.14	1.07	514	1.82
Classroom environment is very structured	BYSC47D	33.30	2.52	1.47	1.21	513	2.08
Tchrs: "Very" difficult motivating students	BYSC47I	1.94	0.69	1.27	1.12	513	0.61
School emphasizes sports	BYSC47N	8.29	1.32	1.18	1.09	513	1.22
Visitors required to sign in main office	BYSC48A	90.88	1.40	1.21	1.10	514	1.27
Vocational counseling avail. to 8th graders	BYSC48H	64.13	2.57	1.47	1.21	512	2.12
Cutting classes is a serious problem	BYSC49C	0.89	0.35	0.74	0.86	514	0.41
Students possessing weapons is serious pblm	BYSC49I	1.09	0.56	1.52	1.23	513	0.46
Students expelled: first drug offense	BYSC50AD	19.71	2.40	1.86	1.36	512	1.76
Stdts susp. or expld.: phys. abuse of tchrs	BYSC50AJ	99.59	0.29	1.09	1.04	510	0.28
Stdnts expelled: repeat alcohol possession	BYSC50BC	51.91	2.50	1.27	1.13	510	2.21
Stdnts susp.: repeat verbal abuse of tchrs	BYSC50BI	71.39	2.48	1.54	1.24	511	2.00
Mean				1.26	1.11		
Minimum				0.60	0.77		
Maximum				2.18	1.48		
Standard Deviation				0.33	0.15		
Median				1.24	1.11		

NOTE: There were no estimates generated in this table for the variable BYSC31 (on tuition) because there was only one private school with an eight grade population in excess of the median count of 168.NELS:88 Base Year School Questionnaire Data

Standard Errors and Design Effects

Small Schools

Survey Item (or Composite Variable)		Estimate	S.E.	DEFF	DEFT	N	SE-SRS
Seventh grade included in school	BYSC1I	98.94	0.37	0.67	0.82	522	0.45
Average number of days in school year	BYSC6	178.01	0.17	1.28	1.13	515	0.15
Average % attendance rate for 8th graders	BYSC11	94.92	0.25	1.76	1.33	514	0.19
Average % Hispanic 8th graders	BYSC13C	4.90	0.65	1.16	1.08	515	0.60
Avg. number of students in remedial reading	BYSC16B	24.43	1.73	0.70	0.84	520	2.06
Avg. number of full time regular teachers	BYSC17	18.18	0.61	0.93	0.96	522	0.63
Average number of Black (non-Hisp) teachers	BYSC20D	1.25	0.14	0.46	0.68	517	0.21
Students assigned to school by geog. area	BYSC24A	47.50	1.89	0.75	0.87	521	2.19
School has formal admission procedures	BYSC25	46.06	2.35	1.16	1.08	521	2.18
Avg. maximum school tuition (private only)	BYSC31	1546.84	72.41	0.62	0.79	227	91.67
Tchrs: "Lot" of infl. assgning H.S. courses	BYSC36B	48.55	2.91	1.76	1.33	521	2.19
Stdnts held back if hist. comp. test failed	BYSC38D	5.23	1.26	1.67	1.29	519	0.98
School requires full year of science	BYSC39C	94.20	1.80	3.09	1.76	522	1.02
School requires some music instruction	BYSC39I	71.66	2.39	1.47	1.21	521	1.97
Program for gifted available to 8th graders	BYSC40	38.76	2.46	1.34	1.16	522	2.13
School band available to 8th graders	BYSC46B	61.84	2.66	1.57	1.25	522	2.13
Science club available to 8th graders	BYSC46H	1 4.61	1.68	1.18	1.09	522	1.55
Yearbook available to 8th graders	BYSC46N	48.49	2.72	1.54	1.24	522	2.19
Intramural sports available to 8th graders	BYSC46T	52.15	2.90	1.76	1.32	522	2.19
Classroom environment is very structured	BYSC47D	46.81	2.83	1.67	1.29	522	2.18
Tchrs: "Very" difficult motivating students	BYSC47I	2.45	0.82	1.47	1.21	520	0.68
School emphasizes sports	BYSC47N	9.94	1.81	1.90	1.38	522	1.31
Visitors required to sign in main office	BYSC48A	69.15	2.73	1.83	1.35	522	2.02
Vocational counseling avail. to 8th graders	BYSC48H	35.73	2.48	1.40	1.18	521	2.10
Cutting classes is a serious problem	BYSC49C	0.43	0.27	0.86	0.93	522	0.29
Students possessing weapons is serious pblm	BYSC49I	0.67	0.36	1.01	1.00	522	0.36
Students expelled: first drug offense	BYSC50AD	40.77	2.75	1.61	1.27	513	2.17
Stdts susp. or expld.: phys. abuse of tchrs	BYSC50AJ	98.60	0.71	1.89	1.38	511	0.52
Stdnts expelled: repeat alcohol possession	BYSC50BC	74.57	2.28	1.40	1.18	510	1.93
Stdnts susp.: repeat verbal abuse of tchrs	BYSC50BI	46.58	2.80	1.62	1.27	514	2.20
Mean				1.38	1.16		
Minimum				0.46	0.68		
Maximum				3.09	1.76		
Standard Deviation				0.52	0.22		

1.44

1.20

Median



...